INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality $6^{\circ} \times 9^{\circ}$ black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

Bell & Howell Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UM®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

•

-

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Santa Barbara

A Grammar of Karo, Tupí (Brazil)

A Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree

of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Linguistics

by

Nilson Gabas, Jr.

Committee in charge:

Professor Marianne Mithun, Chairperson

Professor Wallace Chafe

Professor Carol Genetti

Professor Colette Grinevald

Professor Aryon Dall'Igna Rodrigues

September 1999

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

UMI Number: 9986889

UMI®

UMI Microform 9986889

Copyright 2000 by Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company 300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The dissertation of Nilson Gabas, Jr. is approved

Colette Grineval & 1 31 for C6) Ko brigues (19 29 po ht) <u>m</u>n 1a M streen

Committee Chairperson

September 1999

ii

September 23, 1999

© Copyright by

Nilson Gabas, Jr.

1999

iii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank all the Arara Indians for their friendship, and for allowing me to live with them in good times and bad. Special thanks to my consultants and to the family of Mário Jorge, who always think of me as their own son.

My gratitude also goes to everyone who directly or indirectly made it possible for me to be with the Arara people: Aryon Rodrigues and Denny Moore, who put me in contact with them; the people from FUNAI in Ji-Paraná, Porto Velho, Cuiabá and Brasília.

I also want to express my gratitude to the CNPq (grant # 200.058/92-4), FINEP (grant # 63.92.0468.00), Wenner-Gren (Research Grant # 5578), UCSB and Museu Goeldi, for providing me with the necessary funding for my academic studies and fieldwork.

My tremendous gratitude goes to Marianne Mithun, for her mentorship, guidance and friendship. I am also grateful to Wallace Chafe, Carol Genetti, Colette Grinevald, Aryon Rodrigues, and the Linguistics Department at the University of California, Santa Barbara (faculty, staff and fellow graduate students).

Special thanks goes to Josephine van Schaick, the friendly neighbor.

iv

I wish to express my thankfulness to Rosivane, for her patience, understanding and friendship.

Finally, I want to thank my wonderful family, friends, and all who supported me in singular and/or plural ways during the entire process.

For the Arara

VITA

August 3, 1963 — Born — Araçatuba, São Paulo, Brazil

EDUCATION

1980-84	B.A., Journalism, Catholic University of Campinas, Brazil
1988-89	M.A., Linguistics, State University of Campinas, Brazil
1991	University of California, Santa Cruz. Summer Institute of
	Linguistics
1992-99	Ph.D., University of California, Santa Barbara

CURRENT EMPLOYMENT

1995-present Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi, Belém, Brazil, Research Assistant.

PUBLICATIONS

1988	Sistemas de Marcação Possessiva e Pessoal na Língua dos
	Índios Arara de Rondônia. In Anais do II CELLIP, 2:168-176.
1990	Os Segmentos Fonéticos Complexos da Língua Karo. In
	Cadernos de Estudos Linguísticos 18:143-151.
1991	Pronominal Person Marking in the Karo Language (Ramarama
	Family). Paper presented at the 47th International Congress of
	Americanists, New Orleans.

vii

1994	O Sistema Pronominal de Marcação de Pessoa na Língua Karo	
	(Arara de Rondônia). In Revista Latinoamericana de Estudios	
	Etnolingüisticos 8:135-150.	
1995	Phonetic Correlates of Stress in Yup'ik. Santa Barbara Working Papers in Linguistics 7:1-13. Santa Barbara, United States.	
1999	Estudo Fonológico da Língua Arara de Rondônia. Lincom Studies in Native American Linguistics 31. Munchen, Germany.	
To appear	Classificação Interna da Família Ramarama, Tronco Tupí. In Proceedings of the 56 th International Congress of Americanists. Quito, Equador.	

FIELDS OF STUDY

Major fields:

Brazilian Indian languages, with specialization in Tupian languages, Phonetics and Phonology, Morphology, Syntax, Historical Linguistics

Topic areas:

Studies in Language Change and Grammaticization Professor Marianne Mithun

Studies in Morphology

Professor Marianne Mithun

Studies in North American Indian Languages Professor Marianne Mithun and Wallace Chafe

viii

Studies in Discourse Professor Wallace Chafe Studies in Phonology Professor Douglas Johnson Studies in Syntax

Professor Carol Genetti

ABSTRACT

A GRAMMAR OF KARO, TUPÍ (BRAZIL)

by

Nilson Gabas, Jr.

The Karo language is spoken by approximately 150 Arara Indians in the state of Rondônia, in the southwest part of the Amazon region, in Brazil. It is genetically affiliated with the Ramarama branch of the Tupi family, one of the largest families of languages in South America. Karo is supposedly the sole language of its branch.

The Arara Indians used to call themselves $i \hbar \partial r ap$ (from $i \hbar \partial 1^{ST}$ PERSON INCLUSIVE pronoun, plus *tap* ASSOCIATIVE) 'ourselves, us', and are known to have lived in their present location from time immemorial. They have been in contact with the surrounding white population since the 1940's, and although the majority of them are bilingual in Portuguese, they use the Karo language exclusively among themselves for communication.

Prior to my work, nothing was known about the Karo language except for a few wordlists published by ethnologists (Horta Barbosa 1945; Levi-Strauss 1950; Nimuendaju 1925, 1955; Rondon 1948; Schultz 1955; Vitor Hugo 1959).

Some of the main typological features of Karo include a) a complex interplay of segments and suprasegmentals at the phonetic and phonological levels; b) an extensive internal and external array of morphophonemic processes; c) a fairly simple morphology, with only a few derivational and inflectional processes, no case or gender marking on nouns; d) a relatively strict order of elements (determiners, adjectives, nouns, verbs, postpositions, etc.) within constituents (noun, verb, adverbial and postpositonal phrases); e) a relatively strict SOV word order; and f) a fairly rich inventory of particles with different grammatical functions such as noun classification and evidentiality.

This dissertation is arranged in a fairly intuitively progression of linguistic complexity, moving from the smaller linguistic units, the sounds, to the larger units of morphology and syntax. In the last three chapters I deal with three grammatical systems found in Karo, the classifier system, the ideophone system, and the evidential system.

Chapter 1 provides an overview of the language, the sociolinguistic situation, as well as a brief history and cultural analysis of the group, the number of fieldtrips undertaken and information about the data collected.

In Chapter 2 a description of Karo phonetics and phonology is provided. It includes a description of the consonantal and vocalic segments of Karo, its syllabic patterns, processes of nasal spreading, assimilation processes, patterns of stress placement, and tone.

The morphology of Karo is described in Chapter 3. It includes a description of the word classes of Karo, its affixes (both inflectional and derivational), clitics, and processes of nominalization and compounding.

Chapter 4 deals with the syntax of Karo. First, in section 4.1, I present and describe the types of simple sentences found in the language (basic declarative, focused declarative, interrogative, and imperative sentences). Then, in section 4.2, I describe the major predicate types which occur in the language. In section 4.3 I describe the Karo phrases (noun phrase, verb phrase, postpositional phrase and adverbial phrase) and their constituents. Following the description of phrases I account for the way tense is marked in the language (in section 4.4) and the

xi

syntactic processes of negation (in section 4.5). In section 4.6 I describe the process of reported speech, and in the last section of the chapter, section 4.7, I describe the processes of clause combinations: clause chaining and three types of subordination, 1) time, 2) purpose and 3) cause.

In the last three chapters of the dissertation I describe three different grammatical systems found in Karo: the classifier system, in Chapter 5; the ideophone system, in Chapter 6; and the evidential system, in Chapter 7.

In Chapter 5 I account for the formal and semantic properties of the classifier system, examining them in the light of available typologies of noun classification.

In Chapter 6 I provide an analytical background of the linguistic literature on ideophones, followed by a description of ideophones of Karo from the phonetic, phonological, morphological, syntactic, semantic and discourse points of view. At the end I provide a (partial) list of 100 ideophones found in the language.

In Chapter 7 I first provide an overview of the literature on evidentials, and then describe the evidentials of Karo formally and semantically.

Finally, in the Epilogue I bring together the main characteristics of the language, relating them to current typologies of languages in general and of Amazonian languages in particular.

xii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 The Karo language	1
1.2 The Tupi languages	1
1.3 History of the group	2
1.4 Cultural overview	3
1.5 Sociolinguistic situation	6
1.6 Fieldtrips	7
1.7 The data	8
CHAPTER 2: PHONETICS AND PHONOLOGY	10
2.1. Phonetic segments	10
2.1.1 Consonants	11
2.1.2. Vowels	20
2.2 Syllabic pattern	24
2.3 Nasal spreading	27
2.4 Phonological assimilation	28
2.5 Stress	
2.5.1 Segmental conditioning of stress placement	
2.5.2 Suprasegmental conditioning of stress placement	42
2.6 Pitch	44
2.6.1 Tone spreading	46
2.6.2 Phonetic properties of tone	47

CHAPTER 3: MORPHOLOGY	48
3.1 Word classes	48
3.1.1 Pronouns	49
3.1.2 Nouns	52
3.1.3 Verbs	57
3.1.4 Auxiliaries	59
3.1.5 Adjectives	61
3.1.6 Adverbs	63
3.1.7 Particles	66
3.1.8 Postpositions	69
3.2 Affixes	72
3.2.1 Inflectional affixes	73
3.2.1.1 Indicative – <i>t</i>	73
3.2.1.2 Indicative – <i>p</i>	76
3.2.1.3 Gerunds	79
3.2.2 Derivational affixes	80
3.2.2.1 The simple causative	81
3.2.2.2 The comitative causative	83
3.2.2.3 The impersonal passive	86
3.2.2.4 The reflexive	89
3.2.2.5 The reciprocal	90
3.2.2.6 The optative	90
3.3 Clitics	94
3.3.1 The plural =to?	95
3.3.2 The adverbializer =tem	
3.3.3 Personal clitics	103

3.4 Nominalization	109
3.5 Compounding	114
CHAPTER 4: SYNTAX	120
4.1 Simple sentences	120
4.1.1 Declarative sentences	120
4.1.1.1 Basic declaratives	121
4.1.1.2 Focused declaratives	122
4.1.1.2.1 Nominal argument focusing	122
4.1.1.2.2 Clause complement focusing	126
4.1.2 Interrogative sentences	
4.1.2.1 Yes-no questions	128
4.1.2.2 Information questions	131
4.1.3 Imperative clauses	133
4.2 Major predicate types	135
4.3 Phrases	139
4.3.1 Noun Phrases	139
4.3.1.1 Noun phrase constituents	139
4.3.1.2 Genitive constructions	148
4.3.1.3 Association of noun phrases	150
4.3.1.4 Case marking and grammatical relations	152
4.3.2 Verb Phrases	157
4.3.3 Postpositional Phrases	164
4.3.4 Adverbial Phrases	169

4.4 Tense	
4.4.1 Past	174
4.4.2 Future	177
4.4.2.1 The future auxiliary kap	
4.4.2.2 The future particle yat	
4.4.2.3 The future particle iga	
4.5 Negation	
4.5.1 The negative particle <i>i Re</i>	
4.5.2 The negative particle yahmām	191
4.5.3 The negative particle taykit	
4.6 Reported speech	195
4.7 Clause combining	195
4.7.1 Clause chaining	196
4.7.2 Subordination	
4.7.2.1 Time	200
4.7.2.2 Purposive	203
4.7.2.3 Cause	206
CHAPTER 5: THE CLASSIFIER SYSTEM	209
5.1 Formal properties	
5.1.1 Head nouns	
5.1.2 Genitives	
5.1.3 Compounds	
5.2 Semantic properties	
5.3 Discourse properties	233

CHAPTER 6: THE IDEOPHONE SYSTEM	234
6.1 Background	235
6.2 The ideophones of Karo	236
6.2.1 Phonetics and phonology	236
6.2.2 Morphology	237
6.2.3 Syntax	239
6.2.3.1 In simple clauses	240
6.2.3.2 In interrogative clauses	241
6.2.3.2.1 Yes-no questions	
6.2.3.2.2 Information questions	242
6.2.3.3 In negation	
6.2.3.4 In imperatives	244
6.2.3.5 In future clauses	
6.2.3.6 In mixed types of clauses	246
6.2.3.6.1 Future + Negation	
6.2.3.6.2 Imperative + Negation	
6.2.3.6.3 Interrogative + Future	248
6.2.3.7 In nominalizations	249
6.2.3.8 In focusing constructions	250
6.2.3.9 In combinations of clauses	251
6.2.4 Semantics	253
6.2.5 Discourse	257
6.2.6 List of ideophones in Karo	259

xvii

CHAPTER 7: THE EVIDENTIAL SYSTEM	
7.1 Background	264
7.2 The evidential system of Karo	
7.2.1 Syntactic contexts of occurrence	272
7.2.2 Evidential sequences	275
7.2.1.1 Co-occurrences of two evidentials	275
7.2.1.2 Co-occurrences of three evidentials	
Epilogue	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

xviii

TABLE OF TABLES

Table 1. Consonantal segments of Karo	11
Table 2. Consonantal phonemes of Karo	12
Table 3. Vocalic segments of Karo (oral and nasal)	20
Table 4. Vocalic phonemes of Karo (oral and nasal)	20
Table 5. Table 5 Karo free personal pronouns	49
Table 6. Table 6 Karo possessive pronouns	49
Table 7. Karo referential clitics	104
Table 8. Karo coreferential clitics	104
Table 9. The classifiers of Karo	209
Table 10. Co-occurrences of two evidentials in Karo	

xix

ABBREVIATIONS

lsg	FIRST PERSON SINGULAR
2sg	SECOND PERSON SINGULAR
3sg	THIRD PERSON SINGULAR
3sg.fem	THIRD PERSON SINGULAR FEMININE
3imp	THIRD IMPERSONAL
3r	THIRD COREFERENTIAL (WITH SUBJECT)
1 pl.incl	FIRST PERSON PLURAL INCLUSIVE
lpl.excl	FIRST PERSON PLURAL EXCLUSIVE
2pl	SECOND PERSON PLURAL
3pl	THIRD PERSON PLURAL
l SG.POSS	FIRST PERSON SINGULAR POSSESSIVE
2sg.poss	SECOND PERSON SINGULAR POSSESSIVE
3sg.poss	THIRD PERSON SINGULAR POSSESSIVE
3sg.fem.poss	THIRD PERSON SINGULAR FEMININE POSSESSIVE
3r.poss	THIRD COREFERENTIAL (WITH SUBJECT) POSSESSIVE
lpl.incl.poss	FIRST PERSON PLURAL INCLUSIVE POSSESSIVE
lpl.excl.poss	FIRST PERSON PLURAL EXCLUSIVE POSSESSIVE
2pl.poss	SECOND PERSON PLURAL POSSESSIVE
3pl.poss	THIRD PERSON PLURAL POSSESSIVE
ABESS	ABESSIVE
ABL	ABLATIVE
ADESS	ADESSIVE
ADVZ	ADVERBIALIZER
ALL	ALLATIVE

xx

ASSOC	ASSOCIATIVE
AUX	AUXILIARY
AUX.FUT	FUTURE AUXILIARY
CAUS	CAUSATIVE
CL.BDS	CLASSIFIER, BUNCH: DIFFERENT SOURCE
CL.BSS	CLASSIFIER, BUNCH:SAME SOURCE
CL.CCV	CLASSIFIER, CONCAVE OR CONVEX
CL.CYLB	CLASSIFIER, CYLINDRICAL:BIG
CL.CYLM	CLASSIFIER, CYLINDRICAL:MEDIUM
CL.CYLS	CLASSIFIER, CYLINDRICAL:SMALL
CL.FEM	CLASSIFIER, FEMININE
CL.FLAT	CLASSIFIER, FLAT
CL.RD	CLASSIFIER, ROUND
CL.TFLAT	CLASSIFIER, THIN FLAT
СОМ	COMITATIVE
COMIT	COMITATIVE CAUSATIVE
СОР	COPULA
DAT	DATIVE
DEM	DEMONSTRATIVE
DISP	DISPERSIVE
ЕМРН	EMPHATIC
EVID	EVIDENTIAL
FUT	FUTURE
GER	GERUND
IND1	INDICATIVE 1
IND2	INDICATIVE 2

xxi

INESS	INESSIVE
INSTR	INSTRUMENTAL
INTERR	INTERROGATIVE
IPASS	IMPERSONAL PASSIVE
LOC	LOCATIVE
NEG	NEGATIVE
NOMZ	NOMINALIZER
OPT	OPTATIVE
PAST	PAST
PL	PLURAL
POSS	POSSESSIVE
REC	RECIPROCAL
REFL	REFLEXIVE
RPAST	REMOTE PAST
SIMIL	SIMILITIVE

xxii

MAP OF BRAZIL IN SOUTH AMERICA (KARO VILLAGE SHOWN)



South America

xxiii

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 THE KARO LANGUAGE

Karo is an Amazonian language spoken by approximately 150 Arara Indians, in the state of Rondônia, Brazil.

Genetically, Karo has been classified as part of the Ramarama branch of the Tupi family, together with three other languages, Ramarama, Urukú and Urumí, given as extinct (Rodrigues 1964). Recently, however, a preliminary study has shown that Karo might be the sole member of its branch, and that the different languages considered its sisters might be, in fact, Karo itself, which was labeled differently by different researchers at different times (Gabas, to appear).

Apart from wordlists published by some ethnologists (the same ones who labeled *Karo* differently) in the beginning and middle of this century (Horta Barbosa 1945; Lévi-Strauss 1950; Nimuendaju 1925, 1955; Rondon 1948; Schultz 1955; Vitor Hugo 1959), no systematic linguistic research has been done previously on Karo.

1.2 THE TUPI LANGUAGES

The Tupi family is one of the largest language families in South America, with ten different branches: Arikem, Aweti, Juruna, Mawe, Munduruku, Monde, Purubora, Ramarama (where Karo belongs), Tupari and Tupi-Guarani. Of these, the Tupi-Guarani branch is the best known, probably because it contains the majority of languages of the family: approximately 55 out of the 80 Tupi languages are classified as Tupi-Guaranian. A few studies dealing with languages outside of the Tupi-Guarani branch are also available, among them some descriptive grammars (cf. Moore 1984 for the Gavião language; Crofts 1973 for the Mundurukú language), dictionaries (cf. Landin 1983 for Karitiana; Fundação Nacional do Índio 1977 for Mundurukú; Bontkes 1985 for Suruí) collections of texts (cf. Burum 1977, 1978, 1979 for Mundurukú), and a number of published as well as unpublished works (cf. Crofts 1985, Comodo 1981, and Rodrigues 1980 for Mundurukú; Graham and Harrison 1978 for Mawé; van der Meer 1981, 1982, 1983 for Suruí; Rodrigues 1966 for Cinta-Larga; Rodrigues 1990, 1995 for Xipáya; Galúcio 1996, 1997, Hanke, Swadesh & Rodrigues 1958 for Mekéns; Landin 1983, 1984, 1988, Landin and Landin 1973, Landin 1987, 1989, and Storto 1993, 1994, 1997a, 1997b, for Karitiana; Gabas 1998, 1989, 1990, 1991, 1994 for Karo; Moore 1984, 1985, 1989 for Gavião; Fargetti 1992 for Jurúna; Braga 1992 for Makurap).

For comparative and historical analysis of grammatical aspects of these languages, however, the quantity of the studies available is still far from adequate (cf. Moore 1994, an overview of Tupi syntax). It may be hoped that such analysis will become a reality in the near future, when more descriptions of languages beyond the Tupi-Guarani branch become available.

1.3 HISTORY OF THE GROUP

Although the Arara presently share their reservation (the Área Indígena Igarapé de Lourdes) with the Gavião and some Zoró Indians, both scientific and non-scientific reports show that they have always lived around that area.

The Arara were contacted by Western society in the late 1940's during the rubber expansion into the northwestern part of Brazil. As a result of the contact, many died of diseases carried by the rubber explorers and settlers.

The estimated number of Arara at contact was 600 people. This number had dropped considerably, to approximately 50, just two decades later. After contact, the remaining Arara either left to live in the cities or were brought to work on 'seringais' (rubber fields).

It was only in the mid-1960's that an employee of the now extinct Serviço de Proteção ao Índio, SPI, (the Brazilian Bureau of Indian Affairs) started the process of 'retribalization' of the Arara, bringing them to live in the area that is now their reservation. The Gavião and Zoró Indians came to join them shortly afterward.

By 1987, when I began fieldwork, the 100 Arara Indians living in the village were highly 'deculturated' and dependent on goods from the city. Traditional rituals, dances and music are rarely performed anymore, and foreign cultural items, activities, cuisine and religion have been incorporated into their society.

As for their economic resources, the Arara depend in part on natural products gathered from the reservation (rubber, fruits, Brazil nut, manioc flour, etc.) and on crafts (bows, arrows, baskets, earrings, necklaces, etc.). Most of their income, however, comes from lumbering.

1.4 CULTURAL OVERVIEW

The type of contact established with the Arara (unplanned, with no health care), and the historical situation (their "extraction" from their villages in order to participate in the process of rubber expansion) seem to have contributed to the lack of scientific studies of this group, either anthropological, linguistic or of any other nature. As a consequence, many of the traditions of the Arara have been lost, such as several spiritual rituals and regulatory orations.

Nevertheless, the people still remember some myths, sporadically sing their songs and practice a special kind of oratory, where two leaders (usually the spiritual leader and the chief) talk simultaneously, with one paraphrasing the other.

For subsistence, the Arara still manage to plant their crops of manioc, sweet potato, corn, papaya, pineapple and several kinds of bananas. Recently, they have also started to plant rice and sometimes beans, though not very successfully.

Besides the crops they also gather several types of fruits from the forest, especially cocoa, açai, cupuaçu, muruci, jatobá, caju, patuá, and several other kinds not known to me.

Recently, the Arara have begun to raise cows as an alternative means of subsistence. Generally, apart from sporadic losses due to jaguars and snakes, their herds are growing, and they seem to be successful in this endeavor.

The Arara also hunt and fish. Almost all hunting is now done with firearms instead of the traditional bows and arrows, though some rodents are still hunted with bows and arrows. The hunt, however, is becoming increasingly rare due to the heavy machinery used to gather wood and to the increase of pasture for the cattle. People are growing increasingly dependent on the city for their food, not only for meat but also oil, sugar, salt, rice, beans, sweets, etc.

Fishing still seems to be a lively activity among the Arara. Traditional as well as non-traditional ways of fishing are used, depending on the season. In the dry season (June through November), when the water level of the streams is low, bows and arrows are used. The tradition of fishing by poisoning the water with a special type of vine (the "timbó") is also maintained. Due to the extensive killing of all types of aquatic animals, as well as baby fish, this technique is used more rarely. In the rainy season, especially at the beginning, when the added turbulence of the water dirties the streams, fish lines and fish sticks are used.

By 1987 the Karo people lived in a single village, strategically located next to the end of a road to the closest city, Ji-Paraná. Even though their houses were no longer being built in the traditional way, they still carried the rough elements of a traditional house: the type of wood used, the way the logs were put together, and the roof of palm fronds.

In addition to their houses in the main village, all family groups also had temporary houses (or, as they call them, *colocações*) in the heart of the reservation, where they gather rubber and Brazil nuts. Sudden visits to the main village are not uncommon, however, especially in case of disease.

After 1987 there was a split within the Arara community, with the removal of the leader, who left with his family group to found another village.

Recently, with the decision of the shaman (and his family group) to live away from the other two villages, a three-way split has occurred. Although the reason for his move is apparently unknown, it is possible that he decided not to take sides in the dispute over power and went to live in a neutral place.

Only the first village is recognized bureaucratically by Fundação Nacional do Índio, FUNAI (the Brazilian Bureau of Indian Affairs), as an Indian Post and is entitled to the three basic elements of a Post: a permanent position and residence for a FUNAI employee, a teacher and a nurse.

Missionaries from the New Tribes Mission are also present a few meters across the creek which serves as a natural boundary between the reservation and a farm. Although their main goal is evangelical, they also serve as care providers to the Indians by trading goods, offering health care, and serving as mediators in economic transactions. From approximately 100 in 1987, the Arara population increased to about 150 in 1995. This was due chiefly to an improvement in the quality of the medical assistance provided to the Indians by FUNAI and (probably) the missionaries.

1.5 THE SOCIOLINGUISTIC SITUATION

The long years of contact with the surrounding white population did not keep the Arara people from speaking Karo in their communities. Children still use Karo as their primary language for communication, and Portuguese is used exclusively as a language of contact. Except for three Indians who were raised in the "seringais", away from contact with other Arara Indians, all Arara speak Karo. Older Arara Indians understand Portuguese, though they do not speak it. Younger generations of the Arara are bilingual in Portuguese (probably as consequence of their frequent trips to the closest cities), and a few male Arara also understand the Gavião-Zoró language, due to inter marriage which is relatively infrequent. Among these Arara is my best consultant, Mário Jorge, who married a Gavião Indian and usually spends part of the year with the Gavião and the other part with the Arara. All of their five children are bilingual in Karo and Gavião and also have a good understanding of Portuguese.

Only a few loan words from Portuguese are employed by the Arara, generally words for items introduced via contact, like *enxada* 'hoe', *carro* 'car', *caminhão* 'truck', *bicicleta* 'bicycle', etc. Over the past years, however, a tendency towards using kin terms borrowed from Portuguese has been increasing among the children, especially the words for 'mother' *mamãe*, 'father' *papai*, 'uncle' *titio* and 'aunt' *titia*.

6

As for dialectal differences, at least two dialects seem to have been spoken in the past by different clans, the Arara ('Macaw') clan and the Urubu ('Vulture') clan, also known as Pé-Preto ('Blackfoot'). Presently, only one family is reported to belong to the Vulture clan, and the dialectal differences between the members of this family and the rest of the Arara community, if any, seem to have disappeared¹.

1.6 FIELDTRIPS

Since the beginning of my research with the Karo language, in 1987, seven fieldtrips have been undertaken. The period of each fieldtrip is given below:

1 st fieldtrip:	June - August of 1987
2 nd fieldtrip:	April of 1990
3 rd fieldtrip:	August - September of 1990
4 th fieldtrip:	July - August of 1992
5 th fieldtrip:	July - August of 1993
6 th fieldtrip:	July - September of 1994
7 th fieldtrip:	October - December of 1995

¹ Although no differences between the Vulture family and the rest of the Arara community were found, a few differences among the Arara themselves seem to exist, at least in specific words. For example, while some speakers say [wirup] for 'food', others say [wirap]. [pirudn] 'round' can also be heard as [piron], etc.

1.7 THE DATA

The material on which this grammar is based comes from two different styles: elicited data and naturally occurring data (conversations, narratives, myths, telling of dreams, etc.). Elicited data were used mostly in the beginning of the research, and as I moved on to a better understanding of the language more and more of the second type of data was collected and analyzed.

I have recorded about 150 hours of elicited data, taken notes in 13 notebooks, and recorded approximately 120 hours of natural data, of which 1/3 is just roughly transcribed (not analyzed) and 1/5 is transcribed and analyzed². A profile of the consultants I have had a chance to work with is as follows:

Chiquito	male	born approximately in 1945
Manoel	male	born approximately in 1940
Carlão	male	born approximately in 1965
Mário Jorge	male	born approximately in 1965
Pereira	male	born approximately in 1970
Yarõk	male	born approximately in 1975
Wãk-wãk	male	born approximately in 1970
Rute	female	born approximately in 1980
Rosa	female	born approximately in 1975
Marli	female	born approximately in 1970

8

Besides these consultants, several other members of the community have also participated in the recording of myths and conversations, especially the members of the family of Mário Jorge.

The equipment used to make the recording was all analog. Except for the first fieldtrip, in which I used a Uher recorder, in all subsequent fieldtrips I used either a Sony Walkman Professional or a Marantz tape recorder. Almost all recordings were stereophonic. In one occasion the stereo microphone broke, and in another the stereo plug of the recorder also broke, recording only in monophonic mode.

 $^{^2}$ The analysis of transcribed data I refer to comprises the process of understanding the exact meaning of all morphemes (including literal translations) and grammatical patterns. This is a long process which averages 10-15 hours of analysis for each hour transcribed.

CHAPTER 2 PHONETICS AND PHONOLOGY

As in other Tupian languages, the most salient characteristic of Karo at the levels of phonetics and phonology is a heavy interplay between segmental and suprasegmental factors. As I will shown below, suprasegmentals like tone and stress relate to the structure of the sounds and syllables in remarkable ways.

I will first present the inventory of the phonetic and phonological segments (consonants and vowels, respectively) followed by a description of their variants and the respective environments in which they occur. Examples showing crucial distinctions among consonantal and vocalic phonemes also will be provided. In section 2.2 I will characterize the syllable patterns. Rules of nasalization spread will be given in section 2.3, and the processes of external sandhi will be presented in section 2.4³.

Although tone and stress are phenomena necessarily mentioned in the discussion of consonants and vowels, in section 2.1, the processes of stress placement and tone, including tone spreading, will be described in detail in the last two sections, 2.5 and 2.6, respectively.

2.1 PHONETIC SEGMENTS

The consonantal and vocalic phonetic segments of Karo are presented below. The transcription of these segments follows Ladefoged and Maddieson (1996).

³ The processes of *internal sandhi*, because of their specificity with relation to the word class in which they occur, will be presented in Chapter 3 when I describe the word classes of Karo.
2.1.1 CONSONANTS

	bilabial	alveolar	palatal	velar	glottal
stops	p p: p [*]	t t t'	c c:	k k: k'	?
	b			g	
nasal	m m ^b ^b m	n n ^d ^d n		ŋ ŋ ^{g g} ŋ	
flap		ĩı			
fricative	ß	<u> </u>	ç	Ŷ	h
approximant	w ŵ	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	уỹ		

The following phonetic consonants were found in Karo:

Table 1. Consonantal segments^{*}

The following table represents the consonantal phonemes of Karo:

⁴ I also found a consonant cluster, [tp̃], which occurs, so far, in one word of Karo, [tp̃u], meaning 'to jump'. This sound can be described as a cluster of a voiceless alveolar stop plus a voiceless bilabial stop, released with a trill on both lips. I am not including this sound in the phonetic and phonemic chart of Karo consonants because the word in which it occurs is an ideophone. Ideophones, due to their specificity in terms of sound symbolism, are generally kept apart from the "normal" phonetic and phonological systems of the language in which they occur.

	bilabial	alveolar	palatal	velar	glottal
stop	р	t	c	k	?
	b	r ⁵		g	<u> </u>
nasal	m	n		ŋ	
fricative	· · _ · · _ · · _ · · _ · · · _ · · · ·				h ⁶
approximan	it w		у		

Table 2. Consonantal phonemes

The phonetic alternations of the consonantal phonemes are explained below.

The pairs [b]: $[\beta]$ and [g]: $[\gamma]$ are in free variation in onsets of unstressed syllables after vowels.

 $['yaba] \sim ['ya\betaa]$ 'rodent (sp.)' [aga'ya] $\sim [a\gamma a'ya]$ 'cocoa'

[c] and [ç] are in free variation.

⁵ The phoneme /r/ is represented in the chart in sequence with the voiced stops /b/ and /g/ because they form a natural phonological group, even though they are not a phonetically coherent group. For phonological and morphological reasons, /r/ is being considered as the voiced counterpart of the voiceless stop /t/, as /b/ and /g/ are the (natural) voiced counterparts of the voiceless stops /p/ and /k/, respectively. Furthermore, treating /b/, /r/ and /g/ as natural phonological counterparts of the voiceless /p/, /t/, /k/ has several precedents among other Tupian languages (Rodrigues, p.c.). ⁶ It is important to mention that /h/ is not a frequent phoneme as compared to the others.

 $['ca^{d}n] \sim ['ca^{d}n] \quad 'fire'$ $['c\tilde{e}n] \sim ['c\tilde{e}n] \quad 'cat'$ $[e'c:\epsilont^{"}] \sim [e'c\epsilont^{"}] \quad 'your name'$

The phonetic segments of the voiceless stop series, [p]:[p:]:[p[']]; [t]:[t[']]; [c]:[c:]; [k]:[k[']], alternate as follows:

• long segments [p:], [t:], [c:], [k:] occur as the onsets of stressed syllables.

[iˈtːɨ]	'deer'
[moʻp:ik`]	ʻguan (sp.)'
[i'c: i]	'water'
[koˈk : õ]	'hawk'

• unreleased segments [p'], [t'], [k'] occur as word-final codas.

[maˈk:ap]]	'peanut'
[pɛˈwít]	'honey, sweet'
[ma?'t:ɛk`]	'palm tree (sp.)'

• non-aspirated segments [p], [t], [c] and [k] occur elsewhere.

[para'mit [¬]]	'spider'
--------------------------	----------

[maʔˈpɛ]	'gourd'
['tik `]	'mosquito'
[na?'tɔ]	'tapir'
[ˈcə̃n]	'cat'
[na?'cə k "]	'hole'
['karo]	'macaw'
[ca?'kĩn]	'monkey (sp.)'

The phonetic segments of the nasal series, [m]:[m^b]:[^bm]; [n]:[n^d]:[^dn]; [ŋ]:[ŋ^g]:[^gŋ], alternate as follows:

 post-denasalized segments [m^b], [n^d], [ŋ^g] occur on stressed syllable onsets before oral vowels.

[na?'m^bi] 'wasp (sp.)' [ana'n^da] 'pineapple' [ma'ŋ^got[¬]] 'again'

• pre-denasalized segments [^bm], [^dn], [^gŋ] occur on word-final codas of stressed syllables after an oral vowel.

[a?'pɛʰm]	'otherwise'
[ˈkɛ ^d n]	'to sleep'
['pé ^g ŋ]	'white man'

• plain nasal segments [m], [n], [ŋ] occur elsewhere.

[ame ¹ k:ɔ]	'jaguar'
[ana'n ^d a]	`pineapple'
[ma'?ip]	ʻlog'
[na'c:ɛy]	'grazing ground'
[õĩẽm']	'capibar'
[ˈnə̃m]	'breast'
[iˈyõm]	'father'
[ˈcə̃n]	`cat'
[ˈtēŋ]	`to fly'

The phonetic segments of the approximant series, $[r]:[\tilde{r}]; [w]:[\tilde{w}]; [y]:[\tilde{y}]$, alternate as follows:

• $[\tilde{w}]$ and $[\tilde{y}]$ occur adjacent to nasal vowels.

[o'w̃ə]	'mother'
[ˈtə̃w̃]	'far'
[ˈwin]	'to kill'
['nə̃ya]	'corn'
[i'ỹõm]	'father'
['ỹ ə ỹ]	'tooth'

 [r] occurs between nasal vowels in unstressed syllables preceded by stressed syllables:

[ˈkɔ̃r̃əm]	`hummingbird'
[ˈmə̃rõ]	`capibar'
[ˈpɔ́͡rõm]	`tree (sp.)'

• [w], [y] and [r] occur in all other environments.

[kiri'wɛp]]	'butterfly'
[wəˈwə]	'fan'
['yaw]	'ray'
[i'yɔ]	'bat'
[na?'wəy]	'monkey'
[ya'yɔ]	`armadillo (sp.)`
['parat [¬]]	ʻfish (sp.)'
[cicia]	'parrot'
['fõn'ene]	'peacock'
[awa'rə]	'bird (sp.)'
[ko'rē]	'wood (sp.)'

Crucial distinctions regarding specific features (voicing, manner and point of articulation) can be seen in the following examples:

Voicing:

/p/ : /b/	=	/abipe/	[abi'pɛ]	'his lip'	vs.
		/acibe/	[aci ⁱ bɛ]	'root'	
/t/ : /r/	=	/matet/	[ma ⁱ t:ɛt]	'yesterday'	vs.
		/korét/	[ko'rét`]	'bird (sp.)'	
/k/ : /g/	=	/wakãya/	[waˈk:ə̃ỹa]	'rodent (sp.)'	vs.
		/mãygāra/	[mõỹ'gõra]	'snake'	

Manner of articulation:

/p/:/m/ =	/pako/	[pa ⁱ k:ɔ]	'fish (sp.)'	vs.
	/makap/	[maˈk:ap`]	'peanut'	
	/nãp/	['nə̃p`]	'wasp (sp.)'	vs.
	/nām/	[ˈnə̃m]	'breast'	
/t/:/n/ =	/tāw/	[ˈtə̃w̃]	'far'	vs.
	/nãk/	['nə̃k`]	'mouth'	
	/?īt/	['?it`]	'small'	vs.
	/wĩn/	[ˈwin]	'to kill'	

/k/:/ŋ/ =	/ká?/	[ˈkáʔ]	CL.CCV	vs.
	/ŋa/	['ŋ ^g a]	3sf.fem	
	/mẽk/	['mēk`]	'to smear'	vs.
	/tẽŋ/	['tẽŋ]	'to fly'	
/p/:/w/ =	/piy/	['pɨy]	'lazy'	vs.
	/wiy/	['wiy]	'to leave'	
	/capə/	[ca'p:ə]	'penis'	vs.
	/wəwə/	[wəˈwə]	'fan'	
/h/:/?/ =	/nahek/	[na ⁱ hɛk]	'fontanel'	vs.
	/ma?ip/	[ma'?ip]	ʻlog'	
	/ihyãy/	[ih'ỹãỹ]	`piranha'	vs.
	/pi?ti/	[pi?'ti]	'heavy'	
/c/ : /y/ =	/cú/	['cú]	ʻbig'	vs.
	/yu/	['yu]	'blood'	
	/cã/	['cə̃]	'bitter'	vs.
	/iyã/	[i'ỹə̃]	'Brazil nut'	

Point of articulation:

/?/:/k/ =	/pɨʔ/	['pɨʔ]	'CLASSIFIER'	VS.
	/tik/	['tɨk`]	'pick'	
	/ma?ip/	[ma'?ip`]	ʻlog'	vs.
	/makap/	[maˈk:ap`]	'peanut'	
/c/:/t/ =	/can/	['ca ^d n]	'to pluck'	vs.
	/tan/	['ta ^d n]	'to beat'	
	/ici/	[i'c:i]	'water'	vs.
	/iti/	[i't:i]	'deer'	
/c/ : /k/ =	/nacap/	[na'c:ap`]	'hair'	vs.
	/makap/	[ma'k:ap]]	'peanut'	
	/naco/	[na ⁱ c:ɔ]	'plantation fie	ld'
	/pako/	[pa'k:ɔ]	ʻfish (sp.)'	

19

2.1.2 VOWELS

Karo has the following vocalic (oral and nasal) phonetic segments:

	front	central	back	
high	i ĩ	ł	u	<u>-</u>
mid-high	еē	ə อั	οõ	
mid-low	3		c	
low		а		<u> </u>

Table 3. Vocalic segments (oral and nasal)

The vocalic phonemes of Karo are as follows:

	front	central	back	
high	i ĩ	i	u	
mid	e ẽ	Э	οõ	
low		a ã		

Table 4. Vocalic phonemes (oral and nasal)

The rules that account for the occurrence of $[e]:[\varepsilon]$ and [o]: [o] as

allophones of the phonemes /e/ and /o/, respectively, are:

• [e] occurs in high-tone syllables⁷:

[koˈrét`]	/korét/	ʻguan (sp.)'
['pé ^g ŋ]	/péŋ/	'non-Indian'
['wét`]	/wét/	'to cry'

⁷ High tone is marked with the acute symbol; low tone is left unmarked.

• [ε] occurs in unstressed syllables and in low-tone stressed syllables:

[amɛˈk:ɔ]	/ameko/	'jaguar'
[pɛˈwit`]	/pewit/	•honey
[ko'rɛʰm]	/korem/	'also'
[ma?'pɛ]	/ma?pe/	'gourd'

• [0] occurs in high-tone syllables and in unstressed syllables:

[o'w̃ẽ]	/owẽ/	'baby'
[mo'c:ay]	/mocay/	'possum'
[ˈtóy]	/tóy/	'to disappear'
[ˈmʰóá]	/móa/	'tortoise'

• [3] occurs in low-tone stressed syllables:

[pa'k:ɔ]	/pako/	ʻfish (sp.)'
[na?'tɔ]	/na?to/	'tapir'
[ˈmʰɔk٦]	/mok/	'rope'

The distribution of the phonetic segments $[e]:[\varepsilon]$ and $[o]:[\mathfrak{d}]$ shows that their occurrence is not conditioned by segmental factors but by suprasegmental ones. Roughly, while **high tone** seems to favor the occurrence of the higher vowels, [e] and [o], **stress** seems to favor the occurrence of the lower vowels $[\varepsilon]$ and $[\mathfrak{d}]$. It is worth mentioning that in the linguistics literature only consonantal segments have been reported to interact with tone (cf. Hyman & Schuh 1974, Hyman 1973, 1975). In Karo, vocalic segments do interact with tone, a fact which may be unusual.

The examples below show crucial phonological distinctions among pairs of vowels:

/i/: /e/ =	/iti/	[iˈtːi]	'somebody came'	VS.
	/ite/	[iˈtːɛ]	'uncle'	
	/wip/	['wip']	'cooked' vs.	
	/wep/	['wɛp`]	'I do not know'	
/ɨ/:/ə/ =	/kiy/	[ˈkɨy]	'truth' vs.	
	/kəy/	[ˈkəy]	DATIVE	
	/tin/	['ti ^d n]	'to burn' vs.	
	/tən/	['tə ^d n]	'to walk'	
/ə/:/a/ =	/kəy/	[ˈkəy]	DATIVE vs.	
	/kay/	['kay]	AUX.FUTURE	
	/apəy/	[a'p:əy]	'grandmother' vs.	
	/a?-pay/	[a?'pay]	'he died'	

/u/:/o/ =	/up/	['up`]	'red'	vs.
	/op/	['ɔp`]	`papaya'	
	/na?tup/	[na?'tup`]	'end'	vs.
	/na?to/	[na?'tɔ]	'tapir'	
/i/:/ī/ =	/win/	['wi ^d n]	'to feed'	VS.
	/wĩn/	['wĩn]	'to kill'	
	/tati/	[ta ^t t:i]	'to bring'	VS.
	/kotĩ/	[koˈtːĩ]	`one'	
/e/·/ē/ =	/22-nev-2/	[a2 ⁱ neva]	'do it'	VE
	/a?-pēy-a/	[a?'pēỹa]	'step on it'	v 3.
	/korét/	[ko'rét [*]]	ʻguan (sp.)'	VS.
	/carek/	[ca'rēk]	'slow'	
/a/:/ã/ =	/kap/	['kap']	'fat'	vs.
	/kãp/	[ˈkə̃p]]	'delicious, ta	steful'
	/pa?pan/	[pa?'pa ^d n]	'to fall'	VS.
	/nãnã/	[nõ ⁱ n:õ]	'yam (an)'	
	'papa'	[ha h:a]	yanı (sp.)	

23

/o/:/õ/ =	/yakoy/	[ya'k:ɔy]	'to sweat'	vs.
	/yakõy/	[yaˈk:õỹ]	'to dive'	
	/mok/	[ˈmʰɔk٦]	'thin rope'	vs.
	/mõy/	[ˈmõỹ]	'powder'	

2.2 SYLLABIC PATTERN

Four types of syllables occur in the words of Karo: open syllables CV and V, and closed syllables VC and CVC. There is a general tendency for closed syllables to occur word-finally, preceded by one or two open syllables. (It is rare for a word to contain more than three syllables.) Closed syllables can precede open syllables only if the coda consonant is a glottal stop /?/.

Below I provide examples of each possible sequence of syllables, openopen, open-closed, closed-open, and closed-closed. Syllabic units are separated by dots.

Open-open:

/ya.mo.mõ/	'chameleon'
/ka.?a/	'house'
/a.o.ro/	'parrot'
/i.yo/	`bat'
/mó.a/	'tortoise'

24

/cố.a.be/	'bow'
/a.me.ko/	'jaguar'
/ó.ra/	'music'
/a.?i/	'sloth'

Open-closed:

/pe.wit/	'honey'
/í.gip/	'aunt'
/cõ.at/	'slippery'
/i.it/	'to squeeze'
/ca.ro.gīn/	'smoke, cloud'
/a.tĩŋ/	'worm'
/pe.ĩn/	'to ripe off'
/ma.pəy/	'rainbow'
/na.cey/	'plantation field'

Closed-open⁸:

/ma?.pe/	'gourd'
/ka?.to/	'2PL'
/i?.ke/	NEGATIVE PARTICLE
/a?.ti/	'he came'

⁸ The open syllable of a sequence closed-open must always be CV. If it were otherwise an open syllable with no onset (only V), nothing would prevent the coda of the preceding closed syllable to become its onset, forming thus a sequence (C)V + CV.

/ku.ru?.cu/	`saliva'
/ya?.cī/	'bad odor'
/ko.ro?.pe/	'snake (sp.)'
/ya?.mo/	'sweet potato'

Closed-closed:

/a?.pem/	'otherwise'
/i?.net/	'wait!'
/na?.pit/	'path, road'
/ca?.wət/	'thorn'
/pe?.tik/	'potato'
/pa?.pan/	`to fall down'
/ma?.wit/	'man'
/a.ya?.nãp/	'branch'
/na?.yop/	'leaf

Words with just one syllable are also possible:

Open:

/tĩ/	'shame'
/cú/	'big'
/ŋa/	3sg.fem
/pe/	CL.FLAT
/i/	'jenipapo'

Closed:

/péŋ/	'white man'
/tik/	`mosquito'
/tap/	3pl
/pɨy/	'lazy'
/up/	'red'
/ap/	'house (of animals)'
/ip/	'fish'
/ék/	`inside'

While there are no restrictions on the occurrence of vowels at the V position, the consonants c/, b/, r/ and g/ occur exclusively as syllable onsets. b/, r/ and g/ also occur exclusively word-medially.

2.3 NASAL SPREADING

Two types of nasalization spread occur in Karo, one obligatory and the other optional.

Obligatorily, nasalization spreads from an underlying nasal vowel of a stressed (penultimate) syllable through the last syllable of a word ($L \rightarrow R$) if the onset of this last syllable is either /r/ or /g/⁹. The nasalization spreads not only to the vowel but also to the /r/ and /g/ consonants as well, which become [\tilde{r}] and [η], respectively.

⁹ I did not find any example in the data where a syllable begins with /b/.

/cērat/	['cēr̃ət`]	'smooth'
/mãro/	[ˈmãrõ]	'capibar'
/mēgan/	[ˈmẽŋə̃n]	'to smear'
/cīgan/	[ˈcĩŋə̃n]	'to arrange'

Optionally, a vowel becomes nasalized between two non-final nasals.

/maŋot/	[mə̈'ŋ ^ɐ ɔt`]	~	[ma'ŋ ^g ɔt`]	'again'
/anana/	[anɔ̃'n ^d a]	~	[ana'n ^d a]	'pineapple'
/yamomõ/	[yamõ'mõ]	~	[yamo'mõ]	'chameleon'
/mani/	[mə̃'ni]	~	[ma'ni]	'manioc'

If the penultimate syllable does not have a nasal consonant as its onset, then the nasalization spread does not occur:

/erenĩ/	[ere'nĩ]	'wood (sp.)'
/kanã/	[ka'nã]	'thing'

2.4 PHONOLOGICAL ASSIMILATION

Phonological assimilation of specific features is a widespread phenomenon in Karo. Some phonemes easily assimilate the features of other phonemes both word-internally and at word boundaries. Internal assimilations occur with noun, verb and adjective roots, involving basically a change in either voice or manner of articulation of the voiceless stops /p/, /t/ or /k/. Depending on the surrounding environment, /p/, /t/ and /k/ become respectively, /b/, /r/, /g/ or /m/, /n/, /n/. The complete description of these changes, due to the specificity with relation to the word classes in which they occur, will be provided in Chapter 3, section 3.1, where I describe the word classes of Karo.

External alternations occur extensively in Karo¹⁰. They involve changes of the voiceless stops /p/, /t/ and /k/ both word-initially and word-finallly. With a few exceptions, these alternations are conditioned by an association of segmental factors (the position of specific vowels and consonants) plus a suprasegmental factor (the occurrence vs. non-occurrence of stress) in strings of words.

The phonological changes affect the voiceless stops /p/, /t/ and /k/ as a group in a similar fashion. Roughly speaking, three patterns of change were found: 1) /p/, /t/ and /k/ change to /b/, /r/ and /g/, respectively, before or after vowels or glides; 2) /p/, /t/ and /k/ change to /m/, /n/ and /ŋ/, respectively, either word-initially or word-finally. Word-initially, they change to /m/, /n/ and /ŋ/ after a word which ends with a nasal consonant. Word-finally, they change to /m/, /n/ and /ŋ/ after a mord which ends with a nasal consonant. Word-finally, they change to /m/, /n/ and /ŋ/ if they are preceded by a nasal vowel nucleus and followed by a word with a nasal consonant at the word-initial position; and 3) /p/ and /k/ change to /b/ (or /h/) and /g/, respectively, if they occur in a word-final stressed syllable with an oral vowel nucleus followed by a word with a nasal consonant in the word-initial position. Each of these patterns of change is described below.

¹⁰ The description provided in this section is representative of only certain groups of speakers within the Karo community. No exhaustive survey was made with respect to possible phonological alternations presented here.

1a) /p/, /t/ and /k/ change to their voiced counterparts /b/, /r/ and /g/ in word-final position before vowels or glides.

 $/p/, /t/, /k/ \rightarrow /b/, /r/, /g// __ # V or G(lide)$

/p/:

[war iyõm ib an] wat iyõm ip at-t ISG father fish bring.IND1 'my father brought a fish'

[cawab	wiy]
cawap	wiy-t
sun	go.out-IND1
'the sun rose'	

[na?cab yatep] na?cap yatep head.hair fall(ADJ.) `fallen head hair'

[ma?wir	ameko	roy]
ma?w#	ameko	top-t
man	jaguar	see-IND I
the man say	w the jaguar'	

[ma?wir	yét	toy]
ma Av i t	yét	top-t
man	this	see-IND l
the man sav	v this or	ie'

[õn **gorér** w**ĩn**] õn korét w**ĩ-n** 1SG bird kill-IND1 'I killed a/the bird (sp.)'

.

nyanế

yanế first

(l) õn	mewît	nyegat	(2) ōn	a?cegat
õn	pewit	yega-t	õn	a?-cega-t
ISG	honey	search.for-IND1	lsg	3sG-turn.off-IND1
	'I searc	hed for honey'	ʻI turn	ed it off first'

¹¹ No change of /t/ to /r/ happens when /t/ is followed by the glide /y/ in an unstressed syllable. In such cases, an epenthetic /n/ occurs between /t/ and /y/. Examples are:

/k/:

[ma	teg	i Re]		
ma Ite	ek.	i Ike		
palm.	tree	NEG		
ʻit's n	ot (a) pa	lm tre	e (sp.)'	
ſõn	yarace	wag	ya Ni	nãn]
õn	yarace	wak	- ya∕ti	nã-n
lsg	wild.d	og	like	COP-IND l
·I like	the wild	d dog'		

[yate	na?cəg	wew]
yate	na?cək	wew
pig	nose	large
'pig's	large nose'	

1b) /p/, /t/ and /k/ change to their voiced counterparts /b/, /r/ and /g/ in word-initial position after vowels or glides.

 $/p/, /t/, /k/ \rightarrow /b/, /r/, /g//V \text{ or } G #$

[óra **becép**] óra pecép song ugly 'ugly song'

[oyakõybấttem]o-yakõp-tpất=temISG=dive-IND1beautiful=ADVZ'I dove beautifully'

[pew bət] pew pət wound lots.of 'lots of wounds'

/t/:

mãygãra	roba	at	towiya
mãygãra	top-a	a?=?e-t	to=wiy-a
snake	see-GER	3sg=aux-ind1	3R=leave-GER
•He left to see	e the snake.'		

33

[ar inãw rati] at inãw tati-t 3SG bird bring-IND1 'he brought a bird (sp.)'

[i mõ	gЭу	rə]
i?-nõ	kəy	lə
lpL.INCL=one.of	DAT	EVID
[•] for one of us, they s	say'	

/k/:

[oti	gán]
o=ti-t	kán
lSG=come-IND1	RPAST
'long ago I came'	

[iyãy	gõm]
i=yãy	kõm
31MP=tooth	like
'like a tooth'	

[yaw **gõam**] yaw kõam ray also `ray too'

34

2a) /p/, /t/, /k/ change to their nasal counterparts /m/, /n/ and /ŋ/ word-initially after a word ending with a nasal consonant.

/p/:

iyõm **mất** iyõm pất father beautiful 'beautiful father'

koran **map**

koran pap fish CL.CYLB `fish (sp.)'

/t/:

kấram **natia** kấram ta-ti-a hummingbird COM-take-GER 'Bring the hummingbird!'

haran	narap
haran	tarap
monkey	spotted
spotted mo	onkey (sp.)'

iyõm **ŋõm** iyõm k**õm** father SIMIL `like father'

/k/:

okunŋko=kunkk1SG=bellywhite'my white belly'

2b) /p/, /t/, /k/ change to their nasal counterparts /m/, /n/ and /ŋ/ word-finally in a syllable with a nasal vowel nucleus followed by a word beginning with a nasal consonant.

/p/, /t/, /k/ \rightarrow /m/, /n/, /ŋ/ / \tilde{v} _ # N

nãm naká
nãp naká
bee head
'head of (the/a) bee (sp.)'

epấnmãmahyəe=pấtmãmahyə2SG=beautiful XINTERR'Are you good/alright?'

a?wāŋ	na Ito	wĩn
a?=wấk	na Ito	wĩ-n
3sg=sick	tapir	kill-ind1
'He, being sick, killed the tapir.'		

3) /p/ and /k/ change to /b/ and /g/, respectively, if they occur in a word-final stressed syllable with an oral vowel as its nucleus, followed by a word beginning with a nasal consonant.

/p/, /k/ \rightarrow /b/, /g/ / V _ # N

cób mawiya
cóp ma-wiy-a
fly CAUS-go.out-GER
'make the fly leave' (frighten it!)

wagagnakáwagaknakábirdhead`bird`s (sp.) head'

Furthermore, if the syllable with the nasal consonant is also stressed, /p/ does not change to /b/ but to /h/ instead. (This same rule also applies when the onset of the last syllable also begins with the glides /w/ and /y/.)

$$/p/ \rightarrow /h/ / V _ \# N_{(+stress)}^{12}$$
:

ma Aw**itah** mõm wiy ma Awitap mõm wiy-t man ASSOC only leave-IND1 'only men left'

na Iyoh	nõ
na Iyop	nõ
leaf	one.of
'one of the leaves'	

oco rah	wét
o-corap	wé-t
1sG=girlfriend	cry-IND l
'my girlfriend cried'	

wayo	bah	уи
wayo	bap	yu
alligator	CL.CYLB	blood
'blood of (an) alligator'	

 $^{^{12}}$ I did not find any example where /p/ changes to /h/ before /ŋ/.

2.5 STRESS

Stress occurs basically on the last syllable of Karo words. Less frequently, it occurs on penultimate syllables. These occurrences are predictable in terms of segmental and suprasegmental factors.

2.5.1 SEGMENTAL CONDITIONING OF STRESS PLACEMENT

From the segmental point of view, stress can be predicted by the onset of the last syllable: if it is a voiced stop consonant, /b/, /r/ or /g/, then the stress shifts one syllable to the left.

/yaba/	['yaba]	'rodent (sp.)'
/cobi/	[ˈcobɨ]	'hook'
/pibe?/	/'pibe?/	'foot'
/pábe?/	/'pábe?/	'hand'
/aoro/	[a'ɔrɔ]	'parrot'
/kirik/	[ˈkɨɾɨk]	'green'
/waro/	["waro]	`snail'
/mãro/	[ˈmə̃rõ]	`capibar'
/karo/	['karo]	'macaw'
/were/	['wɛrɛ]	'frog'
/yuri/	['yuri]	'tatoo'
/macirup/	[ma ⁱ c:irup]]	'bird (sp.)'
/cirip/	[ˈcɨrɨp`]	'bird (sp.)'

/yogo/	['yɔgɔ]	'eel'
/cego/	[ˈcɛgo]	'monkey (sp.)'
/tágip/	['tágip']	'bow'
/ígip/	[ˈígɨp]]	'aunt'
/cigi/	['cigi]	'spot'
/məga/	[ˈməga]	'mouse'
/ecigun/	[ɛˈc:igu ^d n]	'ant-eater (sp.)'
/i?cogo/	[i?'cɔɡɔ]	'quati (sp.)'
/manogon/	[ma ^t n ^d ógo ^d n]	ʻrabbit (sp.)'

If the onset of the last syllable is of any other kind rather than /b/, /r/ or /g/ then the stress falls on the last syllable.

/peon/	[pɛˈɔdn/	'skin'
/mop i k/	[mo ^l p:ik [¬]]	'bird (sp.)'
/matek/	[maˈtːɛk`]	'palm tree (sp.)'
/kuru?cu/	[kuru?'cu]	'saliva'
/pako/	[pa'k:ɔ]	'fish (sp.)'
/ya?o/	[ya'?ɔ]	'lizard (sp.)'
/ya?mo/	[yaʔ'mʰɔ]	'yam (sp.)'
/anana/	[ana'n ^d a]	'pineapple'
/maŋot/	[ma'ŋ ^g ɔt`]	'again'
/nahek/	[na'hɛk`]	'fontanel'

/kiriwep/	[kiri'wep]]	'butterfly'
/koyo/	[kɔˈyɔ]	'crab'

A few exceptions to this segmental rule occur. In these exceptions, the last syllable is stressed instead of the penultimate one, violating the rule which establishes stress on penultimate syllables beginning with /b/, /r/ or /g/.

/acibe/	[aci ⁱ bɛ]	*[a'c:ibɛ]	'root'
/kiribop/	[kiriˈbɔp`]	*[kiˈribəp`]	frog (sp.)'
/pobo/	[pɔ'bɔ]	*['pɔbɔ]	'owl'
/korem/	[ko ⁱ ce ^b m]	*['kacs ^b m]	'also'
KOICHD	[Kore m]		a130
/miririy/	[mɨɾɨˈɾɨy]	*[miˈɾiɾiy]	'toad (sp.)'
/koran/	[ko'ra ^d n]	*['kɔɾa ^d n]	'fish (sp.)'
/pirun/	[pi'ru ^d n]	*['piru ^d n]	'round'
/pagon/	[pa ⁱ gɔ ^d n]	*['pagɔ ^d n]	'friend'
/cagəp/	[ca'gəp`]	*['cagəp']	'dish'
/yogoy/	[yo'gɔy]	*['yɔgɔy]	'breath'

2.5.2 SUPRASEGMENTAL CONDITIONING OF STRESS PLACEMENT

Stress is also affected by nasalization and tone. In the first case, the underlying nasal vowel of an ultimate or penultimate syllable is automatically stressed, regardless of the type of onset of the last syllable¹³.

Ultimate syllable stress:

/iyã/	[i'ỹə̃]	'Brazil nut'
/cokõy/	[coˈk:õỹ]	'parrot (sp.)'
/ma?õ/	[ma'?õ]	'ant (sp.)'
/aya?nãp/	[aya?'nãp`]	'branch'
/ya?cĩ/	[ya?'cĩ]	'bad odor'
/cigã/	[ciˈgə̃]	'bone'

Penultimate syllable stress:

/wakãya/	[waˈk:ə̃ỹa]	'rodent (sp.)'
/ĩya/	['ĩỹa]	'bird'
/yogõyom/	[yoˈgõỹõm]	'beard, moustache'
/mãygãra/	[mə̃ÿ'gə̃rə̃]	'snake'
/cimāran/	[ciˈmə̃rə̃n]	`snake (sp.)'
/kõnam/	[ˈkõnə̃m]	'crazy'
/catõwa/	[ca ⁱ t:õw̃ə̃]	ʻfish (sp.)'

¹³ There seems to be just one underlying nasal vowel per word in Karo. Furthermore, Karo does not have words with nasal vowels as the nucleus of the penultimate syllable and voiceless stop consonants as the onset of the last syllable, e.g. *[pāki], *[yōca], *[tēpan], etc. The presence of such words would have the effect of clashing the segmental and suprasegmental rules of stress placement.

Stress is also affected by tone: a syllable with high pitch is automatically stressed. Only one underlying high pitch occurs per word. This type of conditioning interacts with the two other types in the following ways:

- A. conditioning by nasality: high pitch never occurs in a syllable of a word which also contains another syllable with an underlying nasal vowel (e.g. *['pákã], *['wétã], etc.);
- B. segmental constraints: high pitch also never occurs in a penultimate syllable if the onset of the ultimate syllable has a voiceless stop /p/, /t/, /c/, /k/, /?/ (e.g. *['tápik'], *['cékə], etc.)

Examples of words with high pitch are¹⁴:

/yogá/	[yo'gá]	'egg'
/korét/	[ko'rét`]	'guan (sp.)'/'fowl'???
/napía/	[na ^l p:íá]	`ant (sp.)'
/móa/	[ˈmóá]	'turtle (sp.)'
/pewít/	[pɛˈwít`]	'sweet'
/nayúa/	[na ^l yúá]	'ant's house'
/wíup/	[ˈwíúp`]	'native, non-domesticated'

¹⁴ The phonetic convention I use to mark pitch is: high pitch : [⁻]; mid pitch : [⁻]; low pitch : unmarked.

2.6 Рітсн

Three levels of pitch occur phonetically in Karo words: high, mid and low. Of these, only high and low are phonologically contrastive; mid pitch is the phonetic realization of low pitch in stressed syllables.

Since high, mid and low pitches do not rise or fall during their production, the pitch system of Karo can be categorized as a 'register level pitch system' (Pike 1948).

Furthermore, the fact that only high and mid pitches occur in stressed syllables, and that high and mid pitches are also used to distinguish the meanings of words make Karo a 'pitch-accent' language (Hyman 1975).

Some pairs of words distinghishable only by means of differences in pitch are:

/pến/	['pḗn]	'to open'	vs.
/pẽn/	['pēn]	'to step'	
/cán/ /can/	['cá ^d n] ['ca ^d n]	'to wash' 'to pluck'	VS.
/tóy/	[ˈtóy]	'to disappear'	VS.
/toy/	[ˈtəy]	'to see'	

The examples below show the occurrence of low pitch in unstressed syllables and mid and high pitches in stressed syllables:

44

/ma?pe/	[ma?'pē]	'gourd'
/parato/	[para't:5]	ʻarmadillo (sp.)'
/ameko/	[ame'k:5]	'jaguar'
/yogá/	[yoʻgá]	'egg'
/pewít/	[pɛˈwít]	'honey'
/korét/	[ko ['] rét [']]	'fowl'

It thus can be observed that from the strict phonological point of view, only three sequences of pitch occur in Karo:1) (low-)low-low, 2) (low-)low-high and 3) (low-)high-low:

low-low:

/na?wəy/	[na?'wəy]	'monkey (generic)'
/wayo/	[wa'yɔ]	'alligator'
/paramit/	[para'mit']	'spider'

low-high:

/korét/	[koˈrét ⁻]	ʻguam (sp.)'
/cagá/	[ca'gá]	'eye'
/yogá/	[yo'gá]	'tongue'

high-low:

/kấram/	[ˈkəོřəႅm]	'hummingbird'
/napía/	[na ['] p:íá]	'ant (sp.)'
/móa/	['m ^b óá]	'tortoise'

2.6.1 TONE SPREADING

The high or mid tone of a penultimate syllable of a word in Karo spreads rightwards to the last syllable $(L \rightarrow R)$ if the onset of this last syllable is a voiced segment V, /b/, /r/, /g/, /w/, /y/, /m/, /n/, /ŋ/.

/napía/	[na'p:íá]	'ant (sp.)'
/yaba/	['yāβā]	'rodent (sp.)'
/pā́ram/	[ˈpɔ̄r̄ə͡m]	'wood (sp.)'
/karo/	['kāro]	'macaw'
/yogo/	['yɔ̃gɔ̃]	'eel'
/káwan/	[^t káwán]	'be fat'
/morĩya/	[moˈɾī̃ỹā]	'bead'
/a-ma-kốma/	[ama'k:ốmá]	'make it warm/warm it!'
/a-ma-pấna/	[ama'p:ɔ̃́ná]	`make it beautiful!'
/pấŋan/	[ˈpອົ໋ŋອົ້n]	'to give'

46
2.6.2 PHONETIC PROPERTIES OF TONE

In order to check the measures of each syllable type with relation to their tone, a sample of 140 words was taken from four different young male consultants and digitized using the software CECIL. Two different patterns were investigated: 1. the absolute measure of tone for each type of syllable (low, mid and high) and 2. the absolute measure of change in tone from one type of syllable to another (from low to mid; from low to high)¹⁵.

Given the fact that tone patterns varied substantially depending upon the phonetic environment (where differences in vowel quality and differences in stress interfere with the production of higher or lower tones¹⁶), the measures for each type of tone - low, mid and high - are presented in a range. These are:

LOW:	109 - 128 Hz
MID:	117 - 146 Hz
HIGH:	146 - 172 Hz

The average range of tone transition from one syllable type to another was:

LOW \rightarrow MID:	15 Hz
$LOW \rightarrow HIGH$:	33 Hz

¹⁵ Due to the stress patterns seen before (in section 2.5) and to the tone spreading processes (seen in section 2.6.1), there are no occurrences of sequences high-mid, mid-low or high-low within simple words in Karo. Two possible exceptions could be the words [tá:gip], 'bow' and [ī:gip], 'aunt, brother (female speaking)', respectively, in which the high tone of the first syllable does not spread to the following syllable, even though the /g/-type onset is among the ones which allow the spreading of the high tone. These exceptions might be explained when we recognize that these words might be lexicalized forms of a sequence of two morphemes, *ták* plus *?ip* and *ik* plus *?ip*. ¹⁶ High vowels carry intrinsically higher pitch when compared to lower vowels, and stressed syllables also tend to have higher pitch as compared to unstressed syllables.

CHAPTER 3 MORPHOLOGY

From a typological point of view, Karo can be characterized as mildly synthetic and fusional. It does not exhibit intricate arrays of morphemes: noun phrases are not marked for case, verbs do not have person marking, etc. Only a few inflectional and derivational affixes occur, and a handful of clitics. The morphological processes that occur are a few types of nominalization, two types of causation, a process of adverbialization, and compounding.

The content of this chapter is as follows. In section 3.1 I present the word classes, discussing their occurrence as bound or free forms. In sections 3.2 and 3.3 I describe the affixes and clitics of Karo, respectively, and the phonological alternations associated with them. In section 3.4 I discuss the processes of nominalization and finally, in section 3.5, I describe the way compounds are formed.

3.1 WORD CLASSES

Nine classes of words occur in Karo: 1) pronouns, 2) nouns, 3) verbs, 4) auxiliaries, 5) adjectives, 6) postpositions, 7) adverbs, 8) particles and 9) ideophones¹⁷. Verbs, adjectives, auxiliaries, postpositions and inalienable nouns have in common the fact that they must *always* be preceded by an argument, either a pronoun, a personal clitic or an alienable noun.

Below I describe each of these classes and provide the necessary evidence which helps categorize a given word as belonging to one class or another.

¹⁷ Even though ideophones are considered a separate class of words, I will describe their occurrences and particulars in a separate chapter, given their complexity.

3.1.1 PRONOUNS

Four classes of pronouns occur in Karo: personal pronouns, possessive pronouns, interrogative pronouns and demonstrative pronouns.

Personal pronouns are used to mark ergative arguments of transitive verbs (see Chapter 4, section 4.3.1.4 on Case marking and grammatical relations). The personal pronouns of Karo are presented in Table 5 below.

Person / Number	1	2	3	3 feminine
SG	õn	ẽn	at	ŋa
(INCL) PL	iîtə	ka?to		tap
(EXCL)	té			•

Table 5 Karo free personal pronouns

A set of possessive pronouns is used with alienable nouns. (See Genitive Constructions in Chapter 4, section 4.3.1.2.) This set is probably derived historically from the juxtaposition of the set of personal clitics (see section 3.3.3 below) plus the possessive marker *at*, which could have been an inalienable noun with a general meaning of 'thing'. (Examples of possessive pronouns are provided in Chapter 4, section 4.3.1.1, in the description of noun phrase constituents.)

Person / Number	1	2	3	3 feminine
SG	wat	et	at	ŋaat
(INCL) PL	i?yat	karowat		tabat
(EXCL)	te?et			
IND1EF			yat=	

Table 6 Karo possessive pronouns

Two interrogative pronouns occur in Karo: *nãn* 'who, what' and *kigoma* 'which'. *nãn* occurs at the beginning of the clause, and is used as noun (phrase) substitute of any function (core and oblique).

nãn iket nãn i=ket who 31MP=sleep 'Who slept?'

nān māygāra wīn nān māygāra wī-n who snake kill-INDl 'Who killed the snake?'

nãn ẽn itop nãn ẽn i=top who 2SG 3IMP=see 'Who/what did you see?'

nānbihmāmekerapnānpihmāme=ket-apwhoCOMIT2sG=sleep-IND2'With whom did you sleep?'

The interrogative pronoun *kigomat* is used jointly with a noun (phrase). It also occurs at the beginning of clauses. The function of *kigomat* is to request more (precise) information about the noun to which it refers. *kigomat* may also occur in core or oblique function¹⁸.

kigomət ip pay kigomət ip pap-t which fish die-IND1 'Which kind of fish died?'

kigomatĩyaẽniwĩkigomatĩyaẽni=wĩwhichbird2sg3IMP=kill'Which kind of bird did you kill?'

kigom ə t	iyá	naká	mã	at	yate	wīm
kigom ə t	iyá	naká	mã	at	yate	w <i>ĩ-m</i>
which	stone	head	INSTR	3sg	pig	kill-ind2
With which knife did he kil the pig?						

Both interrogative pronouns, nan and $kigom \partial t$, can be used with the interrogative particle $ahy\partial$ in general information questions.

¹⁸ I have not found occurrences of kigom a in ergative (agentive) function.

nãnahyəmẽrãnãnahyəmẽtãwhoINTERRhereX'What is this here?'

nãn ahyə nãn ahyə who INTERR 'What (happened)?; What/who is it?'

kigom ə t	(+ noun)	ahyə	(mẽr	ã)
kigom ə t	(+ noun)	ahyə	(mẽt	ã)
which	()	INTERR	(here	X)
Which kind c	of () (is this o	ne here)?'		

Three demonstrative pronouns occur in Karo: $y\acute{et}$ 'this (close to speaker)', *t* ∂t 'that (close to hearer)', and *yeket* 'that (far from speaker + hearer)'. All three may occur in either core or oblique function. The demonstrative pronouns are further discussed in Chapter 4, section 4.3.1.1, on noun phrase constituents.

3.1.2 Nouns

Nouns in Karo are not inflected for number, gender or case. For this reason, few morphological criteria are available to distinguish them from the other word classes. The bulk of the criteria comes, then, from syntax and semantics.

Nouns are prototypically recognizable by being arguments of intransitive verbs, transitive verbs, auxiliaries and other nouns.

ma ?w it	para K A
ma ?w it	para 7k#-t
man	come.back-IND1
•The man ca	ume back.'

та ?р әу	ici	tếy
та Гр әу	ici	tép-t
woman	water	boil-IND1
'The woman b	oiled th	ne water.'

арәу	ŋa	?e1	topaba	miy	mãm
арәу	ıja	?e-1	to=pap-a	miy	mãm
grandmother	CL.FEM	AUX-IND1	3R=die-GER	long.ago	x
*Grandmother	died a long tir	ne ogo '			

'Grandmother died a long time ago.'

Most nouns can appear in possessive constructions, which can be either inalienable or alienable. Inalienably possessed nouns include mostly body parts, whereas alienably possessed free nouns include kin terms, handmade items, etc. Nouns denoting unpossessible entities never appear in possessive constructions. Unpossessible nouns are generally elements of nature, such as *cawap* 'sun', *wen* 'moon', *amãn*, 'rain', *map əy* 'rainbow', etc.

Inalienable possession is shown by the simple juxtaposition of a noun (phrase) or a possessive pronominal proclitic representing the possessor. Alienable possession is shown by a noun phrase followed by the possessive marker *at* or an independent possessive pronoun representing the possessor. (Genitive constructions will be fully discussed and described in Chapter 4, section 4.3.1.2.)

with possessive clitics	with full nouns
opía	na?wəy bia
o=pía	na łw <i>ə</i> y pía
l SG=liver	monkey liver
'my liver'	'monkey's liver
enaká	wayo naká
e=naká	wayo naká
2sg=head	alligator head
'your head'	'alligator head'
a Ikun	owê gun
a?=kun	owē kun
3sg=belly	baby belly
'his/its belly'	'baby belly'

INALIENABLE POSSESSED NOUNS:

ALIENABLE POSSESSED NOUNS:

with possess	ive pronouns	with full not	ins	
wat	ka?a	agóa Ip ə r	at	ka ?a
wat	ka?a	agóa Ip A	at	ka ?a
lsg.poss	house	shaman	POSS	house
'my house'		'shaman's house'		
et	tágip	Noep at	tágip	
et	tágip	Noep at	tág i p	
2sg.poss	bow	Noep POSS	bow	
'your bow'		'Noep's bow'		

Nouns and pronouns may be followed by the associative particle *tap*. (Associative constructions are described in section 3.1.7 below).

Kokõ rap Kokõ tap Hawk ASSOC 'the Hawk people'

ma ?pəyrapma ?pəytapwomanASSOC`women (a woman and other women)'

a?cot tap a?cot tap 3SG=seed ASSOC `its seeds'

tabattaptabattap3PL.POSSASSOC`theirs (things)'

into rap into tap lpl.incl ASSOC 'ours (things), us'

Nouns are also the only class of words which can be modified by an adjective. Adjectives are further described in section 3.1.5.

ma?w#	сú
ma Av it	сú
man	big
'big man'	

ma lpəy becép ma lpəy pecép woman ugly 'ugly woman'

kir iwep pát kir iwep pát butterfly **beautiful** 'beautiful butterfly'

3.1.3 VERBS

Verbs in Karo are also not morphologically rich, but the few affixes which occur, together with syntactic criteria, are enough to distinguish them from the other classes of words, including auxiliaries.

Verbs are typically sentence-final elements which take modal suffixes. The moods distinguished in Karo will be discussed in section 3.2.1 below. Verbs also take derivational voice prefixes, a fact which distinguishes them from auxiliaries. As we will see below, auxiliaries also take modal suffixes but cannot take voice prefixes.

Verbs are further subcategorized into transitive and intransitive. The distinction is morphological as well as semantic. Morphologically, whereas transitive verbs can appear with the impersonal passivizer *pe*-, intransitive verbs cannot. Intransitive verbs, on the other hand, can take the causatives *ma*- and *ta*-, whereas transitives cannot. Semantically, only one argument is necessary to fulfill the requirements of intransitive verbs, whereas transitive verbs require two arguments.

Even though it cannot be considered a criterion for distinguishing intransitive from transitive verbs, it is worth mentioning that a few intransitive verbs include specification of number as part of their meaning. If the argument is singular, one verb is used, whereas if it is plural, another verb is employed.

ken	oken	VS.	takéran
ket-t	o=ket-t		tap=kérat-t
sleep-IND1	1SG=sleep-IND1		3PL=sleep-IND1
`to sleep'	'I slept.'		'They slept.'
para?k ə	abara Ik a	<i>VS</i> .	karocíra 7k <i>ə</i> t
para?kə-t	a?=para?kə-ı		karo=círa7kə-t
come.back-IND1	3sG=come.back-n	NDI	2PL=come.back-IND1
'to come back'	'He came back.'		'You (PL) came back.'
pe?c <i>i</i> n:	ebe?cin	<i>vs</i> .	tekori
pe?c#-t	e=pe?c#-t		te=kori-t
run-IND1	2sg=run-IND1		lpl.excl=run-indl
`to run'	'You ran.'		'We ran.'
wét:	ŋ awét	<i>vs</i> .	taperi
wé-t	ŋa=wé-t		tap=peri-t
cry-IND1	3sg.fem=cry-ind1	l	3PL=cry-IND1
'to cry'	'She cried.'		'They cried.'

One last point worth discussing is the word class status of the copula $n\tilde{a}$ Even though $n\tilde{a}$ has a predicative meaning and takes the same set of modal suffixes as any other verb or auxiliary, it behaves differently from verbs by not accepting any derivational (voice) prefixes. It also differs from auxiliaries in sometimes taking one argument and other times two, whereas auxiliaries always take only one argument.

3.1.4 AUXILIARIES

The term 'auxiliary' has a specialized sense in Tupian linguistics: auxiliaries in Tupian languages do not necessarily co-occur with a lexical verb.

Auxiliaries in Karo are similar to intransitive verbs, in that both require a single argument and take the same set of modal suffixes. (One exception is the auxiliary *walye* which does not take any modal suffix.) They differ, nevertheless, in having no obvious lexical meaning, except in reported speech, where one of the auxiliaries, 2e, retained its original meaning 'to say/do'). Auxiliaries also differ from verbs in not taking derivational (voice) prefixes. If an auxiliary occurs in a clause-chaining construction with a lexical verb, it appears in the finite form, marked by the indicative suffix -t or -p; the lexical verb appears in the non-finite form, marked by the gerund suffix -a.

Three auxiliaries have been found in Karo: *?e*, *wa ?ye* and *kap*. Of these, only *?e* and *kap* are inflected for mood. *?e* and *wa ?ye* are used with affirmative meaning in indicative clauses. One of their functions is to introduce important referents into discourse. The examples below come from an account of the Pear Film.

тiy	mãm	pé ŋ	? ер	to ?wa
miy	mãm	pé ŋ	? е-р	to=?e-a
long.ago	х	white.man	AUX-IND2	3r=aux-ger
'Long ago there was a white man.'				

тәу	та Грәу	ŋa	wa Iye
тәу	тагрәу	ŋa	wa Iye
so	woman	CL.FEM	AUX
·So, t	here was a w	oman.'	

kanãy abagonnapwa îyekanãy a?=pagontapwa îyethen3PL=friendASSOCAUX`Then there were his friends.'

The future auxiliary *kap* is used in indicative clauses. If any other transitive or intransitive verb co-occurs with *kap* it appears in the gerund form. (The future auxiliary *kap* is fully discussed in chapter 4, section 4.4.2.1.)

aNvero	toba	okay
a?=wero	top-a	o=kap-t
3sG=speech	see-GER	1sg=aux.fut-ind1
[•] I will listen to	o him.'	

kõm	i ?kay	Kabirera	พโล	i K õna
kõm	i?=kap-t	Kabirera	wĩ-a	i?=kõna
how	1PL.INCL=AUX.FUT-IND1	Kabirera	kill-ger	lpl.incl=emph
'How	will we kill Kabirera?'			

tena?wara re?kay te?=na?wat-a te?=kap-t lPL.EXCL=leave-GER lPL.EXCL=AUX.FUT-IND1 'We will leave.'

nãn	mihmãm	ekab	eya Iwara
nãn	pihmãm	e=kap-ap	e=ya?wat-a
who	COMIT	2sg=aux.fut-ind2	2SG=leave-GER
•With	whom you w	ill leave?'	

kanãy	і ?кар	α λνĩα
kanãy	i?=kap-ap	a?=wĩ-a
then	1pl.incl=aux.fut-ind2	3pl=kill-ger
•Then	we will kill it.'	

3.1.5 ADJECTIVES

Adjectives in Karo constitute an open class whose prototypical occurrence is in a noun phrase after the head noun. (A complete description of NP constituents is provided in Chapter 4, section 4.3.1.) Adjectives differ from verbs in not taking modal suffixes or derivational voice prefixes. A few intransitive verbs, nevertheless, have been derived from adjectives with the modal suffixes -t, -p and -a.

kap	`fat'	kap + t	→	kay	'to be fat'
up	'red'	up + t	→	uy	'to be red'
yakõp	'hot'	yakõp + t	→	yakõy	'to be hot'
picorop	'hungry'	picotop + t	→	picori	'to be hungry'
pất	'beautiful'	pất + t	→	pấn	'to be beautiful'
picot	'naked'	picot + t	→	picon	'to be naked'
pewit	'sweet'	pewit + t	→	pewin	'to be sweet'
wấk	'sick'	wấk + t	→	wất	'to be sick'
pitẽk	`cold'	pitẽk + t	→	pitēgat	'to be cold'
ca?yõk	`sour'	ca?yõk + t	→	ca?yõgat	'to be sour'

Adjectives (but not nouns) can serve as the basis for adverbs derived with the adverbializer enclitic =tem. The enclitic =tem is discussed in section 3.3.2.)

ma?pəya?toyTittemma?pəya?=top-tTit=temwoman3sG=see-IND1little=ADVZ'The woman saw him/it briefly.'

ata?=piygahmõmnemata?=piy-tkahmõm=tem3SG3SG=wait.for-IND1quiet=ADVZ'He waited for him quietly.'

õn	wat	tap	ya Ni	năn	c úrem
õn	wat	tap	ya Ni	nā-n	cú=tem
lsg	1SG.POSS	ASSOC	like	COP-IND1	big=ADVZ
'I like mine (family, personal things) very much.'					

The adjectives of Karo also differ from nouns in not constituting nuclei of noun phrases, and in never being associated directly with determiners.

3.1.6 ADVERBS

Adverbs constitute a closed class of items which do not appear with any inflectional or derivational affixes, and do not serve as bases from which any other lexical items may be derived. They typically appear at the ends of clauses or in initial focus position. They generally indicate manner, place or time. Manner adverbials are the most abundant. They are derived from adjectives and, as such, form an open (sub)class of words.

cấrem	'bitterly'
cúrem	'very much'
maŋaptem	'delayedly, longly'
cahmərəptem	`wisely'
kấptem	'deliciously'
pấttem	'beautifully', 'nicely'
Tittem	'shortly'
carẽktem	`slowly'
cehmãktem	'weakly'
kahmõmnem	'calmly'
winnem	'crookedly'

Among the manner adverbs are numerals. (As we shall see in Chapter 4, section 4.3.4, numerals in Karo are constituents of Adverbial Phrases and not of Noun Phrases.)

kotīrem	'one'
cagáro komnem	'two'
pagon nóptem	'three'
pagon nopəttem	'four'
pagon bayrem	'five'
pa?piktem	'many'

Place adverbials constitute a closed subclass, and include the following:

mẽt	'here'
tət	'there (close to speaker)'
meŋik	'there'
mẽm nu	'very far away'

Finally, time adverbials also form a closed subclass, with items such as:

matet	'yesterday'
mĩn	'today'
cãk mãm	'tomorrow'
tēna	'now'
kanãy	'after'
m i y mãm	'long ago'

3.1.7 PARTICLES

Cross-linguistically, the class of particles is generally defined negatively, i.e., the class of words that are not part of any other word class. Karo does not seem to be an exception. Particles in Karo share important characteristics which also distinguish them from other words in a negative way. They do not, for instance, appear with any inflection or derivation. They are also not derived from any other word class. They do not take nouns as arguments, nor can they be modified by adjectives.

While it seems intuitively transparent that particles form a different category from nouns, verbs, adjectives, auxiliaries and adpositions, it is not obvious how particles differ from adverbs.

Particles form a separate class from adverbs in Karo for distributional as well as semantic reasons. Distributionally, adverbs form a coherent category and always occur either at the beginning or at the end of clauses (or sentences). Particles are not as coherent. They can be subcategorized into different subclasses (depending on their function, which is not always transparent), and have different distributions depending on their subclass. The subclass of classifiers, for example, occurs exclusively inside the noun phrase. The evidentials occur in most cases at the end of clauses (or sentences), but a few may occur also in the middle of the noun phrase.

Semantically, while it is always true that adverbs in Karo have transparent meanings (the usual meanings associated with manner, place and time which serve to modify a proposition), the exact meanings of particles are difficult to determine. Particles in Karo are used to perform a variety of functions. One set of particles is used in noun categorization, and forms the group of classifiers (see Chapter 5). Another set is used as evidentials (see Chapter 7). Particles are also

employed to mark negation (*i?ke*, *yahmām* and *taykit* described in Chapter 4, section 4.5), interrogation (*ahyə* described in Chapter 4, section 4.1.2), and association (*tap*).

The associative (ASSOC) particle *tap* occurs with common nouns, proper nouns and possessive pronouns. It has the function of categorizing a set of entities associated with a particular referent as belonging to a temporary group. It differs from the set of classifiers of Karo in that the semantic categorization of the associative does not depend on any intrinsic property of the entities. Nonetheless, *tap* shares a distributional feature with the classifiers: in the presence of an adjective, *tap* also occurs twice in the noun phrase, once after the noun to which it refers, and again after the adjective, in concord (cf. this and other features of classifiers in Chapter 5 below). This feature of the associative particle can be seen by comparing the examples below where, in the first example, the associative follows a noun which is not modified by an adjective.¹⁹.

ma?pəy **rah** mõm ikérat ma?pəy **tap** mõm i=kérat woman **ASSOC** only 3IMP=sleep 'Only the women slept.'

¹⁹ The phonological alternations that occur with the consonants /t/ and /p/ of the particle *tap* follow the same changes presented in Chapter 2, section 2.4, for /t/'s and /p/'s in the same positions.

та Грэу	rap	pất	tah	mõm	ikérat
та Грэу	tap	pất	tap	mõm	i=kérat
woman	ASSO	c beautiful	ASSO	C only	3IMP=sleep
'Only the beautiful women slept.'					

The associative particle also differs from the plural marker =to?semantically. While the associative is employed to refer to the multiplicity of **different** entities somehow related to the noun with which it occurs, the plural is used to refer to the multiplicity of the **same** entity. In other words, the associative particle is used to group together (or associate), for some reason, referents necessarily distinct from each other, whereas the plural marker is used to refer to a group of the same referent.

This distinction can be better illustrated by comparing the pair of examples below, where the use of the associative refers necessarily to the heterogeneity of somebody's belongings, either animate, such as his/her relatives, or inanimate, such as personal items (e.g. a hammock, pots, pans, bows, arrows, etc.). The use of the plural marker, on the other hand, refers to the uniqueness of somebody's group of the same thing (in the case in question, houses).

wat	tap	cf.	wat	ka ?a	?a?to?
wat	tap		wat	ka ?a	?a?=to?
lsg.poss	ASSOC		1sg.poss	house	CL.RD=PL
'My relatives,	stuff/things.'		'My houses.'		

3.1.8 POSTPOSITIONS

Postpositions in Karo differ from verbs by not taking inflectional (modal) suffixes, or derivational (voice) prefixes. They differ from adverbs and particles by taking an argument as their complement. They differ from nouns by not appearing with any of the noun modifiers (adjectives, classifiers, the plural clitic, the associative particle, etc.) and not serving as arguments of predicates. They differ from adjectives by not taking the adverbializer =*tem*, and by not occurring inside noun phrases: a postposition forms a phrase on its own, which canonically occurs after (or, when focused, before) the clause.

Twelve different postpositions were found in Karo. Eleven of them have identical distribution and are used to add an oblique (i.e. non-required) argument to a clause. (See Chapter 4, section 4.3.3 on Postpositional Phrases for more details and full exemplification of oblique case markers in Karo.)

Post	POSITION	MEANING	TRANSLATION
1.	kəy	DATIVE	'at'
2.	mā	INSTRUMENTAL	'with'
3.	?erem	DISPERSIVE	'through'
4.	pe?	LOCATIVE	'in/on'
5.	kõm	SIMILATIVE	'like'
6.	pihmãm	COMITATIVE	'with'
7.	?ay	ABLATIVE	'from'
8.	pik	ALLATIVE	'to'
9.	pət	INESSIVE	'inside'
10.	pikop	ABESSIVE	'close to, outside'
11.	pem	ADESSIVE	'close to, at (a place)'

The twelfth postposition, $k \delta n a$, is used for emphatic purposes. $k \delta n a$ has the same distributional properties as other postpositions: it cannot receive any verbal inflection or derivation; it takes one argument as their complement; it does not occur with any noun modifier; it does not serve as argument of predicates; and, finally, it does not take the adverbializer =tem). It differs from the other eleven, however, in taking only core arguments as complements, and in having the possibility to occur also *before* the verb phrase.

Any core argument can be emphasized: the single argument of an intransitive verb or predicate adjective, or either argument of a transitive verb. A full description of the occurrences of *kõna* is provided in Chapter 4, section 4.3.3 on Postpositional Phrases.

EMPHASIS ON THE ARGUMENTS OF A TRANSITIVE VERB: ERGATIVE ARGUMENTS

owagon	oyakay	tokõna		
o=pagon	o=yakap-t	to=kõna		
1sg =friend	1sg=push-ind1	3r=emph		
'My friend pushed me.'				

õnip?iyokõnaõnip?ip-to=kõna1SGfishcatch-IND11SG=EMPH'I caught the fish'

EMPHASIS ON THE ARGUMENTS OF A TRANSITIVE VERB: ABSOLUTIVE ARGUMENTS

та Гр әу	bất	tokõna	at	ip iy
та ?р әу	pất	to=kõna	at	i=p iy-t
woman	beautiful	3r=emph	3sg	3IMP=wait.for-IND1
'It was a beautiful woman whom he waited for.'				

móa	rokõna	ēn	ibe It in	ahyə
móa	to=kōna	ēn	i=pe It it-t	ahyə
tortoise	3r=emph	2sG	3IMP=roast-IND1	INTERR
'Was it a/the tortoise that you fried?'				

EMPHASIS ON THE (ABSOLUTIVE) ARGUMENT OF INTRANSITIVE VERBS

ma ?w it	pekey	tokõna		
ma ?w #	pekep-t to=kö	na		
man	be.handicap	3r=emph		
'The man is handicapped.'				

a Avét tokōna a ?=wé-t to=kōna 3SG=cry-IND1 3R=EMPH 'He cried.'

EMPHASIS ON THE ARGUMENT OF A PREDICATE ADJECTIVE CONSTRUCTION

taraptem	õn	okõna
tarap=tem	õn	o=kõna
spotted=ADV2	z 1sg	1sg=emph
I am spotted	•	

cúrem	at	tokõna
cú=tem	at	to=kõna
big=advz	3sg	3r=emph
'He is big.'		

caropaptem ga?to garo=kõna caropap=tem ka?to karo=kōna sad=ADVZ 2PL 2PL=EMPH 'You (PL.) are sad.'

3.2 AFFIXES

Only a few inflectional and derivational affixes occur in Karo. In the two following subsections I provide a complete description of these affixes, their functions, and a full characterization of the processes of internal sandhi triggered by their occurrence.

3.2.1 INFLECTIONAL AFFIXES

Inflectional affixation in Karo is limited to predicates (verbs, auxiliaries and copulas). Only three **suffixes** occur, -t, -p and -a. The first two suffixes represent the mood categories of indicative (indicative I and indicative II), and the last suffix represent the mood category of gerund.

3.2.1.1 IND11CATIVE -T 20

The indicative (IND1) suffix -t is used in statements. It occurs exclusively in main clauses when the order of the elements is SOV (the typical word order in Karo), and is the most used modal suffix. It has two allomorphs, /-t/ and /n/. The allomorph /-n/ occurs after verb roots ending in nasal vowels and /-t/ occurs in all other environments.

õn	mãygãra	wĨ n	t <i>ə</i> gana	pe?	cf.
õn	mãygãra	w ĩ-n	t ə gana	pe?	
lsG	snake	kill-IND1	there	LOC	
'I killed the snake there.'					
at	towi rup	?o t	cúrem		cf.
at	to=wirup	?o -t	cú=tem		
3sg	3R=food	eat-IND1	big=advz		

'He ate his own food a lot.'

²⁰ It should be emphasized that the term 'indicative' is employed here in the absence of a better label, and should not be interpreted in opposition to 'imperative' and/or 'interrogative', as is commonly found in other languages around the world.

oya Iwa**n** át mãm cf. o=ya?wat-t át mãm 1SG=leave-IND1 Х day 'I left during the day.' małwi ka?a toy cf. õn at ka?a top-t õn ma ?wit at POSS house see-IND1 1SG man 'I saw the man's house.'

The allomorph /-t/ of the indicative suffix -t may also trigger internal phonological alternations in the roots with which it occurs when these root end in /p/, /t/, /k/, nasal stop (N) or /y/. The changes are the following:

1. $/p/ + /-t/ \rightarrow /y/$, with two phonetic realizations, [y] in roots with final stress, and [i] in roots with penultimate stress

- $top + t \rightarrow toy$ 'to see'
- yakõp + t → yakõy 'be.hot'
- $pap + t \rightarrow pay$ 'to die'
- $cérop + t \rightarrow céri$ 'to be cured'
- picorop + t \rightarrow picori 'to be hungry'
- cahmərəp + t \rightarrow cahməri 'to be dizzy/drunk'

- 2. $t/ + -t/ \rightarrow /n/$, with two phonetic realizations, [n] after a nasal vowel, and [^dn] after an oral vowel
- ya?wat + t \rightarrow ya?wan 'to come back' ket + t \rightarrow ken 'to sleep' ot + t \rightarrow on 'to be born' pất + t \rightarrow pấn 'to be beautiful'

3. $/k/ + /-t/ \rightarrow /gat/$

nok + t	\rightarrow nogat	'to eat (intr.)'
pepak + t	→ pepagat	'to wake up'
pitẽk + t	→ pitẽgat	'to be cold'

4. N + /-t/ \rightarrow /n/

- $p\tilde{e}m + t \rightarrow p\tilde{e}n$ 'to step'
- $pein + t \rightarrow pein$ 'to be torn/ripped'
- $p\tilde{a}\eta + t \rightarrow p\tilde{a}n$ 'to give away'

5.
$$/y/ + /-t/ \rightarrow /y/$$

wiy+t	→ wiy	'to go out'
p i y + t	→ p i y	'to wait'

3.2.1.2 INDICATIVE -P

The indicative suffix -p (IND2) is also used in statements. It occurs in main clauses when the order of one of its elements, either a noun phrase, a postpositional phrase or an adverbial phrase appears in focus position, at the begining of the clause. (Focus constructions are discussed in detail in Chapter 4, section 4.1.1.2.)

-p has three allomorphs, /-p/, /-ap/ and /-m/. The allomorph /-p/ occurs in verb or auxiliary roots ending in vowels; the allomorph /-ap/ occurs in verbs or auxiliaries which end in consonants; and the allomorph /m/ occurs in verb roots ending in nasal vowels (there are no auxiliaries in Karo which end in nasal vowels).

cúrem	at	towirup	?о р
cú=tem	at	to=wirup	?о -р
big=ADVZ	3sg	3R=food	eat-IND2
A lot, he at	e his ow	n food.'	

át mãm oya ?warap
át mãm o=ya ?wat-ap
day X 1sG=leave-IND2
During the day I left.'

ma?w#atka?aõnitopma?w#atka?aõni=top-apmanPOSShouse1SG3IMP=see-IND2`It was the white man's house what I saw.'

təgana pe?õnmãygãrawĩmtəgana pe?õnmãygãrawĩ-mthere LOC1SGsnakekill-IND2`It was there that I killed the snake.'

The allomorphs /-p/ and /-m/ are not involved in any type of phonological alternation. They simply occur after verb (or auxiliary) roots ending, respectively, with an oral or a nasal vowel.

kə + p	kəp	'to walk'
?o + p	?op	'to eat'
capé + p	capép	'to beat'
pẽ + m	pēm	'to step'
wĩ + m	wĩm	'to kill'

The allomorph /-ap/ is involved in the following changes:

 A final /t/ or /k/ of verb roots changes to /r/ or /g/, respectively, before /-ap/. (This is a regular voicing alternation that occurs at the word boundary level, involving voiceless consonants.)

pe?cit + ap	pe?cirap	'to run'
ya?wat + ap	ya?warap	'to leave'
picot + ap	picorap	'to be naked'
nok + ap	nogap	'to eat'
pepak + ap	pepagap	'to wake up'
pitẽk + ap	pitẽgap	'to be hot'

2. A final /p/ of verb or auxiliary roots causes the /a/ of /-ap/ to drop and is fused with the remaining /p/;

pap + ap	pap	'to die'
yakop + ap	yakop	'to sweat'
pep + ap	pep	'to be tidy'

3.2.1.3 GERUNDS

The gerund (GER) suffix -a is often used in clause combining to mark a non-finite clause with the same subject as the finite clause (Chapter 4). The presence of -a causes the voiceless stops /p/, /t/ and /k/ of the verbs to be voiced, changing them to their corresponding counterparts, /b/, /r/ and /g/.

top + a	→ toba	'see'
pap + a	→ paba	'die'
yakop + a	→ yakoba	'sweat'
ket + a	→ kera	'sleep'
ya?wat + a	→ ya?wara	'leave'
cát + a	→ cára	'wash'
wấk + a	→ wấga	'be sick'
pitẽk + a	→ pitēga	'be hot'
citók + a	→ citóga	'urinate'

-a is also employed in imperatives and in nominalized forms of verbs:

e=ker-a e=ket-a 2sG=sleep-GER `Sleep!'

a?=tob-**a** a?=top-**a** 3SG=see-GER 'Watch it!'

e=bepag-a e=pepak-a 2sG=wake.up-GER `Wake up!`

o=ker-a kanā o=ket-a kanā l SG=sleep-GER NOMZ 'My place to sleep.'

3.2.2 DERIVATIONAL AFFIXES

Six derivational **prefixes** occur with verbs. Five of these prefixes have a clear valence changing function and can, for this reason, be regarded as the **voice system** of Karo. The prefixes are: *ma*- simple causative (CAUS); *ta*- comitative causative (COM); *pe*- impersonal passive (IPASS); *to*- reciprocal (REC); and *mãm*-reflexive (REFL). The sixth prefix, *pe*?-has the meaning of optative (OPT) and it could be considered part of the voice system only in purely positional grounds.

These prefixes occur immediately preceding the verb root. They are described and exemplified in the following subsections.

3.2.2.1 THE SIMPLE CAUSATIVE

Simple causative constructions occur with almost any intransitive verb but rarely with transitive ones. In causative constructions, a semantic initiator causes a secondary agent to perform or experience some action or state.

õn amaken

õn a?=ma-ket-t

1SG 3SG=CAUS-sleep-IND1

'I made it/him sleep.'

et owã emakæ et owã e=ma-kæt 2SG mother 2SG=CAUS-walk-IND1 'Your mother made you walk.'

nja omacopin

na o=ma-copit-t

3SG.FEM 1SG=CAUS-be.fat-IND1

'She made me be fat.'

The causative prefix *ma*- does not undergo any change itself, but may cause the same alternations conditioned by the pronominal clitics: *ma*- causes the /p/ or $/k/^{21}$ of a following intransitive verb to change to its voiced counterpart /b/ or /g/, in an unstressed syllable.

 $^{^{21}}$ I did not find examples of polysyllabic intransitive verbs beginning with /t/ in an unstressed syllable.

at amabara **%**#

at a?=ma-para?k3-t

3SG 3SG=CAUS-come.back-IND1

'He made it/him come back.'

õnemaberopitŋakəyõne=ma-peropi-tŋa=kəy1SG2SG=CAUS-pinch-IND13SG.FEM=DAT'I made you pinch her.'

agóa?p ə	amagahmõm	nãn
agóa?p ə	a?=ma-kahmõm	nã-n
shaman	3sg=caus-be.quiet	COP-IND1
The shaman	made him/it calm dov	vn.'

Otherwise there is no change.

onamapəriona?=ma-pərəp-t1SG3SG=CAUS-empty-IND1'I emptied it.'atamatiata?=ma-ti-t

3SG 3SG=CAUS-come.IND1

'He made him/it come.'
õn amaken
õn a?=ma-ket-t
1SG 3SG=CAUS-sleep-IND1
I put him/it to sleep.`

3.2.2.2 THE COMITATIVE CAUSATIVE

Comitative causative constructions are marked by means of the prefix *ta*-. They occur primarily with intransitive verbs but have been found on occasions with transitives. They differ from simple causative constructions in that the semantic initiator, in addition to causing the secondary agent to perform or experience an action or state, also **performs** or **experiences** the action or state he/she/it initiates.

watowãorak#watowão=ta-k#ISG.POSSmotherISG=COM-walk-IND1'My mother made me walk, walking with me.'

õn	wat	awe	rabitẽy		
õn	wat	awe	ta-bitẽp-t		
l sg	lsg.poss	brother	COM-cross-IND l		
'I made my brother cross, crossing with him.'					

ŋa	toat	owẽ	tanogat		
ŋa	toat	owē	ta-noga-t		
3sg.fem	3r.poss	baby	COM-eat-IND1		
'She fed her baby, eating with it.'					

ta- may both undergo and/or trigger phonological changes. The initial t/t of the prefix *ta*- changes to /r/ after vowels (either oral or nasal) or glides. t/t changes to /n/ after nasal consonants.

After vowels:

õn	wat	owế	ra ken		
õn	wat	owế	ta-ket-t		
lsg	lsg.poss	baby	COM-sleep-IND1		
'I put my baby to sleep, sleeping with it.'					

õn	a?= ra ti		
õn	a?= ta- ti -t		
1 SG	3sg=com-come.IND1		
'I brought him/it.'			

After glides:

<i></i> en	yaw	rati		
<i>ẽn</i>	yaw	ta-ti-IND l		
2sg	ray	COM-come-IND1		
'You brought the ray.'				

at	miririy	ramoy		
at	miririy	ta-mop-t		
3sg	toad	COM-dive-IND1		
'He dove with the toad.'				

After nasal consonants:

'The shaman	warmed your fa	ather (w	varming himself).
shaman	2SG.POSS	father	COM-be.hot-IND l
agóa îp A	et	iyõ m	ta-kõp-t
agóa Ip A	et	iyõm	nakõy

- *cãn nakəga cãn takək-a* cat COM-walk-GER 'Walk the cat!'
- ?Trin nakəga
 ?Trin ta-kək-a
 girl COM-walk-GER
 `Walk the (little) girl!'

ta- can also trigger changes on a following intransitive verb if the first syllable of the verb is unstressed. In these cases, the changes also involve the phonemes /p/ and $/k/^{22}$, which become voiced.

wataweorabiteywataweo=ta-pitep-t1SG.POSSbrother1SG=COM-cross-IND1'My brother crossed with me.'

ђа	toat	owē	ragahmõm	nãn
ђа	toat	owẽ	ta-kahmõm	nã-n
3sg.fem	3r.poss	child	сом-be.quiet	COP-IND1
•She calmed h	er child and ca	lmed d	own herself.'	

3.2.2.3 THE IMPERSONAL PASSIVE

The impersonal passive *pe*- occurs with transitive verbs, adding passive meaning. No agent is grammatically possible.

The initial voiceless phoneme /p/ of the prefix *pe*- changes to its voiced counterpart /b/ if the preceding element (a clitic or a noun) ends in a glide or an unrounded vowel.

 $^{^{22}}$ I did not find examples of polysyllabic intransitive verbs beginning with /t/ in an unstressed syllable.

After glides and unround vowels:

oyāy bemeŋān o=yāy pe-meŋā-n lsG=tooth IPASS-be.dirty-IND1 'My tooth got dirty.'

taykit yaw be bewĩa taykit yaw pe? pe-wĩ-a NEG ray CL.FLAT IPASS-kill-GER 'Isn't the ray going to get killed?'

taykit a ?i bekiga

taykit a?i pe-kik-a

NEG sloth IPASS-catch-GER

'Did the sloth get caught?'

If the preceding element ends with a round vowel /p/ changes to /w/.

boi	7et	towa Ipara	to we wĩ-a
boi	?e-1	to=pa?pat-a	to= we -wī-a
ox	AUX-IND1	3r=fall-ger	3r=ipass-kill-ger
-	<i>c</i>		

The ox fell and got killed.

Finally, if the preceding element ends with a nasal consonant, /p/ changes to /m/.

cīm mema Avaba *cīm pe-ma* Avap-a meat IPASS-fry-GER 'The meat got fried.'

The alternations triggered by *pe*- are the same as those triggered by both causatives *ma*- and *ta*-. If the following element begins with /p/ or $/k/^{23}$ in an unstressed syllable, then /p/ and /k/ change to their voiced counterparts, /b/ and /g/, respectively.

abebe It ir a

a?=pe-pe?t#-a 3SG=IPASS-roast-GER 'It got roasted.'

abegahmõmnãa?=pe-kahmõmnã-a3SG=IPASS-be.quietCOP-GER`It got quiet/calmed down.'

 $^{^{23}}$ l did not find examples of polysyllabic intransitive verbs beginning with /t/ in an unstressed syllable.

3.2.2.4 THE REFLEXIVE

Reflexivity in Karo is marked by the reflexive prefix *mãm* and is used with transitive as well as with intransitive verbs. In reflexive constructions with transitive verbs, *mãm* is preceded by a personal clitic which is also coreferential with the subject of the clause.

õn omāmnoy
õn o=mām-top-t
1SG 1SG=REFL-see-IND1
'I saw myself.'

at tomāmwīn

at to=mãm-wĨ-n

3sg 3r=refl-kill-ind1

'He/it killed him/itself.'

In reflexive constructions with intransitive verbs, reflexivity occurs between its only argument, the subject of the clause, and another argument in the oblique (generally the dative case marking) form. The reflexive prefix is then attached to the dative marker, preceded by the personal clitic coreferential to the subject.

owakán omaīmkəy o=waká-n o=maīm-kəy ISG=be.angry-INDI ISG=REFL-DAT 'I am angry at myself.'

a?wero wiy tomāmkəy a?=wero wi-y to=mām-kəy 3SG=speech go.out-IND1 3R=REFL-DAT 'He spoke to himself.'

3.2.2.5 THE RECIPROCAL

Reciprocity is marked by attaching the reciprocal prefix *ro*- to the root of transitive verbs. In reciprocal constructions, *ro*- is always preceded by a personal clitic coreferential with the person of the subject of the clause.

taptoroyapíttapto=ro-yapí-t3PL3R=REC-kill-IND1'They killed each other.'

ka Ito	karorocapét	ahy ə	
ka Ito	karo=ro-capé-t	ahyə	
2pl	2PL=REC-beat-IND1	INTERR	
Did you beat each other?'			

3.2.2.6 THE OPTATIVE

Optative constructions are marked by the prefix *pe*?- which may be attached to intransitive and transitive verbs as well as to auxiliaries. The semantic function of an optative construction is that of signaling 'a speech act by which the speaker grants permission to a 2^{nd} or 3^{rd} person, as in "let him come in" (...)' (Bybee 1985:166). In this sense, optatives imply the involvement of a semantic agent, even though they do not change the formal argument structure of the verb.

pe?- both undergoes and triggers phonological changes. The initial /p/ of *pe*? changes to /w/ after a round vowel, to /b/ after an unround vowel or glide, and to /m/ after a nasal consonant.

After vowels:

owe?gen o=pe?-ket-t lsG=OPT-sleep-INDl `Let me sleep.'

abe?ŋət a?=be?-kə-t 3SG=OPT-walk-IND1

'Let him/it walk.'

After glides:

na ?wəy	be?ŋət
na ?wəy	ре?-ŋә-ı
monkey	OPT- walk-IND1
Let the mo	onkey walk (free)!'

inãw be?nogat *inãw* pe?-noga-t curassow OPT-eat-IND1 `Let the curassow eat!'

After nasal consonants:

kấram me înẽy kấram pe îtẽp-t hummingbird OPT-fly-IND1 `Let the hummingbird fly!'

cãn me?ŋen cãn pe?-ket-t cat OPT-sleep-IND1 'Let the cat sleep!'

tīŋ me ?ŋət tīŋ pe ?-kə-t worm OPT-walk-IND1 'Let the worm go (free)!'

The changes triggered by *pe*?- consist of the nasalization of the first consonant of the following transitive or intransitive verb in stressed syllables. The consonants involved are, again, /p/, /t/ and /k/, which change to their homorganic nasal consonants /m/, /n/ and /n/, respectively.

 $/p/ \rightarrow /m/$

'Let me step on it/him.'		'I stej	oped on it/him.'	
lsG	3SG=OPT-step-IND1		lsg	3SG=step-IND1
õn	a?=pe?-pē-t		õn	a?=pē-t
õn	abe îmên	cf.	õn	a Ipên

 $/t/ \rightarrow /n/$

õn	abe ? no y	cf.	õn	artoy
õn	a?=pe?- top-t		õn	a?=top-t
lsG	3SG=OPT-see-IND1		lsG	3sg=see-ind1
`Let m	ne see it/him.'		'I sav	v it/him.'

 $/k/ \rightarrow /\eta/$

оwe ? ŋə t	cf.	ok ə t
o=pe?-k ə-ı		o=kə-t
lsg=opt-walk-ind1		lsg=walk-indl
'Let me walk.'		'I walked.'

If the element following the optative prefix pe?- begins with a vowel (or a glottal stop + a vowel), an epenthetic /n/ appears between pe?- and the vowel.

õn	ip	pe In iy	cf.	õn	ip	?iy
õn	ip	pe ?-n ɨy-t		õn	ip	?ēy−t
lsg	fish	OPT-catch-IND1		lsg	fish	catch-IND1
'Let r	ne catc	h a/the fish.'		'I cau	ight a/tl	ne fish.'
abe In	an		cf.	a ?an		

a ?=pe ?- ?at-t	a ?= ?at-t
3sg=opt-fall-ind1	3sg=fall-ind1
'Let it/him fall.'	'It/he fell.'

3.3 CLITICS

Clitics in Karo are distinguished from affixes by their distribution. While affixes occur exclusively with a given class of word (like the causative prefix *ma*-, which occurs specifically with the class of intransitive verbs), clitics occur with larger constituents than words (like the personal clitics which occur in noun phrases, verb phrases, postpositional phrases, etc.).

Karo contains the following clitics: 1) a plural marker =to?, 2) an adverbializer =tem, 3) a set of personal markers, and 4) a nominalizer ko=. In the remainder of this section I will describe and exemplify their occurrences, except for the nominalizer ko=, which will be discussed in section 3.4 on nominalization.

3.3.1 THE PLURAL =to?

Prototypically, the plural enclitic =to? occurs at the end of noun phrases, with scope over the whole construction [(pro)nominal argument plus its modifiers].

ka ?a**ro** ?

ka?a=to?

house=PL 'houses'

vs.

ka?a ?a?to? ka?a ?a?=to? house CL.RD=PL `houses'

vs.

watka?a?apik=to?watka?a?a?pik=to?ISG.POSShouseCLRrest.of=PL`the rest of my houses'

The initial t/ of =to? alternates with r/ when the preceding element ends with a vowel or glide or to n/ if it ends with a nasal consonant.

inakáro?

i=naká=to? 3IMP=head=PL

'heads'

inãwro?

inãw=to?

curassow=PL

'curassows'

wat na?wəyro? wat na?wəy=to? ISG.POSS monkey=PL `my monkeys'

kā́ramno? kā́ram=to? hummingbird=PL `hummingbirds`

cibekonno? cibekon=to? vulture=PL `vultures'

tuŋno? tuŋ=to? mortar=PL 'mortars'

=to? also occurs in a few lexicalized constructions, where the plurality of the referent(s) is somehow intrinsic²⁴. In the examples below, =to? is part of the lexicalized word, and does not occur at the end of the noun phrase, its prototypical place of occurrence.

pi	VS.	pi ro	VS.	pi ro	сú	(cf. * ka?a= ro cú)
pi		pi=to?		pi= to ?	си	
foot		foot= PL		foot=PL	big	
'foot'		'feet'		'big feet	,7	

²⁴ Usually, the lexicalized items refer to body parts such as 'nostrils', 'feet', 'arms', 'ears', 'legs', 'hands', etc.

3.3.2 THE ADVERBIALIZER =tem

The enclitic =tem occurs in three different types of constructions. The most frequent occurrences of =tem are with adjectives. These are also the constructions where a clear function of adverbialization occurs. In these constructions, an adverb is derived from an adjective plus =tem. Adverbs derived from adjectives occur in indicative sentences, either initially or finally. Like other adverbs, they occur sentence-initially when an auxiliary is present, and sentence-finally in sentences with indicative verbs:

сú гет	
cú=tem	
big=ADVZ	
	cf.
	cú rem cú =tem big =ADVZ

сú rem	wep	okera
cú=tem	o=?e-p	o=ket-a
beautiful=ADVZ	1sg=aux-ind2	lSG=sleep-GER
'I slept a lot.'		

ŋa	o Hoy	maŋap tem		
ŋa	o=top-t	maŋap=tem		
SG.FEM	lSG=see-IND1	long=ADVZ		
She watched me for a long time' cf.				

maŋap tem	ŋ aap	otoba	
maŋap=tem	1 9a=?e-p	o=top-a	
delayed=ADVZ	3sg.fem=aux-ind2	lsG=see-GER	
'For a long time she watched me.'			

ahyə

The second type of construction where =tem occurs seems to be a variant of the derived construction described above, only with a different function. In this construction, an adjective plus =tem occurs clause-initially followed by a (pro)noun or noun phrase. These constructions function as predicate adjectives. No mood marker occurs, and no further adjunct, except for another derived adverb, is possible.

cára rem	õn	
cára =tem	õn	
long=ADVZ	lsg	
'I am tall.'		
käntem		at
h žemt en		ui
long=ADVZ 'I am tall.' kấptem	lsg	a

kấp =tem	at	ahyə
delicious=ADVZ	3sg	INTERR
'Is it delicious ?'		

pất tem	та Гр <i>ә</i> у
pất =tem	та грәу
beautiful=ADVZ	woman

'The woman is beautiful.'

pất tem	сú rem	wat	owế	tap	
pất= tem	cú=tem	wat	owế	tap	
beautiful=ADVZ	big =ADVZ	lsg	child	ASSOC	
'My children are big and beautiful.'					

In the last type of constructions involving =tem, =tem is attached to the end of a transitive or intransitive verb, after the indicative mood marker /-t/. Although it is clear that the final construction with =tem has an adverbial distribution, its exact meaning is not yet fully understood. My consultants suggest that the use of =tem in these constructions adds a meaning of 'seeminglyness'. In the examples from spontaneous speech, these constructions with =tem are always followed by the auxiliary 2e in the finite form.

When =*tem* is attached to a transitive verb, the subject of this verb is omitted, and the object can be in any person/number.

otoyremato=to-y=tema?-?e-t1SG=see-IND1=ADVZ3SG.AUX-IND1'He/it is pretending to be watching me.'

When =tem is attached to an intransitive verb, the subject of this verb is always marked by a personal clitic coreferential with the subject of the auxiliary.

okennemweto=ke-n=temo=?e-tISG=sleep-IND1=ADVZISG=AUX-IND1'I am pretending to be sleeping.'

The initial /t/ of =tem, may change to its voiced or nasal counterparts, /r/ and /n/, depending on context.

/t/ changes to /r/ after vowels or glides:

/cú/ + /=tem/	/cúrem/	[ˈcúɾɛ ^b m]	'big'
big + ADVZ			
/cấ/ + /=tem/ bitter + ADVZ	/cấrem/	[ˈcə̃ɾɛ ^b m]	'bitter'
/pɨy/ + /=tem/ lazy + ADVZ	/pɨyrem/	['pɨyɾɛ ^b m]	'lazy'
/tấw/ + /=tem/ far + ADVZ	/tấwrem/	['tə̃w̃rɛ ^b m]	'far'

/t/ changes to /n/ after nasal consonants.

/pemēm/ + /=tem/	/pemēmnem/	[pe'mēmn ^d ɛ ^b m]	'straight'
straight + ADVZ			
/cagáro kõm/ + /=tem/	/cagáro kõmnem/	[ca'gáro 'kõmn ^d e ^b n	ı] 'two'

two + ADVZ

101

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

/kĩn/ + /=tem/	/kĩnnem/	['kĩnn ^d ɛʰm]	'hard'
hard + ADVZ			
/win/ + /=tem/ curved + ADVZ	/winnem/	['wi ^d nn ^d ɛ ^b m]	'curved'
/cawərəŋ/ + /=tem/ deep + ADVZ	/cawərəŋnem/	[ca'wərəŋn ^d ɛ ^b m]	`deep'
/puruŋ/ + /=tem/ deep + ADVZ	/puruŋnem/	['puruŋn ^d ɛ ^b m]	'deep (eye)'

After voiceless stops it remains unaltered.

/kap/ + /=tem/	/kaptem/	['kaptɛ ^b m]	'fat'
fat + ADVZ			
/pất/ + /=tem/ beautiful + ADVZ	/pấttem/	['pất:ɛʰm]	`beautiful'
/wãk/ + /=tem/ sick + ADVZ	/wāktem/	['w̃ākte ^b m]	'sick'

102

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

3.3.3 PERSONAL CLITICS

A class of personal clitics occur with nouns, verbs, adjectives, auxiliaries, postpositions and a copula. The clitics which occur with verbs and auxiliaries represent the absolutive case, used to mark the single argument of intransitive verbs or auxiliaries, and the patients of transitive verbs. They are in opposition to the class of free pronouns, which represent the ergative case, and are used exclusively to mark agent arguments of transitive verbs. Two sets of personal clitics occur in Karo: those in the first set are used to make reference to an entity in the world, while those in the second set establish coreference with a grammatical subject.

A personal clitic is always the first element in the phrase (noun phrase, verb phrase or postpositional phrase). It is in complementary distribution with lexical nominals in the same function. The two sets of personal clitics of Karo are distinguished only in the third person. The set of referential pronominal clitics presents three types of distinction in third person: 1) a distinction between third person and third person feminine in the singular; 2) a distinction between third person singular and plural; and 3) the presence of a third person impersonal. In the set of coreferential pronominal clitics all these distinctions are lost, and only one form for the third person occurs.

Person /	1	2	3	3 feminine
Number				
SG	0=	e=	a?=	ŋa=
(INCL)	i?=			
PL		karo=	ta	ap=
(EXCL)	té=			
IND1EF		i=	<u> </u>	

Table 7. Karo referential clitics

Person/	1	2	3	
Number				
SG	0=	e=		
(INCL)	i?=		to=	
PL		karo=		
(EXCL)	té=			

Table 8. Karo coreferential clitics

The phonological changes caused by the personal clitics involve the phonemes /p/, /t/ and /k/ of the first syllable of the word to which they are attached. This first syllable must be unstressed, otherwise no changes occur.

1) /p/ changes to /w/ following round vowels and to /b/ following non-round vowels.

/o= + penaoy/	/owenaoy/	[owena'oy]	'I danced.'	
/e= + penaoy/	/ebenaoy/	[ɛbɛna'ɔy]	'You danced.'	cf.

/o= + pấn/	/opấn/	[oˈpːɔ̃n]	'I am well.'
/e= + pấn/	/epấn/	[e'p:ấn]	'You are well.'

2) /t/ and /k/ change to r/ and g/, respectively, after any type of vowel.

/o= + tati/	/orati/	[ora't:i]	'brought me'	
/e= + tati/	/erati/	[ɛraˈtːi]	'brought you'	cf.
/o = + toy/	/otoy/	[oˈt:ɔy]	'saw me'	
e = + toy/	/etoy/	[eˈtːɔy]	'saw you'	
/o= + kuru?cu/	/oguru?cu/	[oguru?'cu]	'my saliva'	
/ŋa= + kuru?cu/	/ŋaguru?cu/	[ŋaguru?'cu]	'her saliva'	cf.
/o=kun/	/okun/	[oʻk:u ^d n]	'my belly'	
/ŋa=kun/	/ŋakun/	[ŋaˈk:u ^d n]	'her belly'	

Examples of the occurrence of personal clitics in Karo with verbs, adjectives, auxiliaries, postpositions and copula can be seen below.

WITH TRANSITIVE VERBS:

ameko otoy ameko o=top-t jaguar 1SG=see-IND1 'The jaguar saw me.'

at	ecapét	ahyə
at	e=capé-t	ahyə
3sg	2sg=beat-IND1	INTERR
'Did	he beat you?'	

õn artoy õn artop-t 1SG **3SG=see**-IND1 'I saw it/him.'

WITH INTRANSITIVE VERBS:

oya7koy o=ya7kop-t 1sG=sweat-IND1

'I sweat.'

еуа ћ

e=ya ħ-t

2sG=climb.down-IND1

'You climbed down.'

a?ken

a?=ket-t

3sG=sleep-IND1

'He slept.'

WITH ADJECTIVES:

õn	а Грар	toy			
õn	a ?=pap	top-t			
lsG	3sG=dead	see-IND1			
'I saw him/it dead/hurt.'					

'The man brought the green one.'					
man	3sG=green	bring-IND1			
ma Av it	a ?=k ir ik	Pat-t			
maAvit	a?kirik	?an			

WITH AUXILIARIES:

tocitóga	a Ik ay
to=citók-a	a ?=kap-t
3R=urinate-GER	3sg=aux.fut-ind1
'He will go urinate.'	

kanãy	wep ²⁵	okera
kanãy	o= ?e=p	o=ket-a
then	1sg=aux-ind	l 1SG= sleep-GER
'Then	I slept.	

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

WITH POSTPOSITIONS:

owakán	a Ikəy					
o=pakát-t	a?=kəy					
lsg=be.angry-IND1 3sg= DAT						
'I am angry a	t him/it	t.'				
<u> </u>						
ma?w#	ya'Nva	n	ŋa pik			
ma ?wit	ya Iwa	1-1	ŋa= pik			
man	leave-	IND1	3SG.FEM=ALL			
'The man left	with h	er.'				
wat	iyõ m	ip	2iy	o wihmãm		
wat	iyõ m	ip	?iy-t	o= pihmām		
1 SG.POSS	father	fish	catch-IND1	1sg=com		

'My father caught a/the fish with me.'

WITH COPULA:

mãygãra	сú	a Inãn
mãygãra	сú	a ?=nã-n
snake	big	3sg=cop-ind1
'It is a/the big	g snake.	•

²⁵ The first person singular clitic o= has a non-sylabic occurrence, w=, before vowels.

ma?pəy pāt **ŋa**nān ma?pəy pāt **ŋa**=nā-n woman beautiful **3sg.FEM=**COP-IND1 '**She** is a/the beautiful woman.'

péŋ aînān péŋ a?=nā-n white.man 3sG=COP-IND1 'He is a/the white man.'

3.4 NOMINALIZATION

Verbs, verb phrases and whole clauses can be nominalized in Karo²⁶. With the exception of the nominalization of verbs by means of the suffix -ap (see below), all nominalized verbs show a non-finite form with the gerund suffix -a.

The suffix -ap is applied to transitive and intransitive verbs to yield agentive nominals. -ap has three allomorphs, /-p/, /-m/ and /-ap/. They occur, respectively, after a vowel, a nasal vowel, and a consonant. When /ap/ occurs after /p/ the /a/ falls and the remaining /p/ is fused with the /p/ of the verb root; when it occurs after /t/ and /k/, the /t/ and /k/ change to /r/ and /g/, respectively.

and

kanã cú kanã cú thing big 'big thing'

²⁶ There is no special nominalization construction for adjectives. When the concept conveyed by an adjective is to be nominalized, (as in English 'the beauty') the adjective is used in connection with the noun $kan\tilde{a}$, the final construction meaning 'Adjective + thing', as in the examples below:

kanā pất kanā pất thing beautiful 'beautiful thing'

?o	'to eat'	?o + p	→	?ор	'eater'
capé	'to beat'	capé + p	→	capép	'beater'
wé	'to cry'	wé + p	→	wép	'crier'
kə	'to walk'	kəp + p	→	kəp	`walker'
wĩ	`to kill'	wĩ + p	→	wĩm	'killer'
pipẽ	'to make'	pipẽ + p	→	pipẽm	'maker'
top	'to see'	top + ap	→	top	'seer, watcher'
yakap	'to throw'	yakap + ap	→	yakap	'thrower'
pip	'to drill'	pip + ap	→	pip	'driller'
penaoj	p'to dance'	penaop + ap	→	penaop	'dancer'
cát	`to wash'	cát + ap	→	cárap	'washer'
cat	'to step'	cat + ap	→	carap	'stepper'
pe?tit	'to roast'	pe?tit + ap	→	pe?tirap	'roaster'
pe?cit	'to run'	pe?cit + ap	→	pe?cirap	'runner'
kik	'to hold'	kik + ap	→	kigap	'holder'
yek	'to search'	yek + ap	→	yegap	'searcher'
nok	'to eat'	nok + ap	→	nogap	'eater'

110

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Transitive and intransitive verbs can also be nominalized by the particle *kanã*, 'thing', yielding place nouns.

o=kerakanão=ker-akanãl SG=sleep-GERNOMZ`My place to sleep.'

wat	ip	?iya	kanã		
wat	ip	?іу-а	kanã		
lsg	fish	catch-GER	NOMZ		
'My place to catch fish.'					

kanā is also used to nominalize verb phrases as absolutive arguments of the verb 'to like', yielding terms for $actions^{27}$.

 27 kanā is also found in a few lexicalized items containing an absolutive argument and a transitive or intransitive verb in the participle form. The function of kanā in these items, nevertheless, seems not to be of a nominalizer, but of a regular noun (kanā in Karo is a noun which means 'thing').

yãy yãy tooth	cob cop dirt	it it clean	kanā kanā thing
i?nok	TIOSS	kanã	
i?=nok IPL.INC `restaur	'L=eat rant'	kanā thing	

õna?wĩakanãya?tinãnõna?=wĩ-akanãya?tinã-n1SG3SG=kill-GERNOMZlikeCOP-IND1'I like to kill it.'

õn mok ре cára kanā ya Iti nān i Ike wal õn mok pe? cát-a kanā ya îti nā-n i Ike wat 1SG 1SG.POSS cotton CL.FLAT wash-GER NOMZ like COP-IND1 NEG 'I do not like to wash my clothes.'

ēn	ekera	kanã	ya Iti	nãn	ahyə
ēn	e=ket-a	kanã	ya Iti	nã-n	ahyə
2sg	2sg=sleep-ger	NOMZ	like	COP-IND 1	INTERR
•Do yo	ou like to sleep?'				

ka îto karowéya kanã ya îti nãn ka îto karo=wé-a kanã ya îti nã-n 2PL 2PL=cry-GER NOMZ like COP-IND1 'You (PL.) like to cry.'

In the last type of nominalization, the clitic ko= nominalizes a whole clause as the absolutive argument of the verb 'to perceive'²⁸. Although ko= is a proclitic and attaches to the verb 'to see' in the indicative form, its scope is over the preceding clause, whose verb is in the gerund form. This can be seen in the example below, where the clause [amān an] 'the rain fell/falls' takes the nonfinite form [amān ?ara] and is nominalized by ko= to be the argument of 'to see'. Notice that it is the verb 'to see' which takes the finite form (by taking the indicative mood marker).

õn	amãn	ara	gotoy
õn	amãn	at-a	ko=top-t
lsG	rain	fall-GER	NOMZ=see-IND1
'I sav	v the rain	n falling.'	

²⁸ That ko= is a nominalizer and not a complementizer can be seen in the following examples, where the nominalized clause with ko= occurs as the argument of a postposition, and not as complement of a perception verb.

owirup tēy kokəy okap ocagopto са́га koãm ko=kəy o=wirup tēp-t o=kap-ap o=cagəp=to? cát-a koãm ISG=food boil-IND1 NOMZ=DAT ISG=AUX.FUT-IND2 ISG=dish=PL wash-GER also 'While my food boils I will go wash my dishes too.'

Furthermore, ko = seems to serve also as the nominalizer of adverbs. Although this function of =ko is not yet well understood, one example of such nominalization is: matet kokoãm ocagopto? ?et toyawiga ko=koām o=cagop=to? matet ?e-t to=yawik-a 1SG=dish=PL vesterday NOMZ=also AUX-IND1 3R=be.dirty-GER 'My things are like they were yesterday, dirty.'

In the example below the same process happens with the nominalized clause [ŋa paba] 'she died':

Júnior ŋ a	pa	gotoy	ahyə
Júnior ŋ a	рар-а	ko=top-t	ahyə
Júnior 3sg.fem	die-ger	NOMZ=see-IND1	INTERR
'Did Júnior see her	die?'		

3.5 COMPOUNDING

Compounds in Karo involve combinations of a noun plus an adjective, a noun plus an intransitive verb, or a noun plus another noun. Compound constructions are not easily distinguishable from simple sequences of [N + Adj.]and [N + N] in noun phrases and of [N + V] in intransitive clauses. Intervening material seems to be the only evidence which serves to differentiate one type of construction from another. Adjectives and classifiers are the two classes of words which operate as intervening material.

The compounding of a noun plus adjective ([N + Adj.]) yields either a noun or an adjective. [N + Adj.] noun compounds are mostly employed to name animal or plant species. The only evidence which shows that this sequence is actually a noun comes from the fact that although an adjective may be used *after* the compound to qualify the final referent, it cannot be used *between* the components noun and adjective.

iti	ор	cf.	iti	op	си́	but	* iti cú op
iti	ор		iti	op	си		
deer	red		deer	red	big		
red de	er'		'big re	d deer'			

korét	capõt	cf.	korét	capõt pất	but	* korét pất capõt
korét	capõt		korét	capõt pất		
bird	purple		bird	purple beautiful		
•bird (sp.)'		'beaut	iful bird (sp.)'		

cego	b i k	cf.	cego	b i k	kãp	but	* cego kãp b <i>i</i> k
cego	p i k		cego	pik	kãp		
monkey	black		monkey	black	delicio	us	
black monke	y'		'delicious blac	ck monl	key'		

[N + Adj.] adjective compounds are few in number. Evidence that sequences like these are truly compounds comes from the fact that a classifier cannot occur after the noun.

páro piy	cf.	* páro	ре?	рiу
páro piy		páro	pe?	рiу
hands lazy		hands	CL.FLAT	lazy
`sloth'		'sloth'		

cagáro	mə rə p	cf.	* cagáro	?a?	m ərə p
cagáro	m ərə p		cagáro	?a?	m ərə p
eyes	hazy		eyes	CL.RD	hazy
'drunk'			'drunk'		

Only a few compounds consisting of a noun plus an intransitive verb ([N + Intr.V]) seem to occur in Karo. All compounds found so far employ the same verb, wiy 'go out'. The resulting construction is still an intransitive verb which takes an absolutive argument, like any other intransitive verb (*óra* 'music' + wiy 'to sing'; *ora* 'feces' + wiy 'to defecate'; *wero* 'speech' + wiy 'to speak'). In these constructions, an adjective may occur after the argument of the verb but cannot occur inside the [N + Intr.V] sequence.

cf.

but

ma îp ə y	óra	wiy
та грәу	óra	wiy-t
woman	music	go.out-IND1
'The woman s	ang.'	

та Грәу	bất	óra	wiy
та грәу	pất	óra	wiy-t
woman	beautiful	music	go.out.IND1
'The beautiful	woman sang.'		

* тагрәу	óra	bất	wiy
та Гр ә у	óra	pất	wjy-t
woman	music	beautiful	go.out.IND1
•The woma	n sang b	eautiful musi	c.'

In compounds of the type [N + N] an alienable noun generally occurs first, followed by an inalienable noun. The final noun is a regular alienable noun. Combinations of two bound nouns are also possible, although not very common. The two types of intervening material help characterizing these compounds:

Classifiers: An indication that a sequence of [noun + noun] is a compound and not a genitive construction, is when a classifier occurs *between* the two nouns. As I will describe in Chapter 5, the normal position for a classifier in genitive constructions is after the sequence [noun + noun], not between the two nouns. The classifier in this 'normal' position has scope over the whole (final) construction, not over one noun or another alone. This is illustrated in the examples below.

wayo	naká	bap	cf.	*wayo	bah	naká
wayo	naká	pap		wayo	pap	naká
alligator	head	CL.CYLB		alligator	CL.CYLB	head
'alligator head'				'alligator he	ead'	

classifier of wayo 'alligator': pap classifier of naká 'head': ká?

kir iwep cí? *kiriwep tem cf. cí? tem kir iwep cí? k**ir i**wep cí? tem tem butterfly wing CL.TFLAT butterfly wing CL.TFLAT 'butterfly wing' 'butterfly wing'

```
classifier of kiriwep 'butterfly': pe?
classifier of tem 'wing': ci?
```

When the classifier occurs *between* the two nouns, it indicates that a compound is formed. The resulting construction is still a noun, and tends to be a lexicalized expression whose meaning is not the sum of its parts.

mok	pe?		caki		cf.	*mok	caki	pe?	
mok	pe?		caki			mok	caki	pe?	
cotton	CL.FLA	ΛТ	piece			cotton	piece	CL.FLA	т
`cloth'					'piece of cotton'				
wayo		bap		сі	cf.	*wayo		ci	bap
wayo		pap		ci		wayo		сі	pap
alligato	or	CL.CYL	В	water		alligato	ЭГ	water	CL.CYLB
•alligat	'alligator soup'					'alligat	or soup	,7	

Adjectives: The occurrence of adjectives helps to determine the status of compounds in a negative way. As I will demonstrate when describing the internal structure of noun phrases, in Chapter 4, section 4.3.1 below, adjectives may occur after any noun in a noun phrase.
opábecigáo=pábecigá1SG=handblister`my hand blister'cf.

opábe cú cigá o=pábe cú cigá lsG=hand big blister 'my [big hand] blister'

opábecigácúo=pábecigácú1SG=handblisterbig'my big [hand blister]'

Therefore, when it is not possible for an adjective to occur inside a [N + N] sequence, there is evidence that this sequence is a compound.

cf.

wirik	kanã	VS.	wirik	kanã	си́	but	*wirik cú kanã
wirik	kanã		wi rik	kanã	си́		
edible	thing		edible	thing	big		
'edible	e thing'		'big ec	dible this	ng'		
ip	cahyoy	<i>vs</i> .	ip	cahyoy	k <i>i</i> t	but	*ip k# cahyoy
ip	cahyoy		ip	cahyoy	kit		
fish	dog		fish	dog	white		
•dog fi	ish'		'white	dog fisł	ı'		

CHAPTER 4 SYNTAX

In this chapter I describe the types of sentences, phrases, predicates, the three forms of clause modifications and combinations which occur in Karo. First, in section 4.1, the types of simple sentences are presented and described. Simple sentences in Karo include declarative (DECL), interrogative (INTERR) and imperative (IMP). Then, in section 4.2, the types of predicates are described. In section 4.3, the four types of phrases which occur in Karo, noun phrase, verb phrase, postpositional phrase and adverbial phrase are described. In sections 4.4 and 4.5, tense marking and negation are presented and described. In section 4.6 I describe the process of reported speech, and finally, in section 4.7 the types of clause combinations that occur in Karo, clause chaining and subordination, are described.

4.1 SIMPLE SENTENCES

Three basic types of sentences occur in Karo: 1) declarative (DECL), 2) interrogative (INTERR), 3) imperative (IMP) They are described and exemplified in the next subsections.

4.1.1 DECLARATIVE SENTENCES

Declarative sentences are the most common sentences in Karo. Depending on the position of the elements in the sentences, they are divided into two groups: the group with a strict SOV order, called basic declaratives, and the group with one of its elements focused, called focused declaratives.

4.1.1.1 BASIC DECLARATIVES

Declarative sentences in Karo have a strict SOV order. They may have one or two arguments (depending on the type of the predicate) and a verb or auxiliary as its required constituents. One postpositional phrase and one or more adverbial phrases may also occur as complements.

The main verb or auxiliary in a declarative sentence may take any of the mood suffixes discussed in chapter 3 section 3.2.1. Examples of declarative sentences with different mood markers are:

'He made his own house.'					
3sg	3r.poss	house	CL.RD	make-IND1	
at	toat	ka?a?	?a?	pẽ-t	
at	toat	ka ?a ?	?a?	pẽn	

kanãy	at	toat	ka?a	?a?	pẽya ²⁹	
kanāy	at	toat	ka?a	?a?	pē-a	
then	3sg	3r.poss	house	CL.RD	make-GER	
'Then he (went and) made his own house.'						

at	toat	ka?a	?a?	pẽ	mãm
at	toat	ka?a	?a?	pẽ	mãm
3sg	3r.poss	house	CL.RD	make	x
'He is making his own house.'					

4.1.1.2 FOCUSED DECLARATIVES

From a strictly formal point of view, focusing in Karo is a process whereby any constituent of a basic declarative sentence appears at the front of the sentence instead of occurring in its unmarked position. Functionally, focusing is used for contrastive purposes. The elements which can be focused for contrast are either nominal arguments or clause complements.

4.1.1.2.1 NOMINAL ARGUMENT FOCUSING

In argument focusing, the arguments of a transitive or an intransitive verb are contrasted with another argument in the discourse. Different types of change occur depending on the grammatical function of the argument, whether absolutive or ergative. Below I describe each of these changes separately.

FOCUSING OF ABSOLUTIVES

When the argument to be contrasted is originally an absolutive argument, the impersonal clitic i= remains on the main transitive or intransitive verb. The mood suffix of the main predicate also undergoes specific changes, depending on the type of verb, whether transitive or intransitive.

In intransitive focus constructions, the verb appears in the unmarked form.

²⁹ An epenthetic /y/ occurs between a final vowel of a verb root and the gerund mood marker -a.

agóa?pət iket agóa?pət i=ket shaman 31MP=sleep

'The shaman (was the one who) slept.'

agóa lpət ken agóa lpət ket-t shaman sleep-IND1 'The shaman slept.'

at iba?pat

at i=pa?pat

3SG 3IMP=fall.down

'He (was the one who) fell down.'

aba?pan a?=pa?pat-t 3SG=fall.down-IND1 'He fell down.'

In transitive focus constructions, the verb appears in the indicative mood, but with the following allomorphs: $/-p/ \sim /-ap/ \sim /-m/$. /-p/ occurs in verb roots which end in oral vowel; /-ap/ occurs in verb roots which end in consonants, and /-m/ occurs in verb roots which end in nasal vowels.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

cf.

wayo	gấp	ar	i?op	cf.		
wayo	kấp	at	i=?о-р			
alligator	tasty	3sg	3IMP=eat-IND2			
'(It is) a tasty alligator (that) he ate.'						

ar	wayo	gấp	?ot	
at	wayo	kấp	?o-t	
3sg	alligator	tasty	eat-IND1	
'He ate a tasty alligator.'				

wat	owã	ŋa	õn	ib i yap	cf.	
wat	owã	ŋa	õn	i=piy-ap		
1SG.POSS	mothe	CL.FE	ем i sg	3IMP=wait.for-IND2		
'(It is) my mother (who) I waited for.'						

õn	wat	owã	ŋа	рiу		
õn	wat	owã	ŋa	piy-t		
lsG	1SG.POSS	mothe	rCL.FEM	wait.for-IND1		
'I waited for my mother.'						

mãygãra	си	ēn	iw īm	ahyə	cf.
mãygãra	сú	ēn	iw ĩ-m	ahy ə	
snake	big	2sg	3imp=kill-r	ND2	INTERR

'Was it the/a big snake that you killed?'

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

<i>ēn</i>	mãygãra	си	wĩn	ahyə	
ēn	mãygãra	сú	wĩ-n	ahyə	
2sg	snake	big	kill-ind1	INTERR	
'Did you kill the/a big snake?'					

FOCUSING OF ERGATIVES

When the argument to be contrasted is ergative, it occurs first in the sentence, followed by the impersonal clitic i= and the auxiliary $2^{a^{30}}$ in the indicative mood. A second clause, containing the absolutive argument (either in the pronominal or in the lexical form) and the transitive verb in the gerund mood, follows the auxiliary. Since the ergative argument of this second clause is coreferential with the subject of the auxiliary, it is omitted.

ma'Avir	yet	[Ø	mãygãra	roba]	
ma?w#	i=?e-t	[Ø	mãygãra	top-a]	
man	3imp=aux-ind1	[Ø	snake	see-GER]	
'(It was) the man (who) saw the snake.'					

та?рәу	bất	yet	[Ø	opiya]	
та Грәу	pất	i=?e-1	[Ø	o=piy-a]	
woman	beautiful	3imp=aux-ind1	[Ø	lsg=wait.for-ger]	
'(It was) the beautiful woman (who) waited for me.'					

4.1.1.2.2 CLAUSE COMPLEMENT FOCUSING

When an adverb or postposition phrase is in focus, the /-p/ indicative occurs in the verb or auxiliary (cf. chapter 3, section 3.2.1.2).

 $c\tilde{a}k$ $m\tilde{a}m$ okap $c\tilde{i}m$?oa $c\tilde{a}k$ $m\tilde{a}m$ o=kap-ap $c\tilde{i}m$?o-atomorrowX1SG=FUT.AUX-IND2meateat-GER`Tomorrow I will eat meat.'

TittemonahopTit=temonaf=top-apsmall=ADVZ1sg3sg=see-IND2'Briefly I saw it/him.'

wat	ka?a	?а	pe?	web	а?р і уа	
wat	ka?a	?a?	pe?	o=?e-p	a?=pij	<i>?-a</i>
lsg.poss	house	CL.RD	LOC	1SG=AUX-IND	2	3SG=wait.for-GER
'(It was) at my house (that) I waited for him/it.'						

et ka?a 2a pe? at ep iyap ka?a *?a?* pe? e=piy-ap et at 2sg house CL.RD LOC 3sg 2sg=wait.for-IND2 '(It was) at your house (that) he waited for you.'

³⁰ The impersonal proclitic i= takes the non-syllabic form /y/ when it occurs before a verb or auxiliary which begins with a vowel.

By contrast, when the adverbial or postpositional phrase occurs in its basic order at the end of the clause, the /-t/ indicative occurs.

cīm ?oa okay cấk mãm cīm ?o-a o=kap-t cấk mãm meat eat-GER 1SG=FUT.AUX-IND1 tomorrow X 'I will eat meat tomorrow.'

õna?toy**?**Ittemõna?=top-t**?**It=tem1SG3SG=see-IND1 small=ADVZ'I saw it/him briefly.'

а гр іуа	wet	wat		ka ?a	<i>?</i> а	pe?	
агріу-а	o=?e-t	wat		ka?a	?a?	pe?	
3sg=wait.for-ger	l SG=AUX-IND	1	lsg.pc	DSS	house	CL.RD	LOC
'I waited for him/it at my house.'							

at	epiy	et	ka ?a	?a	pe?
at	ep iy-t	et	ka?a	?a?	pe?
3sg	2sg=wait.for-IND1	2sg	house	CL.RD	LOC
'He w	aited for you at your h	nouse.'			

4.1.2 INTERROGATIVE SENTENCES

Two types of interrogative constructions occur in Karo: yes-no questions and information questions. Each of these types is described in the subsections below.

4.1.2.1 YES-NO QUESTIONS

Yes-no questions are marked by the particle *ahya*, with no change in the pitch contour of the clause. The form of the verb in yes-no questions is always finite, marked with the indicative mood suffix -t or -p. The position of the interrogative particle depends on the information requested. If the information is expressed by the whole clause, the interrogative particle occurs at the end of the clause.

eken	ahyə
eket-t	ahyə
2sg=sleep-ind1	INTERR
'Did you sleep?'	

eken	mättem	ahyə
eket-t	pất=tem	ahyə
2sg=sleep-ind1	beautiful=ADVZ	INTERR
'Did you sleep well'	?'	

eken	wat	manikap	pe?	bấttem	ahyə
eket-t	wat	manikap	pe?	pất=tem	ahyə
2sG=sleep-IND1	lsg=poss	hammock	LOC	beautiful=ADVZ	INTERR
'Did you sleep well in my hammock?'					

If one constituent of a clause is questioned, that element is put in focus position at the beginning of the clause and followed by the interrogative particle.

If information about the ergative argument is requested, the interrogative particle occurs immediately after it.

ēn	ahyə	bé ŋ	noy
ēn	ahyə	pé ŋ	top-t
2sg	INTERR	white.man	see-IND1
•Was	it you who sa	aw the white ma	n?'

miririy	ahyə	imaterãn	nãnin	
m ir ir iy	ahyə	i?=ma-terã-t	nãnin	
toad	INTERR	lpl.incl=CAUS-go.astray-IND1	EVID	
'Was it the toad who really made us get lost?'				

If information about the absolutive argument is requested, the argument itself plus the interrogation particle are focused, and the verb takes the (non-finite?) unmarked form with the third impersonal clitic attached to it.

péŋahyəẽnitop31péŋahyəẽnitopwhite.manINTERR2SG3IMP=see'Was it the white man that you saw?'

. .

was it the write man that you saws

<i>ēn</i>	ahyə	ike t ³²
<i>ẽn</i>	ahyə	i=ket
2sg	INTERR	31MP-sleep

'Was it you who slept?'

Finally, adverbial elements can also be questioned. A postpositional phrase or an adverbial phrase is questioned by being focused at the beginning of the clause and followed by the interrogative particle. The verb in these cases takes the /-p/ indicative mood suffix.

pấttem	ahyə	ekerap
pất=tem	ahyə	e=ket-ap
beautiful=ADVZ	INTERR	2SG=sieep-IND2
'Did you sleep well?'		(lit. 'Is it well that you slept?')

³¹ If information was requested upon the whole proposition, the form of the sentence would be: ēn pėŋ toy ahyə ēn рéŋ ahyə top-t 2sg white.man see.IND1 INTERR 'Did you see the white man?' ³² The form of the question for requesting information upon the whole clause would be: eken ahyə e=ket-t ahyə 2SG=sleep-IND1 INTERR 'Did you sleep?'

wat	manikap	pe?	ahyə	ekerap
wat	manikap	pe?	ahyə	e=ket-ap
lsg.poss	hammock	LOC	INTERR	2sg=sleep-ind2
Did you slee	ep in my hamn	nock?'	(lit. 'Was it	in my hammock that you slept?')

4.1.2.2 INFORMATION QUESTION

Information questions are marked by interrogative pronouns, listed below.

kiganape	where?
kiganapət	from where?
kigope	when?
kõm	how?
kõm igu	how much?
nãnã	why?

INTERROGATIVE PRONOUNS

Interrogative pronouns occur at the beginning of the clause, which is always finite, marked with the indicative modal suffix. The interrogative particle *ahyə* may co-occur with the interrogative pronouns, immediately following them, but this occurrence is not obligatory. Examples of each of the interrogative pronouns are below. In all but *nãnã* 'why' questions, the -p indicative suffix is used.

kiganape	(ahyə)	ekerap
k <i>i</i> ganape	(ahy ə)	e=ket-ap
which.place	(INTERR)	2sg=sleep-ind2
•Where did ye		

kiganap <i>э</i> t	(ahyə)	at	etop		
kiganap A	(ahyə)	at	e=top-ap		
from.where	(INTERR)	3sg	2sg=see-ind2		
'From where did it see you?'					

kigope	(ahyə)	ekap	eya Iwara
k <i>i</i> gope	(ahyə)	e=kap-ap	e=ya?wat-a
when	(INTERR)	2sg=aux.fut-ind2	2sg=come.back-GER
When will y	ou come back?	,	

kõm	(ahyə)	mãygãra	etóp		
kõm	(ahyə)	mãygãra	e=tó-p		
how	(INTERR)	snake	2sg=bite-IND2		
'How did the snake bite you?'					

kõm	(ahyə)	igu	<i>ẽn</i>	ip	yapít ³³
kõm	(ahyə)	igu	ẽn	ip	yapí-t
how	(INTERR)	many	2sg	fish	bowshot-IND1
'How many fish did you shoot with a bow?'					

nãnã	(ahyə)	agóa Ip A	óra	wiy	ma ŋ aptem
nãnã	(ahyə)	agóa Ip A	óra	wiy-t	maŋap=tem
why	(INTERR)	shaman	music	go-IND	l long=ADVZ
'Why	did the shaman	sing for so lor	ıg?'		

4.1.3 IMPERATIVE CLAUSES

Only one type of imperative construction occurs in Karo. The verb in imperative constructions always takes the modal form of the gerund (suffix -a). The absolutive argument is the only argument morphologically marked.

Marking of the addressee depends on transitivity. In intransitive commands, the absolutive addressee is specified by a second person proclitic, singular or plural.

³³ In some occurrences of the interrogative pronoun $k \tilde{o}m$ igu, $k \tilde{o}m$ and igu are kept apart, $k \tilde{o}m$ occurring at the beginning and igu occurring at the end of the clause. It is not yet well understood why this happens. Some examples are:

kõm	(ahy ə)	et	péŋ	yapia	igu		
kõm	(ahyə)	e=?e-t	pėŋ	yapi-a	igu		
how	(INTERR)	2sg=aux-ind1	white.man	bowshot-GER	many		
'How	How many men did you shoot (with a bow)?'						

kōm	at	ip	yapia	igu
kōm	a?=?e-1	ip	yapi-a	igu
how	3sg=aux-ind1	fish	bowshot-GER	many
'How I	many fish did he sl	hoot (wi	ith a bow)?'	-

ewiya	karowiya
e=wiy-a	karo=wiy-a
2sg=leave-ger	2PL=leave-GER
'Leave!'	'Leave (you PL.)!'

ekera	karokérara ³⁴
e=ket-a	karo=kérar-a
2sg=sleep-ger	2PL=sleep-ger
'Sleep!'	'Sleep (you PL.)!'

In transitive commands, the ergative addressee is generally unspecified (because it is recoverable from context), and the absolutive is indicated by either a pronominal clitic or a full noun phrase. If it is necessary to distinguish between the second person singular and plural, a free pronoun is employed at the end of the clause, in apposition.

taptoba (ēn / ka îto) tap=top-a (ēn / ka îto) 3PL=see-GER (2SG / 2PL) `Watch them!'

³⁴ As discussed in Chapter 3, section 3.1.3, some intransitive verbs change their form when they occur with arguments in the plural, either pronominal or lexical noun phrases.

owirup	tira	(ẽn / ka ho)		
o=wirup	tit-a	(ẽn / ka Ito)		
1sG=food	cook-ger	(2sg / 2pl)		
'Cook my food!'				

yét	та Гр <i>э</i> у	bất	toba	(ẽn / ka Ito)
yét	та Грәу	pất	top-a	(ẽn / ka Ito)
this	woman	beautiful	see-GER	(2sg / 2pl)
•Wate	ch this beautif	ful woman!'		

wat	manikap	peya	(ẽn / ka îto)		
wat	manikap	pe-a	(ẽn / ka Ito)		
1SG.POSS	hammock	make-GER	(2sg / 2pl)		
'Make my hammock!'					

4.2 MAJOR PREDICATE TYPES

Predicates in Karo can be either verb phrases or predicate adjective constructions. Verb phrases consist of an auxiliary, an intransitive verb, or a transitive verb plus absolutive. (Verb phrases are described in section 4.3.2 below.)

kanãy	yét	pé ŋ	[?et]		
kanãy	yét	pé ŋ	[?e-1]		
then	this	white.man	[AUX-IND]]		
'Then this white.man said/did.'					

ma Avit [ken] ma Avit [ket-t] man [sleep-IND1] 'The man slept.'

õn [a?wero toy]
õn [a?=wero top-t]
ISG [3SG=speech hear-IND1]
'I heard him.'

Predicate adjective constructions consist of an adjective (with the adverbializer =tem) plus a noun phrase. No overt verb or copula is employed (as occurs, for example, in English 'He *is* nice', or Portuguese 'Ele \acute{e} legal'). The predicate in these constructions appears first in the clause, followed by the argument that is qualified.

cárarem	õn	
cára=tem	õn	
tall=advz	lsG	
'I am tall.'		

cúrem	wat	ka ?a	?а
cú=tem	wat	ka ?a	?а
big=ADVZ	lsg.poss	house	CL.RD
'My house is	big.'		

pấttem	et	owē	rap
pất=tem	et	owē	tap
beautiful-ADVZ	2sg.poss	child	ASSOC
Your children are b	eautiful.'		

Other types of functional predicates such as predicate nominal, predicate locative, existentials and possessive predicates are not conveyed by special constructions in Karo.

Predicate nominals have almost the same structure of any transitive declarative clause. They differ in not occurring with a transitive verb but with the copula $n\tilde{a}$ instead.

kop at to wecéb a mān kop at to pecép a ?=nā-n animal PL(?) ugly 3SG=COP-IND1 'He/it is an ugly animal.'

Predication of locatives in Karo are expressed by a regular intransitive verb of movement, $k\sigma$ 'to walk', *yakõy* 'to dive', etc., or position *ya* 'to be stood', etc., plus an oblique noun phrase with the locative case marker *pe*?

Antônio	yãn	ka?a	?a	na ?ot	pe?
Antônio	yã-n	ka?a	?a?	na ?ot	pe?
Antônio	be.stood-IND1	house	CL.RD	top.of	LOC
'Antônio is on the top of the house.'					

Existential predication in Karo is also conveyed by a regular intransitive verb of movement or position plus a locational adjunct (noun phrase + locative case marker *pe ?*).

tik ahyə ka?a ?a wán et pe? tik wát-t ahyə ka?a ?a et pe? mosquito fly-IND1 INTERR 2SG.POSS house CL.RD LOC 'Are there mosquitoes in your house?' (lit. 'Does mosquito fly in your house?')

Possessive predication is expressed by using the intransitive verb ka 'to walk'.

'I have two houses.'			(lit. 'My two houses walk.')			
lsg	1SG.POSS	house	CL.RD	walk-IND1	two	X=advz
õn	wat	ka ?a	?а	kə-ı	cagáro	kõm=tem
õn	wat	ka ?a	?а	k ə t	cagáro	kõmnem

at	toat	makāri	rakət
at	toat	makāri	ta-kə-t
3sg	3sg.poss	necklace	COMIT-walk-IND l
•He h	as a necklace.	7	(lit. 'He walks with his necklace.')

4.3 PHRASES

Clauses (or sentences) in Karo are formed basically from noun phrases and verb phrases. Adverbial phrases and postpositional phrases may also occur optionally. In this section, each of these types of phrases is described in detail.

4.3.1 NOUN PHRASES

Noun phrases in Karo occur as arguments of auxiliaries, intransitive and transitive verbs, postpositions, and predicate adjective constructions. Below I give a list of each of the constituents of a noun phrase, and in sections 4.3.1.2 and 4.3.1.3 I provide a description of genitive constructions and noun phrase associations, respectively. In the last section of the chapter, section 4.3.1.4, I deal with case marking and grammatical relations.

4.3.1.1 NOUN PHRASE CONSTITUENTS

A noun phrase in Karo may have the following constituents, given in their normal relative order³⁵:

- 1. Demonstrative or Possessive pronoun
- 2. Noun (or proper noun)
- 3. Classifier
- 4. Adjective
- 5. Evidential
- 6. Plural marker

³⁵ Numerals do not occur inside the noun phrase but rather as adjuncts, in adverbial phrases.

In principle, none of the above constituents is obligatory, except for the category of Noun. Demonstratives, possessive pronouns and classifiers can function as nominals. It is rare to find more than two constituents besides the noun occurring in a noun phrase. Below I describe individually the occurrences of the constituents that may enter a noun phrase.

DEMONSTRATIVE OR POSSESSIVE PRONOUNS

The categories of demonstrative and possessive pronouns were already discussed in section 3.1.1 above. Some additional examples are below.

[yét péŋ] pa?pan [yét péŋ] pa?pat-t [DEM white.man] fall-IND1 'This man fell.'

kanãy [yét]?ettocaropabakanãy [yét]?e-tto=caropap-athen [DEM] AUX-IND13R=be.sad-GER`Then this (white man) was sad.'

[wat	owē]	wét
[wat	owē]	wé-t
[1SG.POSS	child]	cry-IND1
'My child cr	ied.'	

[karoat]	yān	i %e	tếna
[karoat]	yã-t	i Ike	tếna
2pl.poss	be.IND1	NEG	now

'Yours (your animals) are not at home now.'

Nouns

Nouns in Karo are either alienable or inalienable (cf. section 3.1.2 above). Alienable nouns occur usually once in a noun phrase. When two alienable nouns occur, they form either a possessive construction or a compound (cf. section 3.5 on compounds). In possessive constructions, the first noun is the possessor and the second noun the item possessed. A possessive marker, *at*, always occurs between them.

ma?wit at tágip ma?wit at tágip man POSS bow `man`s bow'

agóa?pət at ka?a ?a? agóa?pət at ka?a ?a? shaman POSS house CL.RD `shaman's house'

ma?pəy at manikap ma?pəy at manikap woman POSS hammock `woman's hammock'

A noun phrase may also contain one or more inalienable noun. When two (or more) inalienable nouns occur they are in a relation of modification to each other, and the rightmost inalienable noun is the head noun. Since the resulting two nouns are still an inalienable noun, they must be preceded either by an alienable noun or by a possessive clitic pronoun.

Furthermore, even though it could be possible, in principle, for an inalienable noun to occur preceding an alienable noun, this does not occur for semantic reasons. Inalienable nouns in Karo are items which generally refer to body parts and, thus, cannot possess alienable items such as 'house', 'hammock', 'bow', 'arrow', etc.

a ?pábe cigá
a ?=pábe cigá
3SG=hand blister
`the blister on his hand (his hand blister)'

tanaká peon tap=naká peon 3PL=head skin 'the skin of their heads'

onakira	сор
o=nak i ra	сор
lsG=ear	dirt
the dirt of	my ear'

Finally, a mixture of alienable and inalienable nouns may occur in a noun phrase. In these cases, the relation established is one of possession. Free nouns precede bound nouns and indicate the possessor.

mãygāra capóp pɨ? mãygāra capóp pɨ? snake tail CL.CYLS `tail of a snake'

agóa?pət naká agóa?pət naká shaman head `shaman's head'

owe nakira cop owe nakira cop child ear dirt 'the dirt of the ear of the child'

cf.

war	owẽ	nakira	сор		
wat	owẽ	nakira	сор		
lsg.poss	child	ear	dirt		
'the dirt of the ear of my child'					

cf.

ite at owe nakira cop ite at owe nakira cop uncle POSS child ear dirt 'the dirt of the ear of my uncle's child'

CLASSIFIERS

A complete description of the occurrences of classifiers, with examples, is given in chapter 5.

тәу тарәу да	?et	at	chapéu	ká ?	tiga	igana	pe?
тәу тагрәу да	?e-1	at	chapéu	ká ?	tik-a	igana	pe?
then woman CL.FEM	AUX-IND1	3sg.poss	hat	CL.CCV	throw-GER	ground	LOC
'Then the woman threw his hat on the floor.'							

ADJECTIVES

Adjectives in Karo are a class formed exclusively by bound forms which are always preceded either by a noun or by a clitic pronoun. It is rare for more than two adjectives to occur, and there are no special constructions with either comparative or superlative meaning. ma lpəy pất ma lpəy pất woman beautiful 'beautiful woman'

ma?ip cakot ma?ip cakot wood chopped `chopped wood'

A personal clitic may also occur in place of the head noun. When this happens, the adjective modifies the personal clitic, and together they may represent arguments of intransitive verbs, transitive verbs, auxiliaries, postpositions, and predicate adjective constructions:

owicoropkeno=picoropket-t1SG=hungrysleep-IND1'I slept hungry (or, better: 'I-hungry slept').'

a ?wấk	toba	agóa Ip A	?et
a?=wấk	top-a	agóa Ip a	?e-1
3sg=sick	see-GER	shaman	AUX-IND1
(T) I			

'The shaman went to see him-sick.'

kanãy	а Грар	?et	towec ir a
kanãy	а ?=рар	?e-t	to=wec it −a
then	3sg=hurt	AUX-IND1	3R=run-GER
•Then	it-hurt ran.'		

abakána ?papkəya?=pakát-ta ?=papkəy3SG=be.angry-IND13SG=hurtDAT'He was angry at the hurt one.''He was angry at the hurt one.'

pecéptema Atarappecép=tema ?=tarapugly=ADVZ3sG=spotted`He/it-spotted (with spots) is ugly.'

EVIDENTIALS

Evidentials in Karo constitute a category which basically occurs at the level of the sentence, i.e., they are constituents of sentences. A few evidentials, nevertheless, also occur at the level of the noun phrase, following the head noun (or pronoun). The class of evidentials in Karo is fully discussed in chapter 6.

at topə a?wīn at topə a?-wī-n 3SG EVID 3SG=kill-IND1 'He was seen to have killed it.'

pagon	nóptem	nakõm	nap	tə
pagon	tóp=tem	nakõm	tap	tə
three	X=advz	kid	ASSOC	EVID
three l	kids, they say'			

In the example below the noun phrase is repeated at the end of the sentence, for the sake of explicitness on the part of the speaker.

тәу	péŋ	?et	kohmãy	?erem	tokəga,
тәу	péŋ	?e-t	kohmãy	?erem	to=kək-a
then	white.man	AUX-IND1	top	DISP	3r=walk-ger
Then (I saw that) the white man was walking through the top (of the tree),					

tomanẽ	mã ŋ a	tə,		
to=mane	mãŋ-a	tə		
3R=whole	show-GER	EVID		
'him entirely, they say'				

péŋ	19
péŋ	lə
white.man	EVID
the white ma	n, they say.'

PLURAL

Occurrences of the plural marker =to? were discussed in chapter 3, section 3.3.1 above.

kanãy péŋ?eptoatmokpero?cáraicipe?kanãy péŋ?e-ptoatmokpe?=to?cát-aicipe?thenwhite.manAUX-IND23R.POSSclotheCL.FLAT=PLwash-GERriverLOC'Then the white man was washing his clothes in the river.'

4.3.1.2 GENITIVE CONSTRUCTIONS

Two types of genitive constructions occur in Karo, inalienable and alienable. In inalienable possessive construction the inalienable noun can be possessed directly by either a possessive pronominal clitic or an alienable noun.

ocãp	it i cã	p		
ocãp	it i cã	p		
1SG=leg	deer leg	3		
`my leg`	'deer's leg	'deer's leg'		
ekap	yate ga	p		
ekap	yate ka	p		
2sg=fat	pig fat			
'your fat'	ʻpig's fat'	'pig's fat'		

'his/its eve'	'narrot's eve'
3SC=eve	parrot eve
acagá	aoro cagá
acagá	aoro cagá

In alienable possessive construction the alienable noun can be possessed by either a possessive pronoun or by another alienable noun, in which case the possessor *at* occurs between the two alienable nouns.

wat	ka ?a	ma ?w ir	at	ka ?a	
wat	ka ?a	ma ?w#	at	ka?a	
1SG.POSS	house	man	POSS	house	
'my house'		'man's house	,		
er	ici	та Грәу	at	ic i	
et	ici	та грәу	at	ic i	
2sg.poss	water	woman	POSS	water	
'your water'		'woman's water'			
at	tágip	agóa Ip A	at	tágip	
at	tágip	agóa Ip A	at	tágip	
3sg.poss	bow	shaman	POSS	bow	
'his bow'		'shaman's boy	N'		

4.3.1.3 Association of noun phrases

Strictly speaking, no conjoining of noun phrases in Karo is grammatically possible. Association of noun phrases are done, nevertheless, by other means. Depending on the function of the nouns to be associated, different types of constructions are used. If the associated nouns are the subject of a transitive or intransitive verb (i.e., the ergative arguments of a transitive verb, or the absolutive argument of an intransitive verb), only one of the nouns occurs as core argument. The other noun occurs as an oblique argument of the same verb, and is marked with the postpositional comitative case marker *pihmãm*.

at	ip	?iy	Na ?k it	pihmãm
at	ip	?iy−t	Na ?k #	pihmãm
3sg	fish	catch-IND1	Na?kit	COMIT

'He and Na?kit caught the fish.' (lit.: 'He caught the fish with Na?kit')

owakánmatetwatiyõmpihmãm(towakára)o=pakát-tmatetwatiyõmpihmãm(to=pakát-a)1SG=be.angry-IND1yesterday1SG.POSSfatherCOMIT(3R=be.angry-GER)'My father and I were angry yesterday.'

If the nouns represent the object (absolutive) argument of a transitive verb, they occur in separate clauses with the same verb repeated. One of the forms of the verb is finite and the other is non-finite. The particle *kõam*, 'also', occurs at the end of the second, non-finite clause.

at	ĩya	wĩn	kokõ	wĩa	kõam	
at	ĩya	wĩ-t	kokõ	wĩ-a	kõam	
3sg	bird	kill-IND1	hawk	kill-ger	also	
'He killed a/the bird and the hawk.'						

If the associated nouns are in a Predicate Nominal construction, the second noun occurs in the oblique form, with the SIMILATIVE case marker kom.

'He and Cabi	rera ar	e big shamans.' (lit.:	'He is a big sha	man, like Cabirera.'
shaman	big	3sg=cop-ind1	Cabirera	SIMIL
agóa Ip ə	сú	a?=nã-n	Cabirera	kõm
agóa Ip ə l	сú	a Mãn	Cabirera	kõm

If the associated nouns are oblique arguments, they are both marked with the same case marking postposition, followed by the particle *koām*, 'also'.

ka Itay	at	na Avəy	kəy	аħ	kəy	kõam
ka Aay	a?=?e-1	na ƙway	kəy	а'л	kəy	kõam
shoot	3sg=aux-ind1	monkey	DAT	sloth	DAT	also
'He sh	ot (arrows) at the mon	key and at the	sloth als	so.'		

Finally, if the associated nouns are in a possessive construction, the second noun, regardless of whether the possession is alienable or inalienable, is marked by the particle *koām*, 'also'.

ma?wiratpewit, naatpewitkoãmma?witatpewit, naatpewitkoãmmanPOSShoney, 3SG.FEM.POSShoney also'the man's honey, and her honey also'

opábe?, epábe? koãm o=pábe?, e=pábe? koãm 1SG=hand 2SG=hand also 'my hand, and your hand also'

4.3.1.4 CASE MARKING AND GRAMMATICAL RELATIONS

There is a clear distinction among core and oblique arguments in Karo with respect to the different grammatical roles they perform in relation to their predicates (i.e., transitive and intransitive verbs and auxiliaries). Core arguments (either lexical noun phrases or pronominals) are required, and occur before their predicates. Oblique arguments, on the other hand, are not required. They occur canonically after their predicates, and they are always marked with a postposition. (See section 4.3.3 below on postpositional phrases.)

Among the core arguments there is no overt case marking on full noun phrases, and their order in the clause is relatively fixed (cf. section 4.3.1.4). The only argument of one-argument predicate clauses (those with an intransitive verb or an auxiliary) occur at the beginning of the clause:

ma?pəy ken ma?pəy ket-t woman sleep-IND1 `The woman slept.'

īya tēy īya tēp-t bird fly-IND1 'The bird flew.'

ma ?wit?etmatetma ?wit?e-tmatetmanAUX-IND1yesterday'The man (did something) yesterday.'

When two full noun phrases co-occur in transitive clauses, they both precede the transitive verb. Their role is indicated only by word order: the first noun is the semantic agent (the grammatical ergative argument) and the second is the semantic patient (the grammatical absolutive argument) of the clause. If the position of the nouns is changed, the meaning of the whole clause is also changed.

iyõm wat awe capét iyõm wat awe capé-t father 1SG.POSS brotherbeat-IND1 'Father beat my brother.'

wataweiyõmcapétwataweiyõmcapé-t1SG.POSSbrother fatherbeat-IND1'My brother beat father.'

Case distinctions are indicated, nevertheless, by the different ways in which non-lexical arguments are represented: ergatives are marked by a set of free pronouns, while absolutives are marked by a set of pronominal clitics. The free pronouns and the pronominal clitics are in complementary distribution with lexical noun phrases.

oken			cf.	owara Ik A		
o=kei	t-t			o=para 7k2-t		
lsg=	sleep-INE	51	1SG=go.back-IND1			
'I slej	pt.'			'I went back.'		
ma Pw	Ŕ	ken	cf.	a?=ken		
ma?w# ket-t		ket-t		a?=ket-t		
man sleep-IND1		sleep-IND1		3sg=sleep-ind1		
•The	man slep	t.'		'He/it slept.'		
agóai	гр ж	para Ik s t	cf.	abara Ik A		
agóai	ीम अ	para Ikə-t		a?=para %ə-t		
shama	an	go.back-IND1		3sg=go.back-IND1		
•The s	shamari v	went back.'	'He/it went back.'			
õn	ameko	toy	cf.	ameko otoy		
õn	ameko	top-t		ameko o=top-t		
lsg	jaguar	see-IND1		jaguar 1SG=see-IND1		
ʻI saw	v the jagu	lar.'	'The jaguar saw me.'			
'I saw	it/him.'		'It/he s	saw me.'		
--------	--------------	-----	----------	--------------		
lsg	3sg=see-ind1		3sg	lsG=see-INDl		
õn	a?=top-t		at	o=top-t		
õn	ahoy	cf.	at	otoy		

On relatively rare occasions, the reference of a pronoun or a clitic may be elaborated with an appositive noun phrase. In the following example, the subject of the sentence 'he' is restated as 'this man', probably to avoid ambiguity, since several other third person singular participants were under discussion at the time.

 m əy.

 m əy.

 m əy.

 then

 `Then,

 a ?wa ?ye,

 a ?=wa ?ye

 3SG=AUX

 he,

 yét
 ma ?wit,

 yét
 ma ?wit,

 this
 man

 this man,

toat, toat 3R.POSS to his own,

toat páy gəy ro?wa. toat páy kəy to=?e-a 3R.POSS other DAT 3R=AUX-GER his own other.

towagon gəy. to=pagon kəy 3R=friend DAT His own friend.'

Finally, from the strict point of view of case marking, it is not possible to say that Karo has a subject category for lexical noun phrases in simple clauses. There is no special marking on full noun phrases, and the pronominal marking system does not follow a nominative-accusative pattern. Since all arguments occur preverbally, it is not possible to determine whether the single argument of an intransitive clause should be paired with the agent or the patient of a transitive clause. Thus, word order does not provide a strong argument for the presence of a grammatical subject.

Subjects occur, nevertheless, as an actual category in Karo at the crossclause level, both in clause chaining and in subordination. (A detailed description of how subjects emerge in each of these types of clause combination is provided in sections 4.7.1 and 4.7.2, respectively, below.)

4.3.2 VERB PHRASES

Verb phrases in Karo are predicates based on an auxiliary, an intransitive verb, or a transitive verb. (These are the only three classes of words in Karo which are inflected for mood.) Adverbial phrases and postpositional phrases which occur at the ends of clauses, are not structurally part of verb phrases.

õn	[er	iyõm	noy] _{VP}	[matet] _{Adv.P}	
õn	[et	iyõm	top-t]	[matet]	
lsg	[2sg.poss	father	see-IND1]	[yesterday]	
'I saw your father yesterday.'					

The fact that adverbial phrases and postpositional phrases do not occur inside verb phrases can be seen in the examples below. Both can be negated independently in a focus construction before the nuclear clause.

[t ə r	i ?ke] _{.4dv.P}	ō õn	[a?top] _{VP}
[1)	i?ke]	õn	[a?=top-ap]
[there	NEG]	1sg	[3SG=see-IND2]
sт.			•

'It was not there that I saw it/him.'

[mīn mām i ?ke]_Adv.Ppéŋ[yowarap][mīn mām i ?ke]péŋ[yowat-ap][now X NEG]white.man[leave-IND2]'It was not now that the white man left.'

The few constituents which may occur in a verb phrase are listed and discussed below, in order of occurrence.

- 1. Noun phrase
- 2. Verb (transitive or intransitive) or Auxiliary
- 3. Tense marker
- 4. Negative particle

Noun phrases occur as constituents of verb phrases only when the verb is transitive. The fact that transitive verbs plus their absolutives form a constituent can be seen in the fact that they may appear together at the beginning of sentences in negative focus constructions.

agóa Ip A	[mãygāra	roy	i?ke]	
agóa Ip A	[māygāra	top-t	i?ke]	
shaman	[snake	see-IND1	NEG]	
The chama	n did not see the	cnoko '		

The shaman did not see the snake.

cf.

[mãygãra	toba	i?ke]	agóa Ip A	?et
[māygāra	top-a	i?ke]	agóa IpA	?e-1
[snake	see-GER	NEG]	shaman	AUX-IND1

'Not seeing the snake was what the shaman did.'

In negative focus constructions with intransitive verbs, by contrast, the absolutive noun phrase does not appear at the beginning of the sentence. Instead of the noun phrase, a pronominal clitic is used. This pronominal clitic is always coreferential with the person of the absolutive argument of the auxiliary.

ma Av i t	ken	i Ike	cf.
ma ?w#	ket-t	i Ike	
man	sleep-IND1	NEG	
•The man did i	not sleep.'		

[to=kera	i Ike]	ma ?w#	?et	
[to=ket-a	i?ke]	ma Iwit	?e-1	
[3R=sleep-GER	NEG]	man	AUX-IND1	
'It was not sleeping that the man did.'				

The verb or auxiliary is the only obligatory constituent of a verb phrase. Their morphology is restricted to the occurrence of an inflectional modal suffix and a few derivational prefixes (cf. Chapter 3, section 3.2.2). Examples of verb phrases containing intransitive verbs, transitive verbs and auxiliaries are below.

a **%en** a **%et-t** 3SG=**sleep-IND1** 'He slept.'

agóa lpət wiy agóa lpət wiy-t shaman leave-IND1 'The shaman left.'

õnmāygāratoyõnmāygāratop-t1SGsnakesee-IND1'I saw a/the snake.'

kanãy péŋ?et(...)kanãy péŋ?e-tthen white.manAUX-IND1'Then, the white man (...).'

Verb phrases can also contain tense markers. Two past tense markers, *co* 'simple past' and *kán* 'remote past', and two types of future particles, *yat* and *iga*, both meaning 'simple future', occur as tense markers in Karo. (Tense markers are discussed in detail in section 4.4.)

õnep iycoõnep iy-tco1SG2SG=wait.for-IND1PAST'I waited for you'

owa?pan	a Ipẽya	gán
owa?pat-t	a?pēy-a	kán
l SG=fall.down-IND l	3SG=step-GER	RPAST
'I fell stepping on it l	ong ago'	

õn	omẽn	meropir	yar	i Ike
õn	o=men	peropi-t	yat	i Ike
lsg	1sg=husband	pinch-IND1	FUT	NEG
'I will	not pinch my h	usband.'		

péŋ	ya 7i	toat	mok	pe?	cán	iga
pé ŋ	ya Ii-t	toat	mok	pe?	cát-t	iga
white.man	go.down-IND1	3R.POSS	clothe	CL.FLAT	wash	FUT
'The white ma	an will go dow	n (to the river)	to wash	his cloth	es.'	

Verb phrases are negated by two different particles, *iRe* and *yahmām*. Both particles appear at the end of the verb phrase. Negation is fully discussed in section 4.5 below. Some additional examples of verb phrases containing negation are:

õn	pé ŋ	yati	nãn	i Ike
õn	pé ŋ	yati	nã-n	i?ke
lsg	white.man	like	COP-IND1	NEG
ʻI do	not like the wh	ite man	.'	

taptáynãni îketaptáynã-ni îke3PLfewCOP-IND1NEG'They are not few.'

te ?yoy i ?ke tā́wrem te ?=yop-t i ?ke tā́w=tem 1PL.INCL=live-IND1 NEG far=ADVZ 'We do not live far.'

ewét yahmām e=wé-t yahmām 2sg=cry-IND1 NEG `Do not cry!'

ip	?iya	a Ikay	yahmãm		
ip	?iy-a	a ?=kap-t	yahmãm		
fish	catch-GER	3sg=aux.fut-ind1	NEG		
'He will not catch a fish'					

Evidentials occur at the end of the verb phrase, following other constituents, if any is present. (Evidentials are fully described in Chapter 7.)

at	mãygãra	wĩn	menə
at	mãygãra	wĨ-t	menə
3sg	snake	kill-indl	EVID
•It is w	ondered whet	her he killed th	e snake.'

at	mãygāra	wĩn	nānin	
at	mãygãra	wĩ-t	nānin	
3sg	snake	kill-ind1	EVID	
'He really killed the snake.'				

at	mãygāra	wīn	tə
at	mãygãra	wĨ-l	tə
3sg	snake	kill-ind1	EVID
`He k	illed the snak	e, they say.'	

at	mãygãra	wĩn	igã	
at	mãygãra	wĨ-t	igã	
3sg	snake	kill-md1	EVID	
`He must have killed the snake.'				

at	mäygära	wīn	coke
at	māygāra	wĨ-t	coke
3sg	snake	kill-ind1	ÉVID

'He clearly killed the snake (but nobody saw the dead snake).'

wat	owẽ	ŋa	kət	yat	i Ike	menə
wat	owē	ŋa	kə-i	yat	i Ike	menə
lsg.poss	baby	CL.FEM	walk-IND1	FUT	NEG	EVID
'I wonder whether my baby girl will not walk.'						

4.3.3 POSTPOSITIONAL PHRASES

Two types of postpositional phrases occur in Karo. One type is used to add an oblique (non-required) argument to the clause; the other type is used for emphatic purposes, exclusively with core arguments. Postpositional phrases of both types occur either clause-finally (in basic SOV clauses) or clause-initially (in focus constructions). They differ, nevertheless, in the fact that postpositional phrases with *kõna* can also occur clause-medially, sentence-initially and/or sentence-finally, when emphasis is on the subject of the clause or sentence.

The postpositional phrases which mark oblique cases consist of two elements: a noun phrase and one of a the eleven postpositions. (The complete list of postpositions was given in chapter 3, section 3.1.8.)

abakán	ekəy
a?=pakát-t	e=kəy
3sg=be.angry-IND1	2sg=dat
'He is angry at you.'	

péŋa?wīntágihmãpéŋa?=wĩ-ttágipmãwhite.man3SG=kill-IND1 bowINSTR'the white man killed it with a/the bow.'

a?wiy naco ?erem a?wiy-t naco ?erem 3SG=go-IND1 forest DISP 'He went through the forest.'

oken ka?a ?a? péŋ pe? at oket-t рéŋ ka?a ?a? at pe? 1SG=sleep-IND1 white.man POSS house CL.RD LOC 'I slept at the white man's house.'

pecéptem en et iyom yom pecép=tem en et iyom kom ugly=ADVZ 2SG 2SG father SIMIL 'You are ugly like your father.'

gabenaoyabihmāmga=penaop-ta?=pihmām3SG.FEM=dance-IND13SG=COMIT'She danced with him.'

па Рмәу	ya 7i	ma?ip	? a y		
па Хүэу	ya 7i-t	ma?ip	?ay		
monkey	go.down-IND1	tree	ABL		
'The monkey went down from the tree.'					

 $\Im g$ ina Awaraa Apik $\Im k$ i?=na Awat-aa ?=piklet's1PL.INCL=leave-GER3SG=ALL'Let's leave (go out) to him/it.'

ipcúgəticibətipcúkə-ticipətfishbigwalk-IND1waterINESS'The big fish swam in the water.'

paramu?aowikopparamue=?e-ao=pikopsit.down2SG=AUX-GER1SG=ABESS'Sit down next to me!''Sit down

ci	ba ?pe	bem	wep	owara Ik s ga
ci	ра Гре	pem	o=?e-p	o=para7kək-a
water	edge	ADESS	1sg=aux-ind2	1SG=go.back-GER
'I wen	t back t	o the ed	ge of the river.'	

The postpositional phrases which mark emphatic arguments employ the postposition *kõna*. The noun (or noun phrase) to be emphasized is marked coreferentially in the postpositional phrase by a pronominal argument which is attached to kõna. Depending on the grammatical function of the argument to be emphasized, the postpositional phrase may occur in different places in the clause. If the emphasized noun is the subject (ergative argument of a transitive clause or

absolutive argument of an intransitive clause), the postpositional phrase occurs at the end of the clause, or immediately after the subject³⁶.

õnip?iyokõnaõnip?ip-to=kõna1SGfishcatch-IND11SG=EMPH'I caught the fish.'

õn okõna ip ?iy
õn o=kõna ip ?ip-t
1SG 1SG=EMPH fish catch-IND1
'I caught the fish.'

ŋа	tokõna	ici	an	yat	а Жә у
ŋa	tokõna	ici	at-t	yat	a?=kəy
3sg.fem	3r=emph	water	bring-IND1	FUT	3sg=dat
Sho will be	in a watar ta hi	/:+ '			

'She will bring water to him/it.'

okenokõnao=ket-to=kõna1SG=sleep-IND11SG=EMPH'I slept.'

³⁶ In the examples I have, transitive and intransitive verbs seem to behave differently according to the type of the modal marker they take. Transitive verbs seem to take the indicative marker, whereas intransitive verbs seem to take the gerund marker.

õn	okõna	okera
õn	o=kõna	o=ket-a
1SG	1sg=emph	1SG=sleep-GER
·I slep	ot.'	

Emphatic postpositional phrases can also occur at the ends of sentences when the emphasized argument is the subject.

w әŋ пет	[miririy	?et]	[iʔpéya]
wəŋ=tem	[miririy	?e-t]	[i?=pé=a]
far=ADVZ	[toad	AUX-IND1]	[1PL.INCL=confuse=GER]
From afar, t	he toad confi	ises us,	

[iʔca	macahm ərə ba]	rokõna
[i?=ca	ma-cahmərəp-a]	to=köna
[1PL.INCL=eye	CAUS-haze-GER]	3r=emph
making our sight has	zy.'	

On the other hand, if the noun to be emphazised is the transitive absolutive (i.e. the patient of a transitive clause), the postpositional phrase occurs at the beginning of the clause. In these cases, the impersonal pronominal marker i= occurs attached to the transitive verb root.

ip	tokõna	õn	yiy
ip	to=kōna	õn	i=?iy-t
fish	3r=emph	1sg	3IMP=catch-IND1
'Fish	I caught.'		

4.3.4 ADVERBIAL PHRASES

Adverbial phrases in Karo can be classified into four types: 1) time (e.g. yesterday, long ago, etc.), 2) manner (e.g. beautifully, poorly, etc.), 3) place (e.g. here, over there, etc.) and 4) quantification (one, once, two, twice, many times, etc.). More than one adverbial phrase may occur in a clause. The fact that they are independent adverbial phrases, and not components of a single larger adverbial phrase, can be seen in the examples below, where one (and only one) adverbial phrase can be focused. Other adverbial phrases must remain in their canonical position, at the end of the clause.

oyãn	mẽganape	mĩn		
oyā-n	mẽganape	mĩn		
1SG=be-IND1	here	now		
'I live here now.'				

at	pé ŋ	wīn	pa ?piktem	miy	mãm
at	pé ŋ	wĩ-n	pa?pik=tem	miy	mām
3sg	white.man	kill-IND1	many=ADVZ	long.ago	X
•He k	illed many me	n long ago.'			

mẽganape	õn	ameko top	matet
mẽganape	õn	ameko top-ap	matet
here	lsG	jaguar see-IND2	yesterday
'Here I saw	the/a jag	guar yesterday.'	

pecéptem?epmīnpecép=tem?e-pmīnugly=ADVZ(2SG)AUX-IND2now'In an ugly way you did (it) now.'

An adverbial phrase may contain the following constituents:

- 1. Adverb (or Adverb + mam)
- 2. Negative particle
- 3. Emphatic particle

In the majority of cases, the adverb (or the adverb plus the particle $m\tilde{a}m^{37}$), is the only constituent of an adverbial phrase:

wat	арәу	ŋa	pepat	cək	mām
wat	ар <i>ә</i> у	ŋa	pepak-t	cək	mãm
1SG.POSS	grandmother	CL.FEM	wake.up-IND1	eariy	X
'My grandmo	ther woke up e	arly.'			

õn a îtoy pấttem
õn a îtop-t pất=tem
ISG 3SG=see-IND1 beautiful=ADVZ
'I saw it nicely.'

³⁷ The meaning of the particle *mãm* is not yet completely understood.

agóa Ip A	pé ŋ	wĩn	pa?piktem		
agóa Ip A	pé ŋ	w ī-n	pa?pik=tem		
shaman	white.man	kill-IND1	many=ADVZ		
'The shaman killed many white men.'					

The negative and/or the emphatic particles occur only in cases where the adverb is in focus. In these cases, the whole adverbial phrase occurs focused at the beginning of the clause.

tẽna	i ?ke	та Грәу	ici	arap
tẽna	i?ke	тагрәу	ic i	at-ap
now	NEG	woman	water	bring-IND2
'It was	s not no	ow that the w	oman bro	ught water.'

pấttem	i?ke	ар	towerow <i>i</i> ya	
pấttem	i?ke	a?=?e-p	to=werowiy-a	
beautiful	NEG	3sg=aux-ind	2 3R=speak-GER	
'It was not beautifully that he spoke.'				

matet	i?ke	rokōna	Petip	?ер	towetõa
matet	i?ke	to=kōna	Petip	?е-р	to=petõ-a
yesterday	NEG	3r=emph	Petip	AUX-IND2	3R=tell-GER

'It was not yesterday that Petip told it (the story).'

In non-emphatic occurrences of adverbial phrases, the negative particle occurs inside the verb phrase, and the adverb occurs alone. The clause, then, has a different meaning:

ma?pəyiciani?kerēnama?pəyiciat-ti?ketēnawomanwaterbring-IND1NEGnow'The woman did not bring water now.'

a ?wero wiy i ?ke bắttem
a ?=wero wiy-t i ?ke pắt=tem
3SG=speech go-IND1 NEG beautiful=ADVZ
'He did not speak beautifully.'

Petip	petõn	i Ike	matet
Petip	petõ-n	i Ike	matet
Petip	tell-IND1	NEG	yesterday
'Petip	did not told (th	ne story) yesterday'

Sequences of adverbial phrases may occur in various orders, and may include different subtypes of adverbials (place, manner, time).

ma?w#	ip	?iy	matet	cagárokômnem
ma ?w#	ip	?iy-l	matet	cagárokõm=tem
man	fish	catch-IND1	yesterday	two=ADVZ
'The man c	aught tw	o fish yesterda	y.'	

ma Pw i t	ip	2 i y	cagárokōmnem	matet	
ma ?w#	ip	?iy−t	cagárokômnem	matet	
man	fish	catch-IND1	two=ADVZ	yesterday	
'The man caught two fish yesterday.'					

ar	atati	ba?piktem	me ŋik	to	
at	a?=ta-ti-t	pa?pik=tem	me ŋɨk	to	
3sg	3sg=com-go-ind1	lots.of=ADVZ	there	X	
'He brought lots of it over there.'					

Postpositional phrases usually occur immediately after the verb phrase. As a group, adverbial phrases thus tend to occur at the ends of clauses.

war	owã ŋ a	bakán	ok <i>ə</i> y		
wat	owã ŋ a	pakát-t	o=kəy		
lsg=poss	mother CL.FEM	angry-IND1	1sg=dat		
'My mother was angry at me.'					

war	owã	ŋа	bakán	okəy	matet
wat	owã	ŋa	pakát-t	o=kəy	matet
lsg=poss	mothe	CL.FEM	angry-IND1	1sg=dat	yesterday
'My mother	was ang	ry at me yes	terday.'		

war	owã ŋ	ра	bakán	okəy
wat	owã ŋ	a	pakát-t	o=kəy
lsg=poss	mother C	L.FEM	angry-IND l	1sg=dat
'My mother	was angry	at me		

yesterday	at the white m	an's hou	ıse.'		
yesterday	white.man	POSS	house	CL.RD	LOC
matet	péŋ	at	ka?a	? a ?	pe?
matet	péŋ	at	ka ?a	? a	pe?

4.4 TENSE

Tense in Karo is marked only analytically. Past tense is marked by two particles and future is marked by two particles and one auxiliary. None of these markers is obligatory in the sentences of Karo. Their presence serves to reinforce the past or future occurrence of an event or state. In the sections below I describe each of these tenses in detail.

4.4.1 PAST

Two particles are employed in Karo to signal that an action or state occurred in the past, with the present moment as the point of reference: co, used for actions in the recent or simple past, and kán, used for actions in the remote or mythological past. The cut-off point for the use of one or another particle seems to be vague. Examples of kán were found to describe situations occurring 10-15 years before, a century earlier, and in mythic times.

púŋ	wet		<i>C0</i>			
púŋ	o=?e-l	,	<i>co</i>			
shoot	1SG=A	UX-IND1	PAST			
'I shot						
eken			ahyə		<i>C0</i>	bättem
e=ket-	t		ahyə		<i>co</i>	pất=tem
2sg=sl	eep-IND	01	INTERR	Ł	PAST	beautiful=ADVZ
'Did y	ou sleep	o well?'				
õn	ĩriŋ	macéri		gán		
õn	ĩriŋ	ma-céri-t		kán		
lsg	girl	CAUS-heal-IND	1	RPAST		

'I healed the girl (long ago).'

co and kán may co-occur with semantically compatible time adverbials.

iyõmŋencomatetiyõmket-tcomatetfathersleep-IND1PASTyesterdayfatherslept yesterday'

i ?yat	ya îmo	ci	ká?	?or	i?ke w ere l	m ŋán
i Pyat	ya Imo	ci	ká?	?0-t	i ?ke w ere l	m kán
1pl.incl	sweet.potato	water	CL.CCV	eat-IND1	NEG first	ly RPAST
'In the begin	nning we did not	eat swe	eet potato	soup.'		

toto	ibetõ	miy	mãm	ŋán
toto	i=betõ	miy	mãm	kán
grandfather	3IMP-tell	long.ago	X	RPAST
'It was grand	father who to	ld (the story) le	ong ago.'	

Only the past marker *co* was found to co-occur with future markers, meaning a future with reference to the past. Two types of futures occur with *co*, the auxiliary future *-kap* and the particle *yat*.

war	ic i	?ara	okay	CO	
wat	ic i	Pat-a	o=kap-t	<i>co</i>	
lsg.poss	water	bring-GER	1sg=aux.fut-ind1	PAST	
'I was going to bring my water.'					

iyõm	ikap	towenaoba	<i>co</i>
iyõm	i=kap-ap	to=penaop-a	co
father	3IMP=AUX.FUT-IND2	3R=dance-GER	PAST
'Dad v	vas going to dance.'		

õncīmyegatyatcoõncīmyega-tyatco1SGmeathunt-IND1FUTPAST'I was going to hunt.'

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

õn	owirap	tin	yat	CO		
õn	o=wirap	t it -t	yat	CO		
lsg	lsG=food	cook-IND1	FUT	PAST		
'I was going to cook my food.'						

It is common in Karo to find occurrences of both past markers in the same clause³⁸. In all of the cases found so far, the simple past marker *co* occurs before the remote past marker *kán*.

wat	kanã	rakəga	wet	CO	kán	
wat	kanã	takək-a	o=?e-t	co	kán	
1 SG.POSS	thing	COMIT-walk-GER	1sg=aux-i	NDI	PAST	RPAST
'I had my thin	ngs long	g ago.'				

õn	opit	тәу	mãm	CO	kán
õn	o=pi-t	тәу	mãm	co	kán
lsG	lsg=perforate-IND1	long	Х	PAST	RPAST
'I took the vaccine long ago'					

4.4.2 FUTURE

There are three different ways in which future time is indicated in Karo: 1) by means of a future auxiliary *kap*, 2) by means of a particle *yat*, and 3) by means of another particle *iga*.

³⁸ I am not certain of the specific meaning of this type of occurrence besides the clear past meaning.

4.4.2.1 THE FUTURE AUXILIARY KAP

The future auxiliary *kap* is employed to indicate that an event is about to occur ('immediate or proximate future'). *kap* occurs with the /-p/ and /-t/ indicative moods, under the usual circumstances: /-p/ is used when an element of the clause is put into focus, and /-t/ is employed in all other environments.

In constructions with the auxiliary *kap*, the verb which specifies the main action or event (either a transitive or intransitive verb) always occurs in a separate clause and takes the non-finite form of the gerund. (*kap* forms a verb phrase on its own.)

Like other constructions involving dependent clauses, future constructions with *kap* show behavioral evidence of a subject category. The subject of the future auxiliary is always coreferential with the subject of the associated full verb. The marking of the subject of the non-finite verb is expressed with a special coreferential proclitic if the verb is intransitive, and omitted if the verb is transitive.

In the first type of construction, the intransitive verb in the gerund form occurs first, followed by a Noun Phrase + AUXILIARY FUTURE, which receives the indicative mood marking.

tokera [ma?wit cú] kay to=ket-a [ma?wit cú] kap-t 3R=sleep-GER [man big] AUX.FUT-IND1 'The big man is going to sleep.'



•

In cases where the verb is transitive, a personal proclitic is also attached to it, but it marks the absolutive argument of the sentence. The ergative argument, which is always coreferential with the person of the subject of the future auxiliary, is omitted.

			•			
(Ø)	mãygãra	wĩa	[wat	owẽ]	kay	
(Ø)	māygāra	wĩ-a	[wat	owē]	kap-t	
(Ø)	snake	kill-ger	[1SG.POSS	child]	AUX.FUT-IND1	
'My son is going to kill a/the snake.'						

	······································		
(Ø)	a?toba	cúrem	a 7k ay
(Ø)	a?=toba	cúrem	a ?=kap-t
(Ø)	3sg=see-ind1	big=advz	3sg=aux.fut-ind1
'He is	going to see it	well.'	

Future constructions with *kap* may also be negated with the negative particle *i*?*ke*. In these cases, the negative particle occurs in the clause which contains the non-finite verb (either intransitive or transitive).

tokera	i %e	[ma ?wit	cú]	gay
to=ket-a	i Ike	[ma?wit	cú]	kap-t
3R=sleep-GEF	R NEG	(man	big]	AUX.FUT-IND1
(T1). :	•		,	

'The big man is not going to sleep.'

owiya	i Ike	okay
o=wiy-a	i Ike	o=kap-t
1sg=leave-GER	NEG	1sg=AUX.FUT-IND1
'I am not going to l	eave.'	

				•		
(Ø)	mãygãra	wĩa	i Ike	[war	owẽ]	gay
(Ø)	mãygãra	wĨ-a	i Ike	[wat	owẽ]	kap-t
(Ø)	snake	kill-ger	NEG	[1sg.poss	child]	AUX.FUT-IND1
'My :	son is not goir	ng to kill a/the	snake.'			

		<u> </u>				
(Ø)	a Noba	i Ike	cú rem	a Ikay		
(Ø)	a?=top-a	i Ike	cú=tem	a?=kap-t		
(Ø)	3SG=see-IND	I NEG	big=advz	3sg=aux.fut-ind1		
'He is not going to see it well.'						

4.4.2.2 THE FUTURE PARTICLE YAT

The second type of future is marked by the particle *yat*, which is employed to mark simple future. In constructions with *yat*, the main verb or auxiliary takes the indicative mood form. *yat* then occurs at the end of the clause.

ameko cúya Awanyatameko cúya Awat-tyatjaguar bigleave.IND1FUT'The big jaguar will leave.'

õna îtoyyatõna îtop-tyat1SG3SG=see-IND1 FUT'I will see him/it.'

yat also occurs referring to nouns in noun phrases, meaning [future N].

watka?a?ayatwatka?a?a?yat1SG.POSShouseCL.RDFUT'My future house.'

a?eey **.j**a yat a?=cey **.j**a yat 3SG=wife CL.FEM FUT 'his future wife'

The future particle *yat* may also occur with the negative particle *i Re*. In these cases, the latter particle follows the former.

ameko cú	ya ?wan	nyat	i Ike		
ameko cú	ya ?wat-t	yat	i Ike		
jaguar big	g leave.IND1	FUT	NEG		
'The big jaguar will not leave.'					

õn	a'toy	yar	i Ike		
õn	a?=top-t	yat	i ?k e		
lsg	3sg=see-ind	l fut	NEG		
'I will not see him/it.'					

4.4.2.3 THE FUTURE PARTICLE IGA

The last type of future employs the particle *iga*, and is used to mark simple future exclusively in negative-interrogative clauses³⁹. In these clauses, the negative particle *taykit* occurs first, followed by the transitive or intransitive verb in a finite form with indicative marking.

taykirata?toyigataykitata?=top-tigaNEG3SG3SG=see-IND1FUT'Isn't he going to see it/him?'

³⁹ I have found a few examples where *iga* is also employed in complex sentences with purposive meaning (cf. the examples below), but at present I do not have knowledge of this use in other types of complex clauses (temporal and/or cause). Some of the few examples I found are:

oya Awara o=ya Awar-a ISG=leave-GER `I am going to le	<i>okay</i> <i>o=kap-l</i> lsG=FU ave to sle	т сер'	oken o=ket-t l SG=sle	ep-ind l	iga iga FUT	or
oya Awan o=ya Awat-t ISG-leave-INDI `I will leave to sl	nyat yat FUT eep'	oken o=ket-t ISG=slee	ep-IND l	iga iga FUT		
oya?wara o=ya?war-a ISG=leave-GER `I am going to le	okay o=kap-t ISG=FU ave to see	r-IND l e him/it'	a îtoy a î=top- I SG=sle	t ep-IND l	iga iga FUT	or
oya?wan o=ya?wat-t ISG-leave-IND1 'I will leave to se	<i>nyar</i> <i>yat</i> FUT ee him/it'	a itoy a ?=top- 3SG=see	t -IND l	iga iga FUT		

taykir	a Iken	iga		
taykit	a?=ket-t	iga		
NEG	3sg=sleep-ind1	FUT		
'Isn't he going to sleep?'				

4.5 NEGATION

Negation in Karo is marked by means of three different particles, *i?ke*, *yahmām*, and *taykit*. Each particle occurs with a different type of clause and is described in detail in the subsections below.

4.5.1 THE NEGATIVE PARTICLE 1?KE

The negative particle *i*%*e* is the most frequent. It appears in declarative and future clauses. In declarative clauses, *i*%*e* occurs in different places of the clause, depending on the scope of the negation. When its scope is over ergative or absolutive noun phrases, adverbial phrases, or postpositional phrases, these phrases occur in focus position at the beginning of the clause followed by the negative particle *i*%*e*. The different occurrences of *i*%*e* with different types of constituents in a clause are described in the items below.

1) When the scope of negation is over the whole clause (or proposition), the negative particle occurs after the verb phrase:

oken	i Ike
oket-t	i Ike
l SG=sleep-ind1	NEG
'I did not sleep.'	

arotoyi %ato=top-ti %3SG1SG=see-IND1 NEG'He/it did not see me.'

2) When the scope of negation is over the ergative argument, the negative particle occurs immediately after it, at the beginning of the clause:

[õn i ?ke] mãygāra roy [õn i ?ke] mãygāra top-t [1SG NEG] snake see-IND1 'It wasn't me who saw the snake.'

[ar	owē	rab	i ?k e]	ewirup	?ot
[at	owē	tap	i ?k e]	e=wirup	?0-t
[3sg.poss	child]	ASSOC	NEG	2sG=food	eat-IND1
'It wasn't his children who ate your food.'					

3) When the scope of negation is over the absolutive argument, the absolutive argument appears in focus position at the beginning of the clause followed by the negative particle *i*?ke. The verb (transitive or intransitive) takes the impersonal proclitic i= and the unmarked form:

[mãygãra i îke] õn itop [mãygãra i îke] õn itop [snake NEG] 1SG 31MP=see 'It wasn't the/a snake that I saw.'

[na îto cú i îke] at iwî [na îto cú i îke] at iwî [tapir big NEG] 3SG 3IMP=kill 'It wasn't a big tapir that he killed.'

[ēn i?ke] ŋa icát [ēn i?ke] ŋa i=cát [2SG NEG] 3SG.FEM 3IMP=wash 'It wasn't you that she washed.'

[õn i?ke] at icapé [õn i?ke] at icapé [1SG NEG] 3SG 31MP=beat 'It was not me that he beat.'

[ma ?pəypấti?ke]iya ?wat[ma ?pəypấti?ke]i=ya ?wat[womanbeautifulNEG]3IMP=leave'It wasn't the beautiful woman who left.'

[õn i?ke] iket [õn i?ke] iket [1SG NEG] 3IMP=sleep 'It wasn't me who slept.'

4) When the scope of negation is over the postpositional phrase, this phrase appears in focus position at the beginning of the clause followed by the negative particle. The auxiliary 2e with the -p indicative mood occurs after the [postpositional phrase + NEG], followed by a transitive or intransitive verb in the gerund form. The subject of the auxiliary is coreferential with the subject of the transitive or intransitive verb:

owakán	i Ike	ekəy	
o=pakát-t	i Pke	e=k ə y	
1SG=be.angry.IND1	NEG	2sg=dat	
'I am not angry with	you.'		cf.

[ekəy	i?ke]	wep	owakára	
[e=kəy	i ?ke]	о=?е-р	o=pakát-a	
[2sg=dat	NEG]	1sg=aux-ind2	1sG=be.angry-GER	
'It is not with you that I am angry'				

õn	ahoy	i Ike	at	ka ?a	?a	pe?
õn	a?=top-t	i?ke	at	ka?a	?a?	pe?
1sg	3SG=see-IND1	NEG	3SG.POSS	house	CL.RD	LOC
'I did not see him/it at his house.'						

[at	ka?a	?а	pe ?	i Re]	wep	a Itoba
[at	ka ?a	?a?	pe?	i Ike]	o=?e-p	a?=top-a
[3sg.poss	house	CL.RD	LOC	NEG]	1sg=aux-ind2	3SG=see-GER
'It was not at his house that I saw him/it.'						

cf.

5) When the scope of negation is over the adverbial phrase, the adverbial phrase is also focused, and the same changes described above for the postpositional phrase occur:

pấtemi ?kewebokera40pất=temi ?keo=?e-po=ket-abeautiful=ADVZNEG1SG=AUX-IND21SG=sleep-GER'It was not nicely that I slept.'

mekõm	i Ike	i Pyat	kotigap	miy	mãm
mekõ m	i %e	i Pyat	kotiga-p	miy	mãm
like.this	NEG	IPL.INCL	say-IND2	long.ago	x

'It is/was not like this that ours (relatives) use to tell in old times.'

6) In predicate adjective constructions, when the scope of negation falls on the whole predication, the negative particle occurs immediately after the Adjective + Adverbializer:

pấttem	i Ike	õn
pất=te m	i Ike	õn
beautiful=ADVZ	NEG	l sg
'I am not beautiful.'		

⁴⁰ A construction with similar meaning where no auxiliary occurs is: oken i ?ke pấttem oket-t i ?ke pất=tem ISG=sleep-INDI NEG beautiful=ADVZ 'I did not sleep nicely/well.'

pa?piktem	i Ike	war	owẽ	rap
pa?pik=tem	i Ike	wat	owē	tap
many=ADVZ	NEG	lsg.poss	child	ASSOC
[•] My children	are not	many (childr	en).'	

On the other hand, when the scope of negation falls on the noun described, the noun is put into focus, followed by the negative particle and the adjective + adverbializer:

ar i ?ke pấttem cf. *pấttem at i ?ke at i ?ke pất=tem 3SG NEG beautiful=ADVZ 'It is not him who is beautiful.'

war owe rab i ?ke ba?piktem cf. *pa?piktem wat owe tap i ?ke
wat owe tap i ?ke pa?pik=tem
lSG.POSS child ASSOC NEG many=ADVZ
`It is not my children who are many.'

7) Finally, when the negation occurs in a predicate nominal construction, the negative particle occurs at the end of the predicative noun phrase:

ma?pəy i?ke a?nān ma?pəy i?ke a?=nā-n woman NEG 3SG=COP-IND1 'He/it is not a woman/female.'

péŋmecéb i?kea?mãnpéŋpecép i?kea?mã-nwhite.manuglyNEG3SG=COP-IND1'He is not an ugly white man.'

In future clauses, *i ke* also occurs in different places, depending on the type of future marker. (A complete description of future markers was provided in section 4.4.2 above.)

When *i*?ke is in a future clause with the auxiliary future kap, it occurs at the end of the non-finite verb phrase.

okera	i Ike	okay		
o=ket-a	i Ne	o=kap-t		
l SG=sleep-GER	NEG	lsg=aux.fut-indl		
'I am not going to sleep.'				

cīm cára i îke a îkay cīm cát-a i îke a ?=kap-t meat wash-GER NEG 3SG=AUX.FUT-IND1 'He is not going to wash his prey.'

When *i*?ke is in a future clause with the future particle yat, it occurs immediately after yat.
a?wiy yat i?ke a?=wiy-t yat i?ke 3SG=go.out-IND1 FUT NEG 'He will not go out.'

õn a îtoy yat i îke pấttem
õn a î=top-t yat i îke pất=tem
1SG 3SG=see-IND1 FUT NEG beautiful=ADVZ
'I will not see it/him nicely.'

4.5.2 THE NEGATIVE PARTICLE YAHMAM

The negative particle *yahmām* is employed in imperatives and information questions.

In imperative clauses, the main verb takes the indicative mood form and the negative particle follows it. (In unmarked imperative clauses the verb appears in the gerund form.)

ewét yahmãm e=wé-t yahmãm 2SG=cry-IND1 NEG 'Don't cry!'

karokéranyahmãmkaro=kérat-tyahmãm2PL=sleep-IND1NEG'Don't sleep (you PL.)!'

ayowan	yahmãm
a?=yowat-t	yahmãm
3sg=leave-ind1	NEG
'Don't leave it.'	

cĩm	yegat	yahmãm	tếna
cĩm	yek-at	yahmãm	tẽna
meat	look.for-IND1	NEG	now
'Don'	t hunt now!'		

In information questions, the negative particle occurs after the main verb or auxiliary, which appears in the indicative mood⁴¹:

kõm	ar	otoy	yahmãm
kõm	at	o=top-t	yahmãm
how	3sg	1SG=see-IND1	NEG
·How ((come)	he did not see i	me?'

kõm	péŋ	?et	nyahmãm	apik
kõm	pé ŋ	?e-t	yahmãm	a?=pik
how	white.man	AUX-IND1	NEG	3sg=all
'How	(come) the wl	hite man did n	ot go with him/	'it?'

⁴¹ Some speakers seem to employ the gerund form -a on the verb of the second clause as in: kanape wep omatia yahmãm kanape o=?e-p o=ma-ti-a yahmãm here(?) 1SG=AUX-IND2 1SG=CAUS-go-GER NEG '1 did not come here.'

When an auxiliary plus a transitive or intransitive verb co-occur in question information clauses, they are both marked with the indicative mood marker, but the auxiliary has the allomorph /-p/.

k <i>i</i> ganape	ap	na Ito	roy	yahmãm
kiganape	a?=?e-p	na Ito	lop-l	yahmãm
where	3sg=aux-ind2	tapir	see-IND1	NEG
Where did he	not see the tapir?'			

kiganape	ep	eken	yahmãm
k <i>i</i> ganape	e=?e-p	e=ket-t	yahmãm
where	2sg=aux-ind2	2sg=sleep-ind1	NEG
'Where did	you not sleep?'		

4.5.3 THE NEGATIVE PARTICLE TAYKIT

The last type of negative marker is the particle *taykit*, which is used in yes/no questions. In these constructions, *taykit* occurs at the beginning of the clause, and the main verb appears in the gerund form.

taykir	i?wirup	toba	
taykit	i?=wirup	top-a	
NEG	1PL.INCL=food	see-GER	
'Aren't/weren't (you) watching our food?'			

taykir	ekera	et	ka?a	?a	pe?	
taykit	e=ket-a	et	ka?a	?a?	pe?	
NEG	2sg=sleep-ger	2sg.poss	house	CL.RD	LOC	
Weren't you sleeping at your house?'						

taykit	péŋ	ekiga
taykit	pé ŋ	e=kiga-a
NEG	white.man	2sg=hold-ger
`Isn't/v	wasn't the whit	e man holding you?'

taykit may also co-occur with the future marker iga, producing:

taykit	eyamoy	iga		
taykit	e=yamoy-t	iga		
NEG	2sg=bathe-IND1	FUT		
'Aren't you going to bathe?'				

taykit	ebia?an	iga	miririy	kəy		
taykit	e=pia?at-t	iga	miririy	kəy		
NEG	2sg=be.afraid-IND1	FUT	toad	DAT		
'Aren't you going to be afraid of the toad?'						

194

4.6 REPORTED SPEECH

Only direct speech occurs in Karo. Direct speech is marked by a noun phrase, which specifies the speaker, followed by 2e 'to say/do' in the indicative mood form. The sequence NP + ?e occurs at the end of the quotation, generally in a separate intonation break. A postpositional phrase or an adverbial phrase may also occur following the sequence [NP + ?e].

тәу	yét	та Грәу	ŋa	wa Iye	cán	nã	makira,
тәу	yét	та грәу	ŋa	wa Iye	cán	nã	ma-k#-a
then	this	woman	CL.FEM	AUX	fire	CL	CAUS-fire-GER
"Then this woman started a fire",							

my father said (to me yesterday).'						
1sg.poss	father AUX	-IND1 (1SG=DAT	yesterday)			
wat	iyõm ?et	(o=kəy	matet)			
war	iyõm ?et	(okəy	matet)			

4.7 CLAUSE COMBINING

Clauses in Karo can be combined in two ways to form a sentence: 1) by juxtaposition of two or more clauses (clause chaining) and 2) by a complex construction of two clauses where one is more dependent on the other (subordination). Clause chaining differs from subordination in two ways: 1) clause chaining does not employ clause connectors, whereas clause subordination does; 2) chained clauses always share the same subject, whereas subordination may involve different subjects.

Clause chaining itself differs from serial verb constructions in two ways: 1) the different clauses being combined correspond to different events and not to a single event, a feature of clause chaining and not of verb serialization, and 2) there is a clear boundary among the clauses being combined (indicated by modal suffixes attached to the verbs or predicates), whereby a clause can be easily recognized as finite in oppositon to other non-finite clauses. (Finite clauses take the indicative modal suffix –t while non-finite clauses take the gerund modal suffix –a.)

4.7.1 CLAUSE CHAINING

Two or more clauses in Karo may be conjoined to form a sentence. The number of clauses in a sentence can be measured by the number of predicates with modal suffixes. Thus, an argument (either nominal or pronominal) plus an auxiliary alone may form a clause, since the auxiliary has a modal suffix attached to it⁴².

Only one of the conjoined clauses has finite verbal morphology, which is indicated by the presence of the indicative suffixes -t or -p on the verb or auxiliary. Other clauses, if more than one is present, are non-finite, and their verbal morphology carries the gerund suffix -a. Generally, finite clauses appear last in the chain.

⁴² Further evidence that only these two constituents form a clause comes from the fact that they can stand alone and show the same syntactic behavior as other simple clauses.

Clause chaining, furthermore, exhibits a clear grammatical nominativeaccusative pattern. In order for conjoined clauses to occur in Karo they must share the same subject: non-finite clauses always have the same subject as finite clauses, whether intransitive or transitive. (When there is a change in subject, another, new, clause is started, and its predicate is in the finite form.)

There are two ways in which the same subject of a non-finite clause in Karo clause chaining is marked. If the non-finite clause is intransitive, its (absolutive) subject is marked by the special set of coreferential pronominal clitics, whereas if the non-finite clause clause is transitive, the (ergative) subject is omitted. The sentence below exemplifies both ways of marking same subjects in clause chaining.

Ø	ci	ba?pe	mawiga,			
Ø	ci	pa?pe	ma-wik-a			
Ø	water	edge	CAUS-be.dirty-GER			
'(He) dirtied the edge of the water,'						

Ø	ci	mininĩ	?a	mõm	mawiya,	
Ø	ci	mininĩ	?a	mõm	ma-wiy-a	
Ø	water	bubble	CL.RD	only	CAUS-go.out-GER	
'(he) made the water bubbles to come up,'						

Ø ŋaramãya,

- Ø ŋa≕ta-mãy-a
- Ø 3SG.FEM=COMIT-bring-GER

'(he) took her (in),'

Ø ŋa?óa,
Ø ŋa=?ó-a
Ø 3SG.FEM=eat-GER
'(he) ate her,'

toyãy ?a binõ ya, to=yãy ?a? pinõ ya-a 3R=tooth CL.RD noise leave-GER '(he) cracked his own teeth'

at.

a?=?e-t

3sg=aux-ind1

'He (the alligator) did.'

A mixture of clause chaining and subordination (see section below on subordintation) may also occur in Karo sentences.

i?tə ma?pəy ma?ã i?ke nãnin, ŋa cet i?tə ma?pəy ma?ã-a i?ke nãnin na cet **1PL.INCL** woman CL.FEM name call-GER NEG **EVID** 'We really cannot call the woman's name,

`when	we wal	k through the forest.'		
forest	DISP	1PL.INCL= AUX	TIME	1PL.INCL=walk-GER
naco	?erem	i=?e	kanãp	i?=kək-a
naco	?erem	ye	kanãp	i?kəga

4.7.2 SUBORDINATION

Two clauses may also combine in such a way that one clause is dependent (or subordinated) on another. In Karo, subordination is a process whereby a connection between two clauses is established, where one (dependent) clause bears some sort of circumstantial relation with another (main) clause. There is always a connector (conjunction) to mark the relation of dependency, and the verb in the subordinate clause is always non-finite.

Three types of circumstantial relations can be differentiated among Karo clauses⁴³, marked by three types of connectors 1) time, marked with *kanãp* 'after, while, when'; 2) purpose, marked with *nãt* 'in order to/for'; and 3) cause, marked with *yaye* 'because'.

⁴³ I have found a few examples of a possible fourth type of subordination, marked with *wetik*, *yatik* or simply *tik*. Its precise meaning remains undetermined. (It may be a conditional subordinator.) In these examples, I observed little formal distinction between main (finite) and subordinate (non-finite) clauses, since the predicates in both are marked with the same indicative modal suffix *-t*: *abakán ekæy [natoy tik to ?wa]*

		2.9			
a?=pakát-t	e=kəy	[ŋa=te	op-t	tik	to=?e-a]
3SG=be.angry-IND1	2SG=DAT	[3SG.FEM=see.IND]		х	3R=AUX-GER]
'He would be angry at	you because/if? y	ou did not	(come to) see her	,	-
owakán	ekəy	tēna	[otoy	tik	wa]
o=pakát-t	e=kəy	tēna	[o=top-t	tik	o=?e-a]
ISG=be.angry-IND1	2SG=DAT	now	[ISG=see.IND]	x	ISG=AUX-GER]

'I would be angry at you if? you did not (come to) see me'

4.7.2.1 TIME

clitics⁴⁴.

sentences.

Constructions which express a temporal relation between events in a sentence are marked by the subordinator *kanãp*. This relation can be either simultaneous (e.g. 'while/when doing this s/he did that') or sequential (e.g. 'after doing this s/he did that'). The verb in the subordinate clause always takes the gerund form, while that in the main clause can take either the indicative or the unmarked form.

oya?wan	a Nera	kanãp		
o=ya?wat-t	a?=ket-a	kanãp		
lsg=leave-indl	3sg=sleep-ger	TIME		
'I left when he slept.'				

õn	artop	mãm	at	towirap	<i>?o</i>	kanãp	
õn	a?=top	mãm	at	to=wirap	<i>?o</i>	kanãp	
lsg	3sg=see	х	3sg	3R=food	eat.GER	TIME	
'I stay	I stayed watching it/him while he ate his food.'						

As in clause chaining, when the clauses in complex sentences share the same subject, the subject of the dependent clause is expressed in a special way. Absolutive subjects of intransitive clauses are represented by special coreferential

⁴⁴ Although at first sight this type of marking could be thought as a switch-reference system, in fact it is not. When different subjects occur they do not occur in clause a chain, but in different

		•		
péŋ	ya Xwan	[to wéya	kanãp]	
péŋ	ya ?wat-t	[to= wé-a	kanãp]	
white.man	leave-IND1	[3R= cry-GER	TIME]	
'The white man left when he cried.'				

õn	a?wīn	[owepak-a	kanãp	<i>.</i>]
õn	a?=wĩ-n	[o= pepak-a	kanãp	J
lsG	3sg=kill	[1SG=wake.u	p-GER	TIME]
ʻI kill	ed it/him whe	en I woke up.'		

Ergative subjects of transitive clauses are not overtly specified in the subordinate clause at all.

wĩt wĩaw a?wa?ye [Ø at chapéu ká? to kanãp] wĩt wĩaw a?=wa?ye [Ø at chapéu ká? top kanãp] whistlewhistle3sG=AUX [(3sG) 3sG.POSS hat CL.CCV see TIME] 'He whistled when he saw his hat.'



When the subjects are not coreferential, either a new overt subject (with transitive verbs) or a normal, non-coreferential pronominal clitic (with intransitive verbs) occurs.

♦ owe?cin [at oto kanãp]
o=pe?cit-t [at o=top-a kanãp]
ISG=run-IND1 [3SG 1SG=see-GER TIME]
`I ran when he/it saw me.'

mõma ?wa ?ye[péŋmanẽyakanãp]mõma ?=wa ?ye[péŋmanẽya-akanãp]look3sG=AUX[white.manwhole stand.up-GERTIME]'He looked when the man entirely stood up.'

↓					
ŋа	otoy	i Ike	[okera	kanãp]	
ђа	o=top-t	i Ike	[o=ket-a	kanāp]	
3sg.fem	3SG=see-IN	ID1 NEG	[1sG=sleep-GER	TIME]	
She did not	t see me when	I slept.'			

¥				
õn	a Itoy	[agóa ʔpət	a?wĩ	kanãp]
õn	a?=top-t	[agóa?pət	a?=wĩ	kanãp]
1sg	3sg=see-ind1	[shaman	3sg=kill-ger	TIME]
'I saw it/him when the shaman killed it/him.'				

4.7.2.2 **PURPOSE**

In purposive constructions, the event represented in the subordinate clause serves as the purpose for the event represented in the main clause. The purposive clause is marked by the conjunction $n\tilde{a}t$ and occurs after the main clause. The verb in a purposive clause is unmarked for mood. The auxiliary 2e also occurs at the end of the whole sentence, in the gerund form. The subject of this auxiliary is always coreferential with the subject of the main clause.

▼	•				<u></u>	-
a ?ti	[Ø	toat	maca?#	wĩ	nãt	to?wa]
a ?ti-t	[Ø]	toat	maca?#	wĩ	nãt	to= ?e-a]
3sg=come.IND1	[(3 \$G)	3sg.poss	animal	kill	PURP	3R= AUX-GER]
'He came to kill his animals.'						

▼	•		-
oya Awan	[oca łyōk	nãt	wa]
o=ya?wat-t	[o= ca?yõk	nãt	o =?e-a]
1sg=leave-ind1	[1sG=be.drunk	PURP	1SG=AUX-GER]
'I left to get drunk.'			

In some other cases, it may happen that the purposive clause occurs first in the sentence, when highlighting is desired. In these cases, the purposive clause is the main clause, since its verb shows the indicative verb mood, and the other clause is the dependent, since its verb occurs in the gerund form and has the special coreferential clitic pronoun.

[at	toat	maca?it	wīn	∎ nãt]	totia	
[at	toat	maca?it	wĩ-n	nãt]	to=ti-a	
[3sg	3SG.POSS	animal	kill-md1	PURP]	3R=come-GER	
'(In order) to kill his animals he came.'						

[oken	nãt]	oca lyõga				
[o=ket-t	nãt]	o=ca?yõk-a				
[1SG=sleep-IND1	PURP]	1sg=be.drunk-GER				
'(In order) to sleep I got drunk.'						

Purposive constructions follow a nominative-accusative pattern. When the subject of the purposive and the subject of the other clause are coreferential, they are marked in a special way: coreferential subjects of transitive clauses are omitted, and coreferential subjects of intransitive clauses are marked by a special set of pronominal clitics.

at	toat	cĩm	nati	[Ø]	a?cá	nãt	to?wa]
at	toat	cĩm	tati	[Ø	a?cá	nãt	to ?wa]
3sg	3sg.poss	meat	bring-IND	[(3sg)	3sG=wash	PURP	3r=aux-ger]
'He br	ought his	hunt to	wash it.'				

	•		•	
a be?c <i>i</i> n	[no orawa	nãt	to ?wa	rấwrem]
abe?c#-t	[to= orawa	nãt	to=?e-a	tấw=tem]
3sg=run-IND l	[3R=defecate	PURP	3R=AUX-GER	far=ADVZ]
•He ran to def	ecate far away.	,		

As is the case with subordination by time, in subordination by purpose, when the subjects are not coreferential, either a new overt subject (in case of a transitive verb) or a non-coreferential pronominal clitic (in case of an intransitive verb) occurs.

¥			¥			
õn	ŋа	tati	[ẽn	ŋ ato	nãt	wa]
õn	ŋа	ta-ti	[ẽn	ŋa=top	nãt	o=?e-a]
1sg	3sg.fem	COMIT-come-IND1	[2 sG	3sg=see	PUR	P1SG=AUX-GER]
'I brought her so that you could see her.'						

¥		₩					
ma ?w it	owin	[o w <i>ə</i> y	nã	nāt	to ?wa]		
ma?w <i>i</i> t	o=wit-t	[o =w ∂ y	nã	nãt	to=?e-a]		
man	1sg=feed-ind1	[1sG=grow.up	COP	PURP	3r=aux-ger]		
'The man fed me so that I would grow up.'							

₩	¥				
ebe?cin	[wat	iyōm	eto	nãr	a]
ebe?cin	[wat	iyõ m	eto	nãt	?a]
2sg=run-IND	1 [1sg.poss	FATHER	2sg=see	PURP	2sg=aux-ger]
'You ran so that my father could see you.'					

4.7.2.3 CAUSE

Causal constructions in Karo are formed with the conjunction $y \partial y e^{45}$. In these constructions the event specified by the semantically dependent clause represents the cause of the event expressed in the main clause. The clauses of causal constructions remain formally more independent of each other than those of the subordinate constructions. This can be seen in the examples below, where no formal distinction between finite vs. non-finite clause is shown, since they both carry the same indicative mood marker.

oya?wan i?ke ye [amãn yat] o=ya?wat-t i?ke ye [amãn ya-t] lsG=leave-IND1 NEG CAUSE [rain fall-IND1] 'Because it rained, I did not leave.'

õn	ŋabean	ye	[ŋ a	oya hi	nãn]
õn	ŋa=beat-t	ye	[1]a	o=ya Iti	nã-n]
lsg	3SG.FEM=marry-IND1		e [3s g.fem	l SG=like	COP-IND1]
'Beca	ause she liked me, I ma	rried h	er'		

⁴⁵ y = ye is pronounced in casual speech as ye.

In the majority of the examples in my corpus, nevertheless, the semantically dependent clause in cause constructions does not occur sentence-finally (as in the examples above), but rather at the beginning of the sentence. In fact, in these examples, three clauses occur. The first clause, marked with the indicative mood –t, is the cause clause. The second clause, also marked with the indicative mood –t, is the clause where the subject of the sentence is specified. (It seems to have only a grammatical meaning.) And finally, the third clause, marked with the gerund mood –a, expresses the (re)action intended.

[wawwaw	bay]	ye	nja?et	toya Awara	
[wawwaw	pap-1]	ye	nja=?e-t	to=ya?wat-a	
[dog	die-IND1]	CAUSE	3SG.FEM=AUX-IND1	3R=leave-GER	
'Because the dog died, she left.'					

[ar	otoy]	ye	wer	owe?cira	
[at	o=top-t]	ye	o=?e-t	o=pe?c # -a	
[3sg	lSG=see-IND1]	CAUSE	lsg=aux-ind1	l SG=run-GER	
'Because he/it saw me, I ran.'					

[ŋaken]	уәуе	wer	oya Iwara
[ŋa=ket-t]	у әу е	o=?e-t	o=ya?wat-a
[3SG.FEM=sleep-IND1]	CAUSE	1sg=aux-ind1	l SG=leave-GER
'Because she slept, I left.'			

Because I have no examples of cause constructions in which the absolutive argument of the *main* clause is coreferential with the absolutive argument of the *dependent* clause, it was not possible to establish a general pattern of grammatical relations for this type of construction.

CHAPTER 5

THE CLASSIFIER SYSTEM

Karo has a system of classifiers which occur with nouns in noun phrases. In Table 9 below I present the small set of Karo classifiers with the semantic categories to which they belong, their approximate meanings, and morphological glosses. In subsections 5.1 and 5.2, I describe the formal and semantic properties of Karo classifiers, discussing these properties in the light of current typological proposals. Section 5.3 deals with discourse properties of classifiers.

	CLASSIFIER	CATEGORY	MEANING (APPROXIMATE)	MORPH. GLOSS
1.	рар	shape	cylindrical, big	CL.CYLB
2.	?ip	shape	cylindrical, medium	CL.CYLM
3.	pí?	shape	cylindrical, small	CL.CYLS
4.	pe?	shape	flat	CL.FLAT
5.	cí?	shape	thin flat	CL.TFLAT
6.	?a?	shape	round	CL.RD
7.	ká?	shape	concave or convex	CL.CCV
8.	kap	arrangement	bunch, same source	CL.BSS
9.	ma?	arrangement	bunch, different source	CL.BDS
10.	ŋa	gender	feminine	CL.FEM
11.	nã ⁴⁶	?	?	

Table 9: The classifiers of Karo

 $^{^{46}}$ nã? was found to occur with two nouns, 'fire' and 'manioc'. Its meaning remains unknown.

Some examples of nouns with their correspondent classifiers are:

pap

məga pap	'rat (sp.)'
makara pap	'heron'
parat pap	`fish (sp.)'
paramit pap	'spider'
macõm pap	'shrimp'
ma?pe pap	'basket'
ite pap	'uncle'

*i*p

motogo ?ip	'monkey (sp.)'
ĩya ?ɨp	'bird'
imo ?ip	'fish (sp.)'
mate ?ip	ʻfruit (sp.)'
wáya ?ip	'spoon'
toto ?ip	'grandson'

pí?

cấp pí?	'leg'
wakāya pi?	'rodent (sp.)'
kấram pí?	'hummingbird'
cawãy pi?	'fish (sp.)'

210

ma?ip pi?	'handle of an axe'
capop pí?	'tail'

pe?

magoyapan pe?	'wild dog'
cibekon pe?	'vulture'
yaw pe?	'river ray'
kiriwep pe?	'butterfly'
pá pe?	'hand'
pí pe?	'foot'
koya pe?	'crab'

cí?

wəwə ci?	'hand fanner'
tem cí?	'wing'
na?yop cí?	'leaf (also: 'money')'

?**a**?

na?to ?a?	'tapir'
wãm ?a?	'bird (sp.)'
ip nakāra ?a?	ʻfish (sp.)'
koya ?a?	'crayfish'
op ?a?	'papaya'

211

wen ?a?	'moon'
ka?a ?a?	'house'
icagá ?a?	'eye'
móa ?a?	'turtle (sp.)'

ká?

yaracewak ká?	'wild pig'
pecía ká?	'bird (sp.)'
yomĩt ká?	'palm tree (sp.)'
makóp ká?	'light bulb'
ma?ẽ ká?	'pot/pan'
yomã ká?	'thigh'
matek ká?	'palm tree (sp.)'

kap

?õt kap	'caterpillar'
makap kap	'peanut'
iya kap	'gravel'
pĩu kap	'maraca'
yãy kap	'tooth'
yo?kĩ kap	'palm tree (sp.)'

ma?

ma?ta ma?	'bean'
cici ma?	'mosquito (sp.)'
koropía ma?	'edible root (sp.)'

<u>n</u> a	
corap ŋa	'girlfriend'
сеу ђа	'wife'
owā ŋa	'mother'
toto ŋa	'granddaughter'
арәу ŋа	'grandmother'
anāt ŋa	'sister'

nā?

cán nã?	'fire'
mani nã?	'cooked manioc'

5.1 FORMAL PROPERTIES

From a strictly formal point of view, the classifiers of Karo can be categorized as belonging to the class of particles, although it is possible to recognize a nominal or pronominal origin for some of them. 2a? is also a free noun which means 'fruit', and *na* is also the third person singular feminine pronoun. The phonological and morphological evidence used to establish this categorization is provided below.

PHONOLOGY: Classifiers in Karo carry their own stress and, in some cases high pitch (cf. in Table 9 eg. 3, 5 and 7).

The phonological alternations that occur with the classifiers in Karo are similar to those of other words. In these, an initial voiceless stop consonant becomes voiced following the vowel of a preceding word. Furthermore, the initial vowel of a particle, noun, verb or adjective causes the voiceless consonant at the end of a preceding word to be voiced.

MORPHOLOGY: No affixation can occur with classifiers in Karo. Classifiers, as well as other particles, do not participate in any process of inflection or derivation.

As is usual in classifier languages, not all nouns in Karo are classifiable. The non-classifiable nouns seem to fall into one of the following categories:

- intrinsically shapeless referents, like liquids: ici 'water', -yu⁴⁷ 'blood', -cik 'urine', kuru?cu 'saliva', etc., or powdery substances, like -mõy 'powder', igana 'dirt', etc.;
- 2) referents whose shape is not perceived as unique or stable, like cimito
 'shadow', carogin 'cloud, smoke', -piru 'footprint', -caki 'slice, piece', cim
 'meat', -pacop 'paste', -pe?wap 'mash', -wirap 'food', -mõy 'dust, powder', cək 'hole', etc.;

⁴⁷ Nouns marked by a dash are inalienably possessed and thus require either a noun or a personal clitic before them. Nouns without the dash mark mean that they are alienably possessed and do not need anything preceding them to occur freely.

- 3) body parts, or things somehow connected to the body, like -capə 'penis', -cere 'vagina', -cigã 'bone', -mot 'body hair', -na?cap 'head hair', -?ora cək 'anus', na?cək 'nostril', -?ora 'excrement', -wero 'speech', -ce 'smell', etc.;
- 4) <u>elements of nature</u>, like anaŋot 'wind', amān 'rain', ca?wap 'sun', mapəy 'rainbow';
- 6) abstract nouns, like oracece 'soul, spirit', toto 'God', etc.;
- 7) verb and adjective nominalizations⁴⁸, like magopi ?op 'tick eater', maca?it top 'domestic animal watcher', etc.

A noteworthy property of the classifiers in Karo is the fact that, since their occurrences are always associated with a (very) specific characteristic of the nouns with which they occur, there is no general default classifier, as is found in other classifier systems. Generally speaking, classifiers in Karo are not obligatory. Their occurrence is always associated with a (very) specific characteristic of the referent with which they occur.

Classifiers in Karo occur exclusively inside the noun phrase, in three basic types of constructions: a) with a head noun [N + CL]; b) in genitives [N + N + CL]; and c) in compounds [N + CL + N]. In sections 5.1.1, 5.1.2 and 5.1.3 below I give a complete description of each of these types, respectively.

5.1.1 HEAD NOUNS

The prototypical occurrence of classifiers in Karo is after the head noun of a noun phrase.

wayo	bap	mãygãra	bap
wayo	pap	mãygãra	pap
alligator	CL.CYLB	snake	CL.CYLB
'alligator'		'snake'	
ĩya ? ip		wáya ? ip	
ĩya ? ір		wáya 2 ip	
bird CL.CY	LM	spoon CL.CY	LM
'bird (general))'	'spoon'	
icãp	pí?	icapop	pí?
i=cãp	pí?	i=capop	pí?
3IMP=leg	CL.CYLS	31MP=tail	CL.CYLS
`leg`		'tail'	
ibeon	me?	ipá	be?
i=peon	pe ?	i=pá	pe?
31MP=skin	CL.FLAT	31MP=hand	CL.FLAT
'skin'		'hand'	

⁴⁸ One exception I found was *cīm ma?wa-p pe?* 'frying pan', which has the classifier *pe?*, used for flat objects.

па Гуор	cí?	wəwə ci?	
па Хуор	cí?	wəwə ci?	
leaf	CL.TFLAT	fanner CL.TF	LAT
ʻleaf (also: mo	oney)'	'hand fanner'	
karo ?a?		icagá	?a ?
karo ?a?		i=cagá	?a ?
macaw CL.RD		Зімр=еуе	CL.RD
'macaw'		'eye'	
inãk	ká?	ma?ẽ gá ?	
i=nãk	ká?	ma?ẽ ká ?	
3IMP=mouth	CL.CCV	pan CL.CCV	
'mouth'		'pan'	
makap kap		iyãy	gap
makap kap		i=yãy	kap
peanut CL.BSS		3IMP=tooth	CL.BSS
'peanut'		'teeth'	
ma?ta ma ?		cici	ma?
ma?ta ma?		cici	ma?
bean CL.BDS	i	mosquito	CL.BDS
'beans'		'mosquito' ⁴⁹	

⁴⁹ These mosquitos are found always in swarms.

тагрәу	ŋa	icey	ŋa
тагрәу	ıja	i=cey	ŋa
woman	CL.FEM	3IMP=wife	CL.FEM
'woman'		'wife'	
mani	nã ?	cán nã ?	
mani	nã?	cán nā ?	
manioc	CL	fire CL	
'manioc'		'fire'	

5.1.2 GENITIVES

Classifiers can also occur in genitive constructions, if the head noun is classifiable. In these constructions, the classifier occurs after the sequence $[N + N_{head}]$, and has its scope over the resulting $[N + N_{head}]$ construction, not over the first or second noun alone.

This fact can be seen by comparing the examples below, where the classifier used to refer to 'alligator' and 'honey-eater' is the same, *pap*, whereas the classifiers used to refer to the final genitive constructions 'mouth of alligator' and 'mouth of honey-eater' are different. In the first case the classifier used is *pap*, in conformity with the shape of the mouth of an alligator, and in the second case the classifier used is ká?, in conformity with the shape of the mouth of a honey-eater⁵⁰.

⁵⁰ ka? is also the classifier for 'mouth' alone.

wayo nãk **pap** wayo nãk **pap** alligator mouth **CL.CYLB** 'mouth of (an) alligator'

ei nãk ká? ei nãk ká? honey-eater mouth CL.CCV 'mouth of (a) honey-eater'

It is also very common that a classifier referring to the whole genitive construction matches the classifier of the head noun. This can be explained by the fact that the semantic properties of the whole genitive construction usually coincide with the semantic properties of the head noun. One example is the second of the two examples above, where the classifier of the final genitive construction, ka?, is the same used for 'mouth' alone. Other examples are below:

wayo	yogá	be?	
wayo	yogá	pe?	
alligator	tongu	e CL.FLAT	
'tongue of (an) alligator'			

where the classifier of wayo is pap, and the classifier of yogá is pe?

wayo nakira be? wayo nakira pe? alligator ear CL.FLAT 'ear of (an) alligator'

where the classifier of wayo is pap, and the classifier of nakira is pe?

a?i nãk ká?
a?i nãk ká?
sloth mouth CL.CCV
'mouth of (a) sloth'

where the classifier of a? is 2a?, and the classifier of $n\tilde{a}k$ is $k\dot{a}$?

Furthermore, in some other cases, the classifier employed in the genitive construction is equivalent to the classifier of the first noun alone. In these instances, it can be assumed that the semantic classification of the referent is somehow identified with the semantic property of the referent of the first noun.

kấram nãk pí? kấram nãk pí? hummingbird mouth CL.CYLS 'mouth of (a) hummingbird'

where the classifier of karam is pi?, and the classifier of nak is ka?,

kấram yogá bí? kấram yogá pí? hummingbird tongue CL.CYLS 'tongue of (a) hummingbird'

where the classifier of karam is pi?, and the classifier of yogá is pe?,

karo nãg **a**? karo nãk ?**a**? macawmouth **CL.RD** 'mouth of (a) macaw'

where the classifier of karo is 2a2, and the classifier of nak is ká2,

karo yogá ?a? karo yogá ?a? macaw tongue CL.RD 'tongue of (a) macaw'

where the classifier of karo is 2a2, and the classifier of yogá is pe 2.

Finally, when the head noun is not classifiable, the sequence $[N + N_{head}]$ does not take any classifier⁵¹.

wayo biru wayo piru alligator footprint 'footprint of (an) alligator'

ameko ?ora ameko ?ora jaguar excrement 'excrement of (a) jaguar'

⁵¹ Some speakers do employ the classifier of the modifying noun in these constructions. wayo biru bap wayo pap piru alligator footprint CL.LONG.BIG 'footprint of (an) alligator' amekc ?ora 2**a** 2 ameko ?ora 2**a** 2 jaguar excrement **CL.ROUND** 'excrement of (a) jaguar' kấram wirap pí? kấram pí? wirap hummingbird food CL.LONG.SML 'hummingbird's food' cək parato pe? parato cək pe? hole armadillo **CL.FLAT** 'hole of (an) armadillo (sp.)'

222

kấram wirap kấram wirap hummingbird food 'hummingbird's food'

parato cək parato cək armadillo hole 'hole of (an) armadillo (sp.)'

5.1.3 COMPOUNDS

Compounds in Karo always involve the conjunction of two nouns or noun roots. In compounds, a classifier occurs between the two nouns, where the second noun is also the head of the construction: $[N + CL + N_{head}]$. The first noun in a compound must be classifiable, though the second (head) noun need not be. This seems to account for the fact that it is always the classifier of the first noun which enters the compound construction, and has its scope over the first noun alone and not over the whole construction.

ŧι	bap	ci	
'n	pap	ci	
açaí	CL.CYLB	water	
'açaí wine'			

cat	рар	caki		
cat	pap	caki		
log	CL.CYLB	piece		
'wood	l piece (piece	of wood)'		
nãya	gap	pe Pwap		
nãya	kap	ре Хчар		
corn	CL.BSS	mash		
'corn mash'				

Finally, when an adjective occurs in any of the three types of constructions above, the classifier also occurs obligatorily after the adjective, in concord⁵².

a) with head nouns:

wayo		bap	сú	bap
wayo		pap	сú	pap
alliga	tor	CL.CYLB	big	CL.CYLB
ʻbig a	lligator'			
ĩya	?ip	pấr		ф.
ĩya	?ip	pất		?ip
bird	CL.CYL	M beaut	iful	CL.CYLM
'beautiful bird'				

⁵² I found only rare cases where two adjectives occur in a row, referring to the same noun.

ma?pəy na pära	na cú	ŋa
ma?pəy ya pất	na cú	ıja 🛛
woman CL.FEM beautiful	CL.FEM big	CL.FEM
'beautiful and big woman'		

icấp	pí?	cára	bí?
i=cấp	pí?	cára	pí?
3IMP=leg	CL.CYLS	long	CL.CYLS
'long leg'			
ib eon	me?	kĩn	me?
i=peon	pe?	kĩn	pe?
31mp=skin	CL.FLAT	hard	CL.FLAT
'hard skin'			
па Гуор	cí?	си	cí?
па Јуор	cí?	сú	cí?
leaf	CL.TFLAT	big	CL.TFLAT
'big leaf'			
karo	? a ? pấr		a ?
karo	?a? pất		? a ?
macaw	CL.RD beauti	ful	CL.RD
'beautiful ma	caw'		
i-nãk	ká	becép	ká?
i-nãk	ká?	pecép	ká?
3IMP=mouth	CL.CCV	ugly	CL.CCV
'ugly mouth'			

makap	kap	сú	gap
makap	kap	сú	kap
peanut	CL.BSS	big	CL.BSS
'big peanut'			

ma Ita	ma?	kấp	ma?			
ma Ita	ma?	kấp	ma?			
bean	CL.DS	delicious	CL.BDS			
'delicious beans'						

та Грэу	<i>nja</i>	pấra	ŋa
та Грәу	ŋa	pất	ŋa
woman	CL.FEM	beautiful	CL.FEM
[•] beautiful v	voman'		

mani	nã ?	си	nã?
mani	nã?	си́	nã?
maniocCL		big	CL
ʻbig m	nanioc	•	

b) in genitive constructions:

wayo	nấk	pap	cú	bap	
wayo	nấk	pap	cú	pap	
alligator	mouth	CL.CYLB	big	CL.CYLB	
big alligator r	nouth'				
ei	nãk	ká?	си	gá?	
---------------------------------	---------	-----------	------	-------------	--
ei	nãk	ká?	cú	ká?	
honey-eater	mouth	CL.CCV	big	CL.CCV	
'big mouth of	(a) hon	ey-eater'			
wayo	yogá	be?	cára	be ?	
wayo	yogá	pe?	cára	pe ?	
alligator	tongue	CL.FLAT	long	CL.FLAT	
'long tongue of (an) alligator'					

kā́ram	nãk	pí?	7īt	pí?
kấram	nãk	pí?	7n	pí?
hummingbird	mouth	CL.CYLS	small	CL.CYLS
'small mouth	of (a) h	ummingbird'		

karo	nãg	a ?	pĩg	a ?	
karo	nãk	?a?	pĩk	?a?	
macaw	mouth	CL.RD	black	CL.RD	
'black mouth of (a) macaw'					

c) in compounds:

ŧи	bap	ci	kãp	pap
<i></i> іл	pap	ci	kãp	pap
açaí	CL.CYLB	water	delicious	CL.CYLB
'delic	ious açaí wine'			

227

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

cat	рар	caki	win	map	
cat	pap	caki	win	pap	
log	CL.CYLB	piece	curved	CL.CYLB	
`curve	ed piece of woo	od'			
nãya	gap	ре Хма	p	pa?pik	kap
nãya	kap	ре Хма	р	pa?pik	kap
com	CL.BSS	mash		lots.of	CL.BSS
'lots o	f corn mash'				

When these formal properties of Karo are examined in the light of the current typologies of noun classification, especially the typology of noun classes vs. noun classification proposed by Dixon (1986), it appears that Karo does not seem to belong to either type.

Roughly speaking, Dixon establishes a set of criteria which can be used to distinguish noun classes (as a grammatical category which occurs prototypically with Bantu languages) from noun classification (as a lexico-syntactic phenomenon which includes numeral classifiers). Three criteria are proposed, a) size, b) realization, and c) scope.

According to the first criterion, *noun class* systems are those in which all nouns are grouped into a smaller number of classes, each noun necessarily belonging to one specific class. *Noun classifier* languages, on the other hand, have the opposite characteristics of presenting a richer number of classifiers (over 100 being common), allowing some nouns not to be classifiable, as well as allowing some other nouns to be classifiable in more than one way. The Karo classifier system seems to fit into his second type of languages, except that it contains a small inventory of classifiers.

The second criterion postulates that *noun classes* are closed grammatical sets, usually coded by means of affixes or clitics, whereas *noun classifiers* are always free forms. By this criterion, Karo fits into the second type perfectly.

The last criterion postulates that the marking of *noun classes* 'is never entirely within the noun word' but spread 'concordially to some other words in the sentence' (1986:106). *Classifiers*, on the other hand, are restricted in their occurrence to the 'noun phrase in which they co-occur with the specific noun' (1986:107). According to this last criterion, nevertheless, Karo should be characterized as a *noun class* language instead of a *classifier* language since, as we have seen in the description above, when an adjective in Karo modifies a noun plus its classifier, the same classifier occurs obligatorily after the adjective as well, in concord.

5.2 SEMANTIC PROPERTIES

Following the typology established by Allan 1977, it is possible to recognize three types of semantic properties conveyed by the classifiers of Karo: shape, arrangement and gender⁵³.

Shape seems to be the most prominent feature of the three. In Karo, a classifier is employed to refer to the most prominent form or format of the referents as they are found in nature⁵⁴. As can be seen in Table 9 above, seven out of the 11 classifiers which occur in Karo (*pap*, ?*ip*, *pi*?, *pe*?, *ci*?, ?*a*?, and *ká*?) pertain to the shape of the referent they classify.

⁵³ The semantic property of 'gender' is labeled 'material' in Allan's typology. The difference is merely terminological, not empirical.

⁵⁴ The category of shape in Karo does not refer, as is usual to occur with other classifier languages, to the number of dimensions of the referents, one vs. two vs. three dimensions. This can be seen, for example, with the classifier $2a^2$ 'round', which occurs with referents perceived as having either one dimension (such as 'moon', 'eye', etc.), two dimensions (such as 'coin', 'turtle', etc.) or three dimensions (such as 'papaya', 'house', etc.).

The category of **arrangement** refers to the way in which referents occur intrinsically arranged in nature. In Karo, only referents which are arranged in bunches are classifiable, according to two different perspectives, 1) those items which are found in bunches grouped together by means of a common source (in which case the classifier *kap* is employed), and 2) those items which are found in bunches without being tied by a common source (in which case the classifier *ma?* is used).

Gender is used to refer to female referents, particularly with kin terms (cf. ma?pəy 'woman', -cey 'wife', owã 'mother', apəy 'grandmother', etc.).

Furthermore, following Denny (1976) and his characterization of the use of classifiers as establishing a physical, social or functional interaction with the nouns to which they refer, the classifiers of Karo can be characterized as establishing primarily a **physical** interaction with their nouns. Nine out of the 11 classifiers of Karo refer to physical properties of the nouns, either shape or arrangement. A type of **social** interaction is also represented in Karo and is conveyed by the tenth known classifier, *ga* 'feminine'⁵⁵. **Functional** interaction, as the third possible kind of interaction recognized by Denny, is not a property of Karo classifiers.

An interesting semantic characteristic of the Karo classifier system is the fact that a given noun may co-occur with a variety of classifiers. The alternatives have the effect of either highlighting different characteristics of the referent of the noun with which they occur or changing their reference. In the first case, there always seems to be an interaction between the two semantic forms of physical categorization, arrangement and shape, in which the reference can be made by

⁵⁵ Here I am considering the classifier na 'feminine' to represent a social type of interaction since gender distinctions seem to fall, in one way or another, into social distinctions.

focusing on either the first or the second. When the focus is on **arrangement** the resulting effect is that of plurality of the referent.⁵⁶ When the focus is on **shape**, the resulting effect is on the singularity of the referent.

a) highlighting different aspects of nouns:

opá	gap	cf.	opá	gá?
o=pá	kap		o=pá	ká ?
1sG=hand	CL.BSS		1sG=hand	CL.CCV
'(all) my fing	gers'		'my (one) fi	nger'
iyã	gap	cf.	iyã	?a ?
iyā	kap		iyã	?a ?
Brazil.nut	CL.BSS		Brazil.nut	CL.RD
Brazil nuts	in their shell'		'one Brazil r	nut'
oyãy	gap	cf.	oyãy	gá?
o=yãy	kap		o=yãy	ká?
l sG=tooth	CL.BSS		l sG=tooth	CL.CCV
'(all) my teet	'n'		'my (one) to	oth'

⁵⁶ The semantic plurality conveyed by the two arrangement classifiers, kap and ma?, should be kept distinct from morphological plurarity, marked by the enclitic =to?

b) changing reference:

iyá	gap	cf.	iyá	be?		cf.	iyá	? a ?	
iyá	kap		iyá	pe?			iyá	? a ?	
stone	CL.BSS		stone	CL.FL	АТ		stone	CL.RD	
grave	1'		'diggi	ng stick	•		'stone	,	
were	be?		cf.		were	bi?			
were	pe?				were	pi?			
frog	CL.FLAT				frog	CL.CY	LS		
'toad'					'frog'				
ipá	be?	cf.	ipá		gap	cf.	ipá		gá?
i=pá	pe?		i=pá		kap		i=pá		ká?
3imp=ł	nand CL.FLAT		3imp=1	hand	CL.BSS	5	3imp=1	hand	CL.CCV
'hand'			'finger	s'			'(one)	finger'	

It is also possible, on the other hand, for two classifiers to co-occur with a single noun. This has been observed especially with the classifiers *pap* and *?a?*, used in this exact sequence to refer to a mixed shape of long and round referents.

ca?w ə t	pab	a ?
ca?w A	pap	?a ?
thorn	CL.CYLB	CL.RD
'thorn (sp.)'		

mokpaba?mokpap?a?cottonCL.CYLBCL.RD'hip ornament (made of cotton)'

рауа	bab	a ?
paya	pap	? a ?
palm.tree	CL.CYLB	CL.RD

'chest ornament (made of palm tree leaves)'

5.3 DISCOURSE PROPERTIES

Studies dealing with the discourse properties of classifiers are almost nonexistent, probably because very little is known on the subject.

In Chafe (1994) we find a discussion of the the role of classifiers in languages where they do not occur as an obligatory category. Chafe suggests that the occurrence vs. non-occurrence of classifiers can be explained in terms of the importance of the referents in discourse. According to him, important referents tend to be introduced into the discourse by means of a N + CL construction, and to be subsequently mentioned by the use of a CL. Unimportant referents tend to be introduced by means of a noun and be mentioned subsequently by a pronoun.

Further research in Karo needs to be conducted in order to determine whether the same principles govern the discourse use of classifiers in Karo.

CHAPTER 6

THE IDEOPHONE SYSTEM

Karo has a set of words that should be regarded as forming a separate class from regular nouns, verbs, adjectives, adverbs, particles and conjunctions. The words of this set have several properties that they share with other word classes, but not exclusively. From the point of view of semantics, they are similar to verbs, in the way their meanings convey descriptions of actions or states, but they are not subject to the same derivational or inflectional processes as regular verbs or auxiliaries. From the point of view of morphology, they are closely related to particles, since they show no internal morphological structure, but they do not have the same syntactic distribution as particles in the language. Still from the point of view of morphology, they could be regarded as somehow related to verbs or adjectives, given that they receive the adverbializer clitic =tem, but, again, they do not show the same properties as regular verbs or adjectives. From the point of view of syntax, they show the same patterns of distribution in Karo clauses in a great number of cases as adverbs. But not in all cases, a fact that distinguishes them from adverbs. The facts just mentioned seem to justify the appropriateness of considering this class of words, given their coherence and independence, as a separate word category. For typological reasons, we will call them ideophones.

6.1 BACKGROUND

Ideophones are usually defined as a class of words of onomatopoeic form which have their own sound system different from the overall phonetic and phonological systems of the language in which they occur. Ideophones are also thought to be inherently salient semantically.

Although all languages seem to have expressions that could, at first sight, be regarded as ideophones, not all languages have ideophones as a grammatically consistent category.

The occurrence of ideophones was first noticed and described in African languages (cf. Doke 1935; Fivaz 1963; Moore 1969; Newman 1968; Samarin 1965, 1967, 1970a, 1970b, 1971a, 1971b, 1972). Later descriptions of ideophone systems also included a few Asian languages, such as Japanese (cf. Hirose 1989; Ono 1984), Korean (cf. Kim 1977; Lee 1992; Martin 1962; You 1989), Semai (cf. Diffloth 1976), and Telugu (cf. Selvam 1988). It is mostly within African languages, however, that ideophones are known to be a widespread phenomenon (cf. Awoyale 1981; Childs 1988; Courtenay 1976; Fordyce 1978, 1983; Hutchison 1989; Johnson 1975; Kulemeka 1993; Kunene 1972; Moshi 1993; Mphande and Rice 1989; Noss 1986; Ottenheimer and Primrose 1990; Von Staden 1974; Weakley 1973 among others).

The general characteristics of ideophones among these languages are, nevertheless, very diverse. Descriptions of ideophone systems are highly contestable and still an arena of debate. Some authors, for example, still dispute basic principles, such as whether ideophones should be considered a separate class of speech (cf. Awoyale 1981; Kunene 1972) or a subclass of adverbs (cf. Doke 1935; Ottenheimer and Primrose 1990) or even a subclass of adjectives (cf. Okonkwo 1974).

Given this controversy, a comparison between the phenomenon of ideophones and other grammatical subsystems like evidentials or classifiers shows that we are still far from a comprehensive understanding of their typology, function, historical development and cognitive basis. This will only be achieved when the research on the subject incorporates more descriptions from a variety of languages around the world.

6.2 THE IDEOPHONES OF KARO

Ideophones in Karo form an open class of words with verbal meanings. The full range of properties of Karo ideophones is described below from the point of view of phonetics/phonology, morphology, syntax, semantics and discourse, respectively. As I hope will become clear, the properties of the ideophones presented below will serve as grounds for characterizing them as a class of words apart from other classes of words in Karo. For the sake of exemplification, I provide a non-exhaustive list of Karo ideophones at the end of the chapter.

6.2.1 PHONETICS AND PHONOLOGY

It is commonly observed that the class of ideophones possesses phonetic and phonological characteristics that distinguish them from other word classes in the languages in which they occur. Karo is no exception. Although the majority of the phonetic elements that are used to form other classes of words are also used to form the ideophones, one specific sound found so far does not. There could be more than one, nevertheless, not yet registered in my records. The symbol used for this sound and its description are as follows: $[t\tilde{p}]$: voiceless dental bilabial stop with bilabial trill release

This sound occurs in an ideophone which has the meaning of 'jump', as in:

tpu ameko ?et tpu ameko ?e-t jump jaguar AUX-IND1 'The jaguar jumped.'

Another important phonetic/phonological characteristic of ideophones in Karo is the fact that it is only in this class of words that sequences of two consonants are allowed to occur in the same syllable. Although this is not a widespread phenomenon in the Karo community, several speakers of Karo do have a tendency to omit the first vowel in bisyllabic sequences if the second syllable begins with /r/. The resulting form is a monosyllabic element with an initial Cr cluster. Thus, ideophones like parak ['parak'] 'perforate', or mirik ['mīīfik'] 'pinch', are usually pronounced as ['prak'] and ['mrīk'], respectively⁵⁷.

6.2.2 MORPHOLOGY

From the point of view of morphology, an important characteristic of ideophones in Karo is the fact that they do not receive inflectional markers. In fact, they do not participate in any derivational processes characteristic of verbs, nouns and adjectives. Ideophones do not receive any of the modal markers that verbs and auxiliaries do (IND1ICATIVE -t and -p or GERUND -a); they do not

 $^{^{57}}$ This shortening in syllable structure does not occur when the ideophone begins with either /w/ or /y/.

receive any personal proclitics as verb phrases or noun phrases do; they do not receive any of the valence changing prefixes that verbs do (CAUSATIVE *ma*-, COMITATIVE CAUSATIVE *ta*-, IMPERSONAL PASSIVIZER *pe*-, OPTATIVE *pe*?-, RECIPROCAL *mām*- or REFLEXIVE *toro*-); and do not occur with any clitics (PLURAL =to?, ASSOCIATIVE =tap)⁵⁸.

A further important characteristic of ideophones in Karo is the fact that they allow reduplication of their roots. This is a process exclusive to the class of ideophones. The meaning achieved by reduplication of ideophones is one of iteration of the action or state being described. It should be noted that reduplication is a characteristic shared by ideophone systems in other languages of the world, with the same meaning as in Karo. As examples of reduplication, consider the pair of sentences below:

cf.

pú ŋ	wet	pé ŋ	kəy
ри́ ђ	o=?e-t	pé ŋ	kəy
shoot	lsg=aux-indl	white.man	DAT
'I shot	the white man once.'		

риŋ	púŋ	wet	péŋ	kəy	
puŋ	pú ŋ	o=2e-t	pé ŋ	kəy	
shoot	shoot	lsg=aux-ind1	white.man	DAT	
'I shot the white man several times.'					

⁵⁸ The one exception is the clitic =tem which can in fact occur with some ideophones.

tuy	Babesáya	ŋа	?et	yate	ta Pwara	
tuy	Babesáya	ŋа	?e-1	yate	ta Pwat-a	
pull	Babesáya	CL.FEM	AUX-IND1	pig	bring-GER	
'Babesáya brought the pig by pulling it once.'						

cf.

tuy	tuy	Babesáya	ŋа	?et	yate	ta Iwara
tuy	tuy	Babesáya	ŋa	?e-t	yate	ta Iwat-a
pull	pull	Babesáya	CL.FEM	AUX-IND1	pig	bring-GER
'Babesáya brought the pig by pulling it repeatedly.'						

Although ideophones frequently occur as the first element in Karo clauses, and are thus immune to phonological alternations, they can also occur internally and show the same changes observed in other classes of words. Roughly speaking, voiceless stops change to voiced stops after vowels or glides, and to nasal stops after nasal consonants.

6.2.3 SYNTAX

From the point of view of syntax, the category of ideophones in Karo occur in all sentence types, clause modifications (NEGATION and FUTURE), and clause combinations (clause chaining and subordination). In almost all cases, they occur accompanied by an auxiliary (either 2e, kap or wa 2ye) and its argument. The only three types of constructions in which ideophones do not occur with an auxiliary are: 1) in negative imperative clauses, where the ideophone occurs alone with the negative marker yahmām; 2) in nominalizations, where the ideophone occurs with the nominalizers kanā or ko=; and 3) in time subordinate clauses, where the ideophone occurs with the conjunction kanāp.

A further syntactic feature of ideophones in Karo is the fact that they can co-occur with 'normal' verbs of related meaning.

A detailed description of these occurrences is given below.

6.2.3.1 IN SIMPLE CLAUSES

In simple clauses, ideophones occur with the auxiliary 2e in the indicative or in the unmarked form of the verb⁵⁹. It is the first element in the clause, which may also have a postpositional phrase or an adverb phrase occurring at the end.

wéywettágippe?wéyo=?e-ttágippe?stretch 1SG=AUX-IND1bowLOC'I stretched the bow.'

weri weri at cahwiptem
weri weri a?=?e-t cahwip=tem
paddle paddle 3SG=AUX-IND1 fast=ADVZ
'He paddled very fast.'

wen wen we mãm wen wen o=2e mãm write write 1SG=AUX X 'I am writing.'

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

 $^{^{59}}$ As we will see below, ideophones also occur with the auxiliary 2e in the gerund mood, in other types of clauses.

6.2.3.2 IN INTERROGATIVE CLAUSES

Ideophones pattern differently in yes-no questions and information questions.

6.2.3.2.1 YES-NO QUESTIONS

In yes-no interrogatives, the ideophone occurs in different places depending upon the scope of the interrogation. When its scope is over the whole proposition (sentence), the ideophone occurs in its prototypical place, at the beginning of the sentence, followed by the auxiliary *?e* in the indicative mood, followed by the interrogative particle *ahyə*. If a postpositional phrase and/or an adverb phrase are present, they occur only after the interrogative particle.

ри́п ahyə at a?=?e-t púŋ ahyə shoot 3sg=AUX-IND1 INTERR 'Did he shoot?' 7et cut cut ahyə ŋakəy cut cut e=?e-t ahyə na=kəy kiss kiss 2sg=aux-ind1 INTERR 3SG.FEM=DAT 'Did you kiss her?'

When the scope of interrogation is over the subject, then the subject nominal occurs first, followed by the interrogative particle, followed by the ideophone plus the impersonal pronominal clitic which is attached to the auxiliary 2e in the unmarked form. at ahyə úe úe ye at ahyə úe úe i=?e 3SG INTERR vomit vomit 3IMP=AUX 'Was it him who vomited?'

en ahyə púŋ ye
en ahyə púŋ i=?e
2SG INTERR shoot 3IMP=AUX
'Was it you who shot?'

6.2.3.2.2 INFORMATION QUESTIONS

In interrogatives that request information, the interrogative pronoun occurs first in the sentence, followed by the ideophone plus the third person coreferential pronominal clitic to= attached to the auxiliary 2e in the gerund mood.

nãn oturum to Ava
nãn oturum to=?e-a
who climb.down 3R=AUX-GER
Who climbed down?'

nãnŋərəŋto ?wanãnŋərəŋto=?e-awhoturn.over3R=AUX-GER'Who turned his head over?'

6.2.3.3 IN NEGATION

In clauses with ideophones, the negative particle *i*?ke may occur in different places, depending on the scope of negation. If it is over the whole clause, it occurs after the sequence [ideophone + AUX].

kãy	kãy	wet	i Ike
kãy	kãy	o=?e-t	i Ike
scrate	ch scrato	ch 1sg=aux-ind1	NEG
۰I did	not scr	atch myself.	

If what is being negated is the action represented by the ideophone, then the ideophone occurs first in the clause, followed by a coreferential clitic pronoun attached to the auxiliary *?e* in the gerund form, plus the negative particle, followed once again by the auxiliary *?e* in the indicative form and its only argument (either pronominal or nominal).

púŋ	wa	i Ike	wet
púŋ	o=?e-a	i Ike	o=?e-t
shoot	1sg=aux-ger	NEG	lsg=aux-indl
·(Wha	t) I did (was) not sh	oot(ing).'	

If the scope of negation is over the subject, then the subject nominal (either a pronoun or full noun phrase) occurs at the beginning of the clause, in focus position, followed by the negative particle. The ideophone then follows plus the auxiliary 2e in the gerund form. The argument marked in the auxiliary is in its pronominal form and is always coreferential with the argument in focus.

ma?witi?kecokcokto?wama?witi?kecokcokto=?e-amanNEGgrindgrind3R=AUX-GER'It was not the man who ground (it).'

õn i?ke púŋ wa
õn i?ke púŋ o=?e-a
1SG NEG shoot 1SG=AUX-GER
'It was not me who shot.'

6.2.3.4 IN IMPERATIVES

Imperative sentences with ideophones are formed simply by putting the ideophone first in the clause, followed by the second person pronominal clitic (either in the singular or in the plural) which is attached to the auxiliary 2e in the gerund form. A postpositional phrase or adverbial phrase may also occur at the end of the clause.

puŋ púŋ karo?wa puŋ púŋ karo=?e-a shoot shoot 2PL=AUX-GER `(You PL.) shoot!'

kãy	kãy	?а	et	ka?a	?a	pe?
kãy	kãy	e=?e-a	et	ka?a	?а	pe?
scratch	scratch	2sg=aux-ger	2sg.poss	house	CL.RD	LOC
'(You sg.) scratch (at your house)!'						

Combinations of ideophones plus regular transitive or intransitive verbs may also occur in imperatives. In these cases, the 'normal' verb occurs first, in the gerund form, followed by the ideophone plus a second person pronominal clitic (again, in the singular or plural), attached to the auxiliary 2e in the gerund form.

a?wia púŋ ?a a?=wi-a púŋ e=?e-a 3SG=kill-GER shoot 2SG=AUX-GER 'Kill it by shooting!'

6.2.3.5 IN FUTURE CLAUSES

Ideophones may occur with two types of future markers, the auxiliary *kap* 'immediate future', and the particle *yat* 'future'. In both cases the ideophone is the first element in the clause.

In clauses with the auxiliary future *kap*, the ideophone is followed by *kap* and its argument (either in the pronominal or in the nominal form), then by the intransitive verb 'go' and its argument. The argument of the verb 'go' is always in the pronominal form, and it is also coreferential with the argument of the auxiliary kap. A postpositional phrase or an adverbial phrase may occur at the end of the clause.

iy#okayo?aecấppí?to?pe?iy#o=kap-to=?e-ae=cấppí?=to?pe?pinch1SG=AUX.FUT-IND11SG=go-GER2SG=legCL.CYLS=PLLOC'I will pinch both your legs.'

In clauses with the particle *yat*, the ideophone is followed by the auxiliary *?e* and its only argument (either in the pronominal or in the nominal form). The future particle occurs after the auxiliary, which appears in the unmarked form.

ué ué we yat ué ué o=?e yat vomit vomit 1SG=AUX FUT 'I will vomit.'

6.2.3.6 IN MIXED TYPES OF CLAUSES

Ideophones in Karo may also occur in clauses that mix the categories of future, negation, imperative and interrogation. The possible combinations are: [FUTURE + NEGATION], [IMPERATIVE + NEGATION], and [INTERROGATION + FUTURE].

6.2.3.6.1 FUTURE + NEGATION

Both types of futures, immediate and simple future, can occur in a negative clause with an ideophone. The type of the negative marker also changes according to the kind of future. In immediate futures, the negative particle used is

yahmām. In these clauses, the ideophone occurs first, followed by the auxiliary ?e in the gerund form with a pronominal clitic attached to it. This pronominal clitic is always coreferential with the person of the argument of the future auxiliary kap, which occurs immediately following the auxiliary ?e. The last item in the clause is the negative particle.

púŋ	wa	okay	yahmãm
pú ŋ	o=?e-a	o=kap-t	yah m ãm
shoot	lsg=aux-ger	1sg=aux.fut-ind1	NEG
'I will	not shoot.'		

ŋit	to ?wa	a Ikay	yahmãm
ŋit	to=?e-a	а Лкау	yahmãm
stand.up	3r=aux-ger	3sg=aux.fut-ind1	NEG
[•] He will not	stand up.'		

In simple futures, the negative particle used is *i*?ke. In these clauses, the ideophone also occurs first, followed by the auxiliary ?e in the indicative mood form. The argument of the auxiliary ?e can be either pronominal or nominal. After the auxiliary the future particle *yat* occurs, followed by the negative particle *i*?ke.

púŋ	wet	yat	i Ike	
<i>թ</i> ú ŋ	o=?e-t	yat	i Ike	
shoot	2sg=aux-ind1	FUT	NEG	
'I will not shoot.'				

cok	cok	та Грэу	?et	yat	i Ike
cok	cok	та грәу	?e-t	yat	i Ike
grind	grind	woman	AUX-IND1	FUT	NEG
'The woman will not grind.'					

6.2.3.6.2 IMPERATIVE + NEGATION

Negative-imperative clauses are formed simply by the juxtaposition of the ideophone plus the negative particle *yahmãm*. No personal marking (either proclitic or pronominal) or auxiliary occurs.

muturumyahmãmmuturumyahmãmjumpNEG'Don't jump!'

6.2.3.6.3 INTERROGATIVE + FUTURE

Both types of interrogatives, yes-no question and information request, appear in future clauses with an ideophone. I have recorded only one type of future, immediate future, in these clauses.

In yes-no questions, the ideophone occurs first, followed by the interrogative particle *ahyə* and by two auxiliaries, the future auxiliary *kap* in the indicative form with its only argument (in either its pronominal or nominal form), and the auxiliary *?e* in the gerund form with a pronominal clitic which is always coreferential with the person of the future auxiliary. The scope of the interrogation is over the action represented by the ideophone.

ри́ ђ	ahyə	ekay	е ?а	
pú ŋ	ahyə	e=kap=t	e=?e-a	
shoot	INTERR	2sg=aux.fut-ind1	2sg=aux-ger	
'Are you going to shoot?'				

In information request questions, the interrogative pronoun occurs first in the clause, followed by the future auxiliary *kap* in the unmarked form with the impersonal proclitic i= attached. The ideophone then occurs after the future auxiliary, followed by the auxiliary 2e in the gerund form, and with a pronominal proclitic that is always coreferential with the argument of the future auxiliary.

nãn	ikap	púŋ	púŋ	to Iwa
nãn	i= ka p	púŋ	pú ŋ	to=?e-a
who	3IMP=AUX.FUT	shoot	shoot	3r=aux-ger
•Who	is going to shoot?'			

6.2.3.7 IN NOMINALIZATIONS

An ideophone can be nominalized either by the particle $kan\tilde{a}$ or by the clitic ko=. In the examples found in my corpus, a nominalized ideophone with $kan\tilde{a}$ occurs as the absolutive argument of clauses with the predicate 'to like' and as the oblique argument of a postpositional phrase.

õn púŋ kanā ya îti nãn
õn púŋ kanā ya îti nã-n
ISG shoot NOMZ like COP-IND1
'I like to shoot (shooting).'

õn a?toy púŋ kanã pe?
õn a?=top-t púŋ kanã pe?
1SG 3SG=see-IND1 shoot NOMZ LOC
`I saw him at his shooting (place).'

A nominalized ideophone with ko=, on the other hand, occurs as the absolutive argument of a transitive verb, as in:

õn cá cá kotoy
õn cá cá ko=top-t
1SG step step NOMZ=hear.IND1
'I heard steps.'

6.2.3.8 IN FOCUS CONSTRUCTIONS

Either an adverbial phrase or a postpositional phrase can appear in initial focus position with an ideophone. In these cases, the auxiliary 2e occurs twice in the clause. It occurs first with the -p indicative mood form after the initial focused phrase and before the ideophone. Then it occurs again, in the gerund mood form, after the ideophone. The argument of this second occurrence of the auxiliary 2e is in its pronominal form and is always coreferential with the argument of the first occurrence of 2e.

 $m\tilde{e}t$ wep $p\dot{u}g$ wa $m\tilde{e}t$ o=?e-p $p\dot{u}g$ o=?e-ahere 1SG=AUX-IND2 shoot 1SG=AUX-GER'Here I shot.'

 $m \tilde{e}t$ ap $p \omega t g$ to A wa $m \tilde{e}t$ a P = (P e) - p $p \omega t g$ to = P e - ahere3SG = (AUX) - IND2shoot3R = AUX - GER'Here he shot.'

ka?a ?a pe? kãy kãy to ?wa ap ?a? pe? a?=?e-p ka?a to = ?e-akãy kãy house CL.RD LOC 3SG=AUX-IND2 scratch scratch 3R=(AUX)-GER 'At the house he scratched.'

6.2.3.9 IN COMBINATIONS OF CLAUSES

Ideophones also occur in clause chaining and subordinate clauses. In clause chaining, the clause with an ideophone always occurs with the auxiliary *?e*, which can be either in the indicative (finite) or in the gerund (non-finite) mood. Both can be seen in the examples below.

ameko	a Ikigat	tpu	to ?wa
ameko	a?=kiga-t	ţpu	to=?e-a
jaguar	3sg=catch-IND1	jump	3r=aux-ger
'The jaguar c	aught it/him (by) jump	oing.'	

tpu	ameko	?et	a Ikiga	
tpu	ameko	?e-1	a?=k i k-a	
jump	jaguar	AUX-IND1	3sg=catch-GER	
'The jaguar jumped (and) caught(ing) it.'				

Ideophones can also occur in subordinate clauses with the time subordinator $kan\tilde{a}p^{60}$. In these clauses there is no auxiliary. Only the ideophone plus the subordinator $kan\tilde{a}p$ form the subordinate clause.

õna Atoyuéuékanãpõna ?=top-tuéuékanãp1SG3SG=see-IND1 vomitvomitwhen'I saw him vomiting.'

oken	kãy	kãy	kanãp
o=ket-t	kãy	kãy	kanãp
l SG=sleep-IND l	scratch	scratch	when
'I slept scratching.'			

onaká	yakõy	wen	wen	kanãp	cúrem
o=naká	yakốp-t	wen	wen	kanãp	cú=tem
lsG=head	be.hot-IND1	write	write	when	big=advz
'My head gets hot when I write too much.'					

 $^{^{60}}$ I have not registered, in my database, any occurrences of ideophones in subordinate sentences with the subordinators *nãt* PURPOSIVE, and *yaye* REASON.

6.2.4 SEMANTICS

A purely semantic definition of ideophones does not seem to be useful, since they form a class which is practically impossible to specify precisely. Ideophones have meanings equivalent to 'normal' verbs in the language in which they occur, including Karo, but they do not behave morphologically or syntactically like other verbs. Actually, it is not unusual for an ideophone to cooccur with a corresponding verb, generally to emphasize its meaning. Examples of ideophones and verb roots with similar meanings in Karo are:

at	otoy	cf.	mõm	at	(o kəy)
at	o=top-t		mõm	a?=?e-t	(o=kəy)
3sg	1sg=see-ind1		look	3sg=aux-ind1	(ISG=DAT)
•He/it	saw me.'		'He/it	saw (me).'	

õn	a Fyamón	cf.	kahyep wet	(a?kəy)
õn	a?=yamót-t		kahyep o=?e-t	(a?=kəy)
lsg	3sg=miss-ind1		miss	1sg=aux-ind1
(3sg=	=DAT)			
ʻI mis	ssed him/it.'		'I missed (him/it).'	

õn	a Itigat	cf.	ka Imep	wet	(a ?kə y)
õn	a?=tiga-t		ka Imep	o=?e-t	(a?=kəy)
1sg	3sg=throw-ind1		throw	1sg=aux-ind1	(3sg=dat)
'I three	w him/it.'		'I threw (him/it).'	

a Itóy	cf.	yếp	at
a?=tóp-t		yḗp	a?=?e-t
3sg=disappear-IND1		disappear	3sg=aux-ind1
'He/it disappeared.'		'He/it disap	peared.'

Some examples of co-occurrences of ideophones with the corresponding regular verbs are:

тәу	а хwа хуе	totia oyuru.ŋ	а Хма Хуе
тәу	a?=wa?ye	to=ti-a oyuruŋ	a ?=wa ?ye
then	3sg=aux	3R=come-GER	come 3sg=aux
'Then	he came.'		

onoroŋ	at	tocit	pa ?para
onoroŋ	a?=?e-t	to=cit	pa?par-a
fall	3sg=aux-ind1	3R=cover	fall.down-GER
'He fell from	his bike.'		

He was picking his pears, they say.'							
pluck	pluck	3sg=aux-ind1	3r.poss	food	thing	pick-GER	EVID
t ik	tik	a?=?e-t	toat	wirik	kanã	tək-a	lə
t ik	t ik	at	toat	wirik	kanã	təga	lə

mõm a?wa?ve vét kanã toba məv cit mõm a?=wa?ye yét тəy kanã cit top-a then look 3sg=aux this thing cover see-GER 'Then he looked and saw this basket.'

Ideophones are generally characterized as onomatopoeic in nature, a characteristic not shared by other classes of words, but this is not true of all cases. In Karo, a few ideophones do have obvious onomatopoeic properties (e.g. púg 'shoot', wit wiaw 'whistle used to call people}, etc.), but for the majority, a connection to sound is less obvious.

Another important characteristic of ideophones in Karo is the fact that, in the majority of cases, their meanings are quite specific. Some ideophones are used exclusively to refer to someone turning the head back (ŋərəŋ 'turn the head back'), or to the arrow perforating the body of someone (parak 'perforate somebody with arrow'). It is also important to stress that ideophones in Karo do not have the characteristics of sound symbolism in its conventional definition, i.e., no one-to-one correlation between sound and meaning was found to occur in the ideophones of Karo, as was reported to exist, for example, in a cousin language of Karo, Guaraní (Langdon 1994).

A last semantic characteristic of ideophones in Karo involves the choice a speaker has between an ideophone and a regular transitive verb. A preliminary analysis of the data has shown that the choice seems to affect the argument structure of clauses in that it provides a functional alternative to syntactic antipassive constructions. Generally speaking, if the semantic patient of a clause

is to be included in the predicate as a core argument, a transitive verb, which allows for two arguments, is the appropriate choice. But, in cases where the semantic patient, for one reason or another, is not in core position, an ideophone with an auxiliary plus its only argument becomes the other available choice. In the examples below, if the semantic patient is mentioned at all, it is done by means of a postpositional phrase indicating oblique case.

at	otoy	cf.	mõm	Pat	(o kə y)
at	o=top-t		mõm	a?=?e-t	(o= kə y)
3sg	lSG=see-INDl		look	3sg=aux-ind1	(1sg=dat)
`He/it	saw me.'		'He/it s	saw something/(me).'
õn	a tyamon	cf.	kahyep	wet	(a? kə y)
õn	a?=yamot-t		kahyep	o = 2e - t	(a?=kəy)
lsg	3sg=miss-IND1		miss	lsg=aux-indl	(3sg=dat)
'I mis	sed him/it.'		'I miss	ed something/(him/	/it).'
õn	a Itigat	cf.	ka Imej) wet	(a? kə y)
õn	a?=tiga-t		ka Imep	o o=?e-t	(a?= kə y)
lsg	3sg=throw-IND1		throw	1SG=AUX-IND1	(3sg=dat)
'I thre	w him/it.'		'I threv	v something/(him/it	t).'

6.2.5 DISCOURSE

Descriptions and analyses of the discourse features of ideophones in the linguistic literature are almost non-existent (cf. Childs 1994:196). The predominant idea, nevertheless, is that the use of ideophones is correlated with a high degree of expressiveness. This seems to be the true in the case of Karo.

In Karo, a preliminary comparative analysis shows that ideophones tend to occur more frequently in narrative than in conversation. This is probably what we would expect if we take into consideration the fact that narratives are more highly structured than everyday conversations (Chafe 1980; Singer 1990). Evaluative and expressive mechanisms (in the sense of Labov 1972) tend to be used more frequently in narratives, since narrators seem to be naturally more pressured to "make a point" when telling a story than someone would when participating in a conversation. In this sense, ideophones would tend to be used by speakers as a means to bring attention to specific events in their narratives, because they express these events in special, colorful ways.

Although this analysis is merely preliminary, the point to be made is that systematic studies which describe and explain possible differences in the occurrence of ideophones in different genres are not found in the literature.

Further studies also need to be conducted regarding other discourse (or pragmatic) features of ideophones in Karo, among them:

- Are they restricted to certain types of discourse genre (such as conversations, narratives)?;
- 2) Is there any correlation between the use of ideophones and social factors such as sex, age and degree of integration into the dominant population (speakers of Portuguese)?;

- 3) To what extent is there individual variation in the use of ideophones by Karo speakers?; and
- 4) What types of variation exist among speakers of Karo and speakers of other genetically related languages?

6.2.6 LIST OF IDEOPHONES IN KARO (PARTIAL)

	IDEOPHONE	MEANING
1.	ayam	'yawn'
2.	cagam	'noise of eating'
0.	caraŋ	'light match'
4.	círup	'walk fast'
5.	cok	'crush (in mortar)'
6.	cốn	'kick'
7.	cõn	'poke (without tip)'
8.	curuŋ	'light (paper, fire)'
9.	érom	'lick'
10.	e?niyām	'blow baby's nose'
11.	i	'shout'
12.	it	'call (someone by 'ssss')'
13.	kahmi	'kill prey and it stays quiet'
14.	kãm	'hold'
15.	kamari	'brake'
16.	kãn	`sing'
17.	kap	'shoot arrow'
18.	kaw	'chew'
19.	kãy	'scratch'
20.	ka?curuŋ	'get in (smoothly)'
21.	ka?mik	'poke hole with arrow'

259

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

22.	ka?pet	fart'
23.	ka?pew	'throw sand'
24.	ka?pot	'jump'
25.	ka?tan	'throw (stone at house)'
26.	ka?tik	'brake'
27.	konõŋ	'turn'
28.	korot	'pull (hair, feather)'
29.	kot	'swallow (liquid)'
30.	kururut	'pull with (fishing) line'
31.	kət	'cut'
32.	kiw	'cut'
33.	ma	'slap (to kill insects on the body)'
34.	mãn	'tie up'
35.	mari	'thresh'
36.	ma?	'beat'
37.	ma?ã	'beat (with stick, hand)'
38.	mi	'hatch'
39.	mõm	'look'
40.	morap	'touch/shuffle (things)'
41.	moŋ	'hold'
42.	mĩrik	'pinch'
43.	mວŋ	'nod'
44.	mik	'drill'

45.	nay	'bite'
46.	noŋ	'poke (with tip)'
47.	nuw	'thunder noise'
48.	nĩm	'blink'
49.	ni	'push'
50.	ohyuŋ	'dive'
51.	omuw	'fall (heavy object)'
52.	omik	'poke hole'
53.	onoroŋ	'fall down'
54.	onuru	'fall (tree)'
55.	opiw	'fall'
56.	oton	`fall (light object)'
57.	oturum	`climb down`
58.	oyarap	`go down`
59.	parak	'perforate somebody w/ arrow'
60.	paramu	'sit down'
61.	pãŋ	'cut'
62.	pegat	'stick'
63.	poroŋ	'get in'
64.	pu	'blow (at fire)'
65.	put	'fart'
66.	քսղ	'shoot'
67.	pĩp	'blow'

68. pəgəp	'climb up'
69. pik	`punch, step with the heel'
70. tỹu	'jump'
71. tan	'beat (finger on table)'
72. tãn	'cut (wood)'
73. tay	'pull (strongly)'
74. tãŋ	'drop'
75. tẽŋ	'beat on wood'
76. tuk	`beat`
77. tuy	'pull'
78. tuŋ	'pound (in mortar)'
79. wãy	'waive'
80. wé (owé)	'vomit'
81. weret	'cut (hair)'
82. wirup	'sweep'
83. wi	'bend'
84. wen	'write'
85. məy	`stop'
86. әуа	'burp'
87. wim	'whistle'
88. wəri	'dig'
89. wərəŋ	ʻspin'
90. wik	'go down'
	<u></u>
91. wiga	'shake (head)'
------------	----------------------
92. yap	'pull down'
93. yara	`saw'
94. yok	'copulate'
95. ĩ	'blow (nose)'
96. im	'smell'
97. ?u	'bee noise'
98. ŋit	'get up'
99. ŋuran	'swallow'
100. ŋərəŋ	'turn the head back'

CHAPTER 7

THE EVIDENTIAL SYSTEM

Karo has a rich system of phrase- or sentence-final particles which are used to convey evidentiality. In this chapter I first provide some background on evidentials, and then describe and categorize the main semantic properties of the evidential system of Karo.

7.1 BACKGROUND

Roughly, evidentiality can be described as the linguistic way in which a speaker conveys the source and/or reliability of the information or knowledge s/he possesses. In its strict sense, the label refers only to the source of information or knowledge acquired through some sort of evidence. In a broader sense, however, evidentiality also includes the speaker's attitudes towards the information or knowledge, qualifying the reliability of information communicated in four primary ways: 1) by specifying the source of information; 2) by conveying the degree of precision with which the information is communicated; 3) by specifying the degree to which the information fits with the speaker's view of reality; and 4) by rendering expectations concerning its reliability (Mithun 1986).

It was only recently, with the publication of a special volume on evidentiality (based on a symposium held in Berkeley in 1981), that the phenomenon of evidentiality was examined from a cross-linguistic perspective (Chafe and Nichols 1986). Among the important points raised in this volume was the realization that evidentiality is not a unified category, in that evidentials bear close relationships with other categories such as tense, aspect and especially mood, and evidentiality can be expressed formally in a variety of forms, such as

affixes, particles, auxiliaries and whole predicates, even within a single language. In discussing the properties of evidentials in Karo I will take the papers in Chafe & Nichols (1986) and elsewhere (Hoff 1986; Palmer 1986; Barnes 1984; Givón 1982; Wierzbicka 1996) as a basis.

7.2 THE EVIDENTIAL SYSTEM OF KARO

The evidential system of Karo consists of a set of particles which are not obligatory. They tend to occur at the ends of clauses, and the precise number of evidentials and their meanings are still under investigation. Eleven evidentials have been identified so far. They are used to qualify the information provided by speakers in two different ways: 1) by specifying the modes in which the information is conveyed (modes of knowing), and 2) by qualifying the trustworthiness of the information conveyed (reliability). Seven evidentials fall in the first category. Of these, three deal with evidence per se (visual, hearsay and evidence which was lost or is not available), other three deal with inference (either based on evidence, on expectation, or on a familiar pattern), and the last evidential deals with belief. The other four evidentials fall under the category of reliability, and are used to characterize the speaker's judgement of the information provided as highly probable, fairly probable, improbable. Highly probable information is further subdivided into two subcatetories according to its assessment: it can be highly probable because it is based on some sort of evidence, or it can be highly probable even though it is not based on any evidence.

Below I give a list of the evidentials of Karo with their category, subcategory, specification and approximate gloss.

Ev	idential	Category	Subcategory	Specification	Gloss
1.	topə	mode of knowing	evidence	visual	be.seen
2.	tə	mode of knowing	evidence	hearsay	they say
3.	coke	mode of knowing	evidence	lost evidence	clearly
4.	aket	mode of knowing	inference	from evidence	must
5.	igā	mode of knowing	inference	from expectation	must
6.	memã	mode of knowing	inference	from pattern	be.supposed
7.	i?kiy ⁶¹	mode of knowing	belief		I guess
8.	manā	reliability	+ probability	with no evidence	obviously
9.	nănin	reliability	+ probability	with evidence	really
10	meno	reliability	+- probability		wonder
11.	рэ	reliability	- probability		maybe

The specific circumstances of use of each of these evidentials, and examples of their occurrence are provided below.

topo: when the information conveyed is known by visual experience;

péŋ	Pet .	topə	toat	maca?#	wĩa		
pé ŋ	?e-1	topə	to=at	maca?#	wĩ-a		
white.man	AUX-IND1	be.seen	3r=poss	pet	kill-ger		
'(It was seen that) the white man killed his pet.'							

(used in a situation where the speaker went to the white man's house and saw him killing his pet)

⁶¹ Some consultants use the form $a \mathcal{R} i y$ instead.

to: when the information conveyed comes from/is attributed to someone else's speech;

aya Avantoa?=ya Avat-tto3SG=leave-IND1they say'(It is said that) he left.'

(used in a situation where the speaker had been told by someone else that the person in question had left)

coke: used when the information conveyed is based on evidence which was lost (or is unavailable);

at	mäygära	wĩn	coke		
at	mãygãra	wĨ-n	coke		
3sg	snake	kill-IND1	clearly		
'He clearly killed the snake.'					

(used when the speaker knew that the person in question had killed the snake, which somehow disappeared from the place it was killed)

aket: used when the information conveyed comes from inference which is based on some sort of evidence;

péŋa?wīnaketpéŋa?=wī-naketwhite.man3SG=kill-IND1 must'The white man must have killed it.'

(used in a situation where it was known by the speaker that the white man had gone in the forest overnight to hunt and came back with his prey, but neither the speaker nor anybody else saw him killing it)

igā: used when the information conveyed comes from inference which is based on expectation;

tokera	at	igā	
to=ket-a	a?=?e-1	igã	
3R=sleep-GE	r 3sg=aux-i	NDI	must
•He must hav	e gone to sle	eep.'	

(used when the speaker kept waiting for a person for a long time, it was late at night, and the person did not show up. So, the speaker concludes that the person might have gone to sleep)

memā: used when the information conveyed comes from inference which is based on a known pattern;

a?kenmemãa?=ket-tmemã3SG=sleep-IND1be.supposed'I suppose he is sleeping.'

(used in a situation where the speaker knew that the person in question was sleeping before)

i?kiy: used in a situation where the fact(s) described/talked about come(s) from belief, without necessarily any supporting evidence;

a ?ken	i.	?k iy	•
a?=ket-t	i.	7k iy	,
3sg=sleep-IND1	g	ues	S

'It is possible that he is sleeping/slept.'

(used when the speaker was simply wondering about what might have happened to someone else)

manā: used in a situation where what is being described/talked about by the speaker is highly possible to occur/have occurred, but which is not based on any sort of evidence, but on experience;

at a?win iga manā at a?=wi-n iga manā 3sG 3sG=kill-IND1 FUT obviously 'He will most likely kill it'

(used in a situation where the speaker saw a person petting an animal so hard that he could eventually kill it)

nānin: used in a situation where what is being described/talked about by the speaker is highly possible to occur/have occurred, based on some sort of evidence;

õna Aoynānin kánõna ?=top-tnānin kánISG3SG=see-IND1 really RPAST'I really saw him long ago.'

(used in a situation where the speaker had seen somebody (mythological creature) when she was almost sleeping)

meno: used in a situation where what is being described/talked about is possible to have occurred;

malpsy na ?et chapéu ká? at tiga menə тагрэу па le-t chapéu ká? tiga-a at menə woman CL.FEM AUX-IND1 3SG.POSS hat CL.CCV throw-GER wonder 'Would it be that the woman threw his hat.'

(used in a situation where it was not clear what caused a person's hat to be thrown away)

- po: used in a situation where what is being described/talked about is less probable;
- at a Avin pə

at a?=wĩ-n **p**ə

3sg 3sg=kill-ind1 maybe

'Maybe he killed it.'

(used in a situation where one person used to complain about a semi-domesticated animal which would often come to his house and make a mess, so the speaker wondered whether this person killed the animal or not)

7.2.1 SYNTACTIC CONTEXTS OF OCCURRENCES

Evidentials in Karo were found to occur at the end of clauses as well as inside noun phrases. In the latter type of occurrence, only four evidentials were found to occur: *menə*, *nānin*, *topə* and *i*?kiy. They occur in noun phrases qualifying the information about the head noun and the proposition. It is often the case that the evidential which occurs inside the noun phrase also occurs at the end of the clause. The circumstances under which these occurrences take place remain unknown.



¥		
pėŋ	nänin a Avin	nānin
pé ŋ	nānin a?=wī-n	nānin
white.man	really 3sg=kill-	IND1 really
'It was really	y the white man wh	o killed it/him.'

¥					
pé ŋ	topə	toat	maca?#	nõ	wīn
péŋ	topə	toat	maca?#	nõ	wĩ-n
white.man	be.seen	3r.poss	pet	one.c	of kill-indl
NT1 1.			C1 ·		

'The white man was seen to have killed one of his own pets.'

▼			
pé ŋ	i?kiy	a Avĩa	wet
pé ŋ	i?kiy	a?=wī-a	o=?e-t
white.man	guess	3sg=kill-ger	1sg=aux-ind1
•The white ma	an is supposed	to have killed i	t/him'

All eleven Karo evidentials occur in different types of constructions: 1) declarative clauses; 2) information questions; 3) focus constructions; 4) focus + negation constructions; 5) predicate adjective constructions; and 6) predicate nominal constructions.

IN DECLARATIVE CLAUSES:

miririy	imatéran	nānin	to ?wa
miririy	i=matēra-t	nãnin	to=?e-a
toad	3IMP=CAUS-go.astray-IND1	really	3r=aux-ger
•The toad w	ould certainly make people get	lost.'	

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

IN INFORMATION QUESTIONS:

kõm	a?cet	menə		
kõm	a?=cet	menə		
how	3sg=name	wonder		
'I wonder what his name is.'				

IN FOCUS CONSTRUCTIONS:

กลัท	mã	at	a ?wīm	menə	
năn	mã	at	a?=wĩ-m	menə	
what	INSTR	3sg	3sg=kill-ind2	wonder	
'I wonder with what he killed it/him.'					

IN FOCUS + NEGATION CONSTRUCTIONS

pėŋ	i?ke	a îtoy	tə
pé ŋ	i ?ke	a?=top-t	1ə
white.man	NEG	3sg=see-ini	D1 they say
'It is said that	it it was	not the white	man who saw it/him.

IN PREDICATE ADJECTIVE CONSTRUCTIONS

pấttem	at	topə		
pất=tem	at	topə		
beautiful=ADVZ	3sg	be.seen		
'I saw that he/it is beautiful.'				

IN PREDICATE NOMINAL CONSTRUCTIONS

agóa Ip A	a mãn	igā
agóa ʔp ə	a?=nā-n	igã
shaman	3sg=cop-ind1	must
'He must be	the shaman.	

7.2.2 EVIDENTIAL SEQUENCES

A last and interesting characteristic of Karo evidentials is the fact that they may co-occur with each other. It seems to be possible for as many as three evidentials to co-occur. Not all eleven evidentials co-occur freely, and when they do there seems to be a special order that must be followed. (The restrictions may be semantically based.).

7.2.2.1 CO-OCCURRENCES OF TWO EVIDENTIALS

Evidentials from the two categories, 'mode of knowing' and 'reliability'. seem to interrelate in all possible logical ways.

The table below represents the possible and non-possible sequences of two evidentials. The pairs consist of an initial member from the leftmost column followed by a second item identified in the row across the top. A check mark indicates that the given sequence is allowed. An asterisk indicates that the sequence is not possible. Blank boxes identify sequences not collected from a consultant or present in the corpus.

		MOD	E OF	KNOW	ING						
	EVIDENCE INFERENCE			INFERENCE			BELIE F RELIAB	ELIABI	LITY		
4	topə	tə	coke	aket	igã	memã	i?kiy	manā	nănin	menə	рэ
topo		V	*		1		*		1	*	
tə	*	-	*		*		*		*	*	*
coke	*	*			*		*		*	*	*
aket	*	1	*		$\overline{\mathbf{V}}$	√	*	*	1	?	*
igã	*	*	*		-		*	-	*	*	*
memā											
i?kiy	*	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	\checkmark						*	\checkmark	*
manã		1						—			
nãnin	*	V	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	V		V			*	*
menə	*	*	*	V	*		*		*		*
рә	<u> </u>	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	\checkmark		*		*			$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$	

Table 10. Co-occurrences of two evidentials in Karo

From the information available in the table above, it is possible to state that all four logical types of co-occurrences of evidentials within different categories and subcategories are possible: 1) [mode of knowing] + [mode of knowing], 2) [mode of knowing] + [reliability], 3) [reliability] + [mode of knowing], and 4) [reliability] + [reliability]. Furthermore, whereas there seems to be a high number of sequences of evidentials of the type [mode of knowing + mode of knowing] and [reliability + mode of knowing] (8 occurrences each type out of 21), the other two types of sequences, [mode of knowing + reliability], and [reliability + reliability] occurred only five times, three occurrences for the first type, and two occurrences for the latter type. More remains to be discovered about the details of the system, especially scope relations among evidentials in sequence.

Below are examples of sequences of two evidentials obtained in an interview with a $consultant^{62}$.

1. aket igā	infere	nce fro	m evidence +	inference from expectatio		
	[mode	e of kn	owing]	[mode of knowing]		
pė ŋ	a Avīn	aket	igã			
pé ŋ	a?=wī-n	aket	igã			
white.man	3sg=kill-ind1	must	must			
•The white m	an must have b	een kill	ing/beating it/h	nim'		

2.	aket memã	inference from e	vidence + inference from pattern
		(mode of knowi	ng] [mode of knowing]
né	n arv	in aket me	mā

péŋ	a hvīn	aket	memā
pé ŋ	a?=wī-n	aket	memā
white.man	3sg=kill-ind1	must	be.supposed

'The white man must have supposedly killed it/him.'

 $^{^{}o2}$ In the interview, the consultant said the sequences were utterly possible, but I do not have actual examples of their occurrences in natural texts/conversations. I am also not certain about their precise translations.

3. i?kiy tə	belief	belief		they say evidence	
	(mod	[mode of knowing]		[mode of knowing]	
owekuy	nãn	i?kiy	tə		
o=pekuy	nā-n	i?kiy	tə		
l sG=dream	COP-IND1	I.guess	they sa	ay .	
'I guess it is said that I had a dream'					

4. aket nānin inference from evidence + high probabiliby with evidence [mode of knowing] [reliability]

péŋ	a Avīn	aket	nãnin
_		_	

péŋ a?=wĩ-n aket nãnin

white.man 3SG=kill-IND1 must really

'The white man must really have killed it/him.'

5.	topə nānin	visual evidence	+ high probability with evidence
		[mode of knowing]	[reliability]

aya Awan	topə	nānin
a?=ya?wat-t	topə	nãnin
3sg=leave-ind1	be.seen	really

'It was seen that he really left.'

6. i?k	tiy meno	belief		+	medium probability	
		[mode	e of knowing]		[reliability]	
kõm	at	i?kiy	men ə			
kõm	a?=?e-t	i?kiy	men ə			
how	3sg=aux-ind	1	I.guess	wonde	r	
'I wonder how he might have done it?'						

7.	nānin aket	high probability with evid	lence + inference from evidence
		[reliability]	[mode of knowing]

pé ŋ	a ?wīm	nānin	aket		
pėŋ	a?=wī-n	nānin	aket		
white.man	3sg=kill-ind1	really	must		
'The white man really must have killed it.'					

8.	nãnin coke	high probability with evidence +	lost evidence
		[reliability]	[mode of knowing]

õn a'toy nänin coke

õn a?=top-t nānin coke

1SG 3SG=see-IND1 really clearly

'I really just saw him/it.'

9. nānin igā high probability with evidence + inference from expectation [reliability] [mode of knowing]

aya Awan	nānin	igã
a?=ya?wat-t	nãnin	igã
3sg=leave-ind1	really	must
'He really must have	left.'	

10. meno ake	t mediu	medium probability +		inference from evidence	
	(reliat	oility]		[mode of knowing]	
pé ŋ	a Avīn	menə	aket		
pé ŋ	a?=wĩ-n	men ə	aket		
white.man	3sg=kill-ind1	wonder	must		
'It is wondere	d whether the v	vhite man mu	st have l	tilled it/him' (when the killing	
is certain but r	not seen)'				

11. n <mark>ănin</mark> tə		high probability with evidence		+ they say evidence		
			[reliability]	[mode of knowing]		
amān	yat	nānin	tə			
amãn	yat	nănin	1ə			
rain	fut	really	they say			

'They say that the rain will really fall (or: They really say that the rain will fall.)'

12. po coke	low probability		+	lost evidence	
	[reliability]			[mode of knowing]	
a?ken	рә	coke			
a?=ket-t	рә	coke			
3SG=sleep-IND1	maybe	clearly	Y		
Clearly he may have	e slept.'				

13. nānin menə	high probability with evidence	+ medium probability
	[reliability]	[reliability]

kõm	со	i Pyat	ip	2iy	nānin menə	
kõm	со	i Pyat	ip	?iy-t	nānin menə	
how	PAST	IPL.INCL	fish	catch-IND1	really wonder	
'I really wonder how we catch a fish.'						

14. po meno	low probabili	ity +	medium probability
	[reliability]		[reliability]
a Iken	рә	men ə	
a?=ket-t	рә	men ə	
3sg=sleep-ind1	maybe	wonder	
'It is wondered wheth	ner he is sleepir	ng.'	

7.2.2.2 CO-OCCURRENCES OF THREE EVIDENTIALS

The list of occurrences of three evidentials in sequence should, in principle, be longer than the list of two evidentials, given all the logical possibilities of combinations. It is shorter, nevertheless, because 1) I did not make an exhaustive list of all possible occurrences of three evidentials for evaluation by consultants, and 2) speakers probably do not use three evidentials very often.

The sequences of three evidentials found so far involve only two types of sequences of evidential categories: [reliability] + [reliability] + [mode of knowing] and [reliability] + [reliability] + [reliability].

1)	menə	i?kiy		coke	
	[reliability]	+	[reliability]	+	[mode of knowing]
	medium prob	ability	belief		lost evidence
	'I wonder, be	arly that'			

2)	menə	i?kiy		igã	
	[reliability]	+	[reliability]	+	[mode of knowing]
	medium probability		belief		inference from expectation
	'I wonder, belief, should.		ould'		

3)	menə	i?kɨy	tə
	[reliability] +	[reliability] +	[mode of knowing]
	medium probability	belief	they say
	'I wonder, belief, it is said that'		

 4)
 po
 meno
 igā

 [reliability] +
 [reliability] +
 [mode of knowing]

 low probability
 medium probability
 inference from expectation

 'Maybe, I wonder, should...'

5)	menə	?kiy	nānin
	[reliability] +	[reliability] +	[reliability]
	medium probability	belief	high probability with evidence
	'I wonder, belief, really'		

Epilogue

The present grammar is meant to be a contribution to the study of Amazonian languages in general, and the Tupian languages in specific.

Although research regarding the Karo language is far from complete, some of the features of the language may enrich our understanding of the typology of Amazonian languages. Of special interest, in order of presentation in the grammar, are the following characteristics:

 As the reflex of a heavy interplay between segments and suprasegmental factors, vowels in Karo seem to interact with tone in ways not previously documented before (Fromkin 1978; Hyman 1973, 1975; Hyman and Schuh 1974). High tone appears to raise the mid vowels to [e] and [o], which appear otherwise as [ε] and [ɔ].

2) Karo can be classified as mildly synthetic, and its verbal morphology consists of only a set of 3 inflectional modal suffixes and a set of 5 derivational prefixes. Pronominal clitics can occur as verbal arguments, but they are in complementary distribution with lexical noun phrases. Previous reports noted the richness of verbal morphology in Amazonian languages in general (Payne 1990).

3) Different grammatical patterns emerge in different parts of the grammar. An ergative-absolutive pattern occurs in imperatives, focus constructions, yes-no questions, independent and clitic pronouns, and negative focus constructions. A nominative-accusative pattern (that is, a recognizable subject category) occurs in clause-chaining, emphatic constructions, associated noun phrase constructions, future clauses with the auxiliary *kap*, and time and purpose subordinations.

Although the motivations for the occurrence of ergative-absolutive patterning in *all* the systems above is not yet well understood (imperatives, for example, emerge from the grammaticization of *immediacy of involvement* (cf. Mithun and Chafe 1999)), the motivation for the occurrence of the *subject* category in all the nominative-accusative systems is explained in terms of the grammaticization of *starting points* (cf. Chafe 1994).

4) Karo does not seem to conform to the types of classifier languages proposed by Allan 1977: it is *not* a numeral, concordial, predicative (verb-incorporated) or intra-locative classifier language, but a *noun classifier* language. Furthermore, Karo cannot easily be classified as a classifier language according to Dixon's 1986 criteria: two of the criteria classify Karo as a classifier language, and another criterion classifies it as a noun class language. These facts, nevertheless, when taken altogether, seem to conform to the typology of Amazonian languages in general: they cannot be easily classified as one discrete type or another (Craig (ms.), 1986a, 1986b, 1992; Payne 1987; Derbyshire and Payne 1990; Aikhenvald 1994).

5) The intricate system of ideophones could be thought of as a powerful linguistic tool for expressing *discourse salience*. Although more research must be completed in this area, a preliminary analysis of Karo narratives and conversations points in this direction. Furthermore, the fact that ideophone constructions are intransitive, and that they sometimes serve as substitutes for regular transitive verbs, may explain the non-existence of antipassives in Karo (cf. Cooreman 1994).

I hope that with the present work I will be able to contribute to our still unfolding understanding of Amazonian linguistics, especially of the Tupian (non-Tupi-Guaranian) languages of Brazil.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aikhenvald, Alexandra.Y. 1994. Classifiers in Tariana. In Anthropological Linguistics 4.407-465.
- Allan, Keith. 1977. Classifiers. In Language 53:284-310.
- Alves, Polyana M. 1991. Análise Fonológica Preliminar da Língua Tupari. MA Thesis. UnB: Brasília.
- Awoyale, Y. 1981. Nominal Compound in Yoruba Ideophones. In Journal of African Languages 3(2):139-157.

Barnes, Janet. 1984. Evidentials in the Tuyuca Verb. In IJAL 50:255-271.

- _____ 1990. Classifiers in Tuyuca . In Studies in Lowland South American Languages D. Payne (ed.). Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Braga, Alzerinda. 1992. A fonologia segmental e aspectos morfofonológicos da língua Makurap (Tupí). M.A. Thesis. UNICAMP: Campinas.
- Burum, Martinho. (ed.). 1977. Aypapayu?um?um ekawen: Lendas Munduruku,

v.1. Brasília: Summer Institute of Linguistics.

- _____. 1978. Aypapayų?ųm?ųm ękawen: Lendas Munduruku, v.2. Brasília: SIL.
- _____. 1979. Aypapayų?ųm?ųm ękawen: Lendas Munduruku, v.3. Brasília: SIL.
- Bybee, Joan.L. 1985. Morphology. Typological Studies in Languages v.9. Amsterdam and Philadelphia: John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- Chafe. Wallace L. 1994. Discourse, Consciousness and Time: The Flow and
 Displacement of Conscious Experience in Speaking and Writing. Chicago
 & London: The University of Chicago Press.

- Chafe, Wallace L. and Johanna Nichols (eds.). 1986. Evidentiality : the linguistic coding of epistemology. Advances in discourse processes v. 20. Norwood, N.J.: Ablex Publishing Corp.
- Childs, T. 1988. Phonology of Kisi Ideophones. In Journal of African Languages and Linguistics 10(2):165-190.
- Comodo, Cristina H. R. 1981. Concordância em Munduruku. MA Thesis. Campinas: UNICAMP.
- Cooreman, Ann. 1994. A functional typology of antipassives. In Voice: Form and Function, ed. by Barbara Fox and Paul Hopper, 49-88. Amsterdam: John Benjamins Publishing Company.
- Courtenay, K. R. 1976. Ideophones Defined as a Phonological Class: The Class of Yoruba. In Studies in African Linguistics, Supplement 6, ed. by Larry M. Hyman, Leon C. Jacobson, Russell B. Schuh, 13-26. Los Angeles: University of California.
- Craig, Colette (ed.) 1986a. Noun Classes and Categorization. Typological studies in language v. 7. Amsterdam and Philadelphia: John Benjamins.

_____. 1986b. Jacaltec Noun Classifiers. In Lingua 70:241-284.

- _____. 1992. Classifiers in Functional Perspective. In Layered Structure and Reference in a Functional Perspective, ed. by M. Fortescue, P. Harder, L. Kristoffersen. Amsterdam and Philadelphia: John Benjamins.
- _____ (ms). Classifier Languages. In Encyclopedia of Linguistics, Essex University.

Crofts, Marjorie. 1973. Gramática Munduruku. Brasília: SIL.

- _____. 1984. Ideófonos na Narração Munduruku. In Estudos Sobre Línguas Tupi no Brasil Robert Dooley (ed.). Brasília: SIL.
- _____. 1985. Aspectos da Língua Munduruku. Brasília: SIL.

Denny, J. Peter. 1976. What are Noun Classifiers Good for? In Papers from the 12th Regional Meeting of the Chicago Linguistic Society, 122-132.

- Derbyshire, Desmond and Doris L. Payne. 1990. Noun Classification Systems of Amazonian Languages. In Studies in Lowland South American Languages, ed. by Doris Payne. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Diffloth, G. 1976. Expressiveness in Semai. Austroasiatic Studies, Part 1,P. Jenner et al. (eds.), 249-264. Honolulu: The University of Hawai'i Press.
- Dixon, Robert M. W. 1986. Noun Classes and Noun Classification in Typological Perspective. In Noun Classes and Categorization, ed. by Colette Craig, 105-112. Amsterdam, Philadelphia: John Benjamins.
- Doke, C. M. 1935. Bantu Linguistics Terminology. New York: Longmans, Green and Company.

Dooley, Robert A. 1984. Estudos Sobre Línguas Tupi no Brasil. Brasília: SIL.

Fargetti, Cristina M. 1992. Análise Fonológica da língua Jurúna. M.A. Thesis. UNICAMP: Campinas.

- Fivaz, D. 1963. Some Aspects of the Ideophone in Zulu. In Hartford Studies in Linguistics. Hartford Seminary, Hartford, CT.
- Fordyce, J.F. 1978. Grammatical Parameters of the Ideophone in Yoruba. MA thesis, University of Florida.

____. 1983. Ideophone as a Phonosemantic Class: the Case of Yoruba.

In Current Approaches to African Linguistics. Publications in African Languages and Linguistics, Dordrecht: Foris Publications

Fortune, G. 1962. Ideophones in Shona. London: Oxford University Press.

Fromkin, Victoria (ed.). 1978. Tone: A Linguistic Survey. New York: Academic Press.

Fundação Nacional do Índio. 1977. Dicionário Bilíngue em Português e Munduruku. Brasília.

Gabas Jr., Nilson. 1988. Sistemas de Marcação Possessiva e Pessoal na Língua dos Índios Arara de Rondônia. In Anais do II CELLIP, 2:168-176.

____ 1989. Estudo Fonológico da Língua Karo (Arara de Rondônia). MA Thesis. Campinas: UNICAMP.

_____. 1990. Os Segmentos Fonéticos Complexos da Língua Karo. In Cadernos de Estudos Linguísticos 18:143-151.

1991. Pronominal Person Marking in Karo Language (Ramarama Family). Paper presented at the 47th International Congress of Americanists, New Orleans.

_____ 1994. O Sistema Pronominal de Marcação de Pessoa na Língua Karo (Arara de Rondônia). In Revista Latinoamericana de Estudios Etnolingüísticos 8:135-150.

_____. (to appear) Classificação Interna da Família Ramarama, Tronco Tupí.

Galúcio, Ana V. 1996. Mekens Syntax – A Preliminary Survey. Ms. University of Chicago.

____ 1997. Mekens (Tupi) Morphosyntax. Ms. University of Chicago.

Givón. Talmy. 1982. Evidentiality and Epistemic Space. Studies in Language 6:23-49.

Gonçalves, Cristina Helena R.C. 1987. Concordância em Mundurukú. Série Línguas Indígenas, Editora da UNICAMP. Campinas, São Paulo.

Graham, A. and Carl H. Harrison. 1984. Prefixos Pessoais e Numerais da Língua Sateré-Mawé. In Estudos Sobre Línguas Tupi no Brasil, ed. by Robert Dooley. Brasília: SIL.

- Hanke, Wanda, Morris Swadesh, Aryon D. Rodrigues. 1958. Notas de fonologia Mekens In Miscellanea Paul Rivet, octogenario dicata. 187-217. México.
- Hirose, M. 1989. Japanese and English contrastive lexicology: the role of Japanese 'Mimetic Adverbs'. PhD Dissertation, University of California, Berkeley.
- Hoff, B.J. 1986. Evidentiality in Carib: Particles, Affixes, and a Variant of Wakcernagel's Law. Lingua 69:49-103.
- Hutchison, J. P. 1989. The Kanuri Ideophone. Paper presented at the 20th Annual Conference on African Languages and Linguistics, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, April 18-22.
- Hyman, Larry M. & Russel G. Schuh. 1974. Universals of Tone Rules: Evidence from West Africa. Linguistic Inquiry 5(1):81-115.
- Hyman, Larry M. 1973. Consonant Types and Tone. In Southern California Occasional Papers in Linguistics 1, Los Angeles, California.
 - _____ 1975. Phonology: Theory and Analysis. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Johnson, M. R. 1975. Expressive Meaning in African Languages with Special Reference to Zulu Ideophones. Paper presented at African Studies Conference, York University, February 17-19.

____. 1976. Toward a Definition of Ideophone in Bantu. Ohio State University Working Papers in Linguistics 21:240-253.

Kim, K. 1977. Sound symbolism in Korean. In Journal of Linguistics 13(1):67-75.

Kulemka, A. T. 1993. The Status of the Ideophone in Chichewa (Bantu, Africa). PhD Dissertation, Indiana University.

Kunene, C. 1972. The Ideophone of the Sotho. Berlin: Von Dietrich Reimer.

Labov, William. 1972. Language in the Inner City: Studies in the Black English Vernacular. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Ladefoged. Peter. and Ian Maddieson. 1996. The Sounds of the World's Languages. Oxford; Cambridge: Blackwell Publishers Inc.

Landin, David 1983. Dicionário e Léxico Karitiána-Português. Brasília: SIL.

_____. 1984. An Outline of the Syntactic Structure of Karitiana Sentences. In Estudos Sobre Línguas Tupi no Brasil, ed. by Robert Dooley. Brasília: SIL.

_____. 1988. As Orações Karitiana. In Série Linguística 9(2). Brasília: SIL.

Landin, David and Rachel Landin. 1973. A Preliminary Description of the Karitiana Phonological Structure. Arquivo Linguístico No. 163. Brasilia: SIL.

Landin, Rachel. 1987. Conjunções Karitiana de Nível Superior. In Série Linguística 9(1). Brasília: SIL

- _____. 1989. Kinship and Naming Among the Karitiana of Northwestern Brazil. MA Thesis. U. Texas, Arlington.
- Langdon, Margaret. 1994. Noise Words in Guaraní. In Sound Symbolism, ed. by L. Hinton, J. Nichols and J. Ohala. 94-103. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Lee, J. 1992. Phonology and Sound Symbolism of Korean Ideophones. Ph.D. Dissertation. Indiana University.
- Lévi-Strauss, Claude. 1950. Documents Ramaráma. In Journal de la Société des Américanistes de Paris 39:73-84. Paris.
- Longacre, Ronald E. 1985. Sentences as Combinations of Clauses. In Language Typology and Syntactic Description, ed. by Timothy Shopen. v.2, 235-286.

- Martin S. E. 1962. Phonetic Symbolism in Korean. In American Studies in Altaic Linguistics Nicholas Poppe (ed.). Bloomington: Indiana University and The Hague: Mouton & Company.
- van der Meer, Tine. 1981. A Nasalisação em Limite de Palavra no Suruí. In Estudos Linguísticos (Anais de Seminários do GEL) 4:282-287.
- _____. 1982. Fonologia da Língua Suruí. MA Thesis. Campinas: UNICAMP.
- _____. 1983. Ideofones e palavras onomatopaicas em Suruí. In Estudos Linguísticos (Anais de Seminários do GEL) 7:10-15.
- Mithun, Marianne. 1986. Evidential Diachrony in Northern Iroquoian. In
 Evidentiality: The Linguistic Coding of Epistemology, ed. by W. Chafe and
 J. Nichols. 89-112. Norwood: Ablex Publishing Corporation.
- Mithun. Marianne and Wallace Chafe. 1999. What are S, A, and O? In Studies in Language 23.3. 579-606.
- Moore, Denny. 1984. Syntax of the Language of the Gavião Indians of Rondônia, Brazil. PhD Dissertation: City University of New York.
 - ____. 1985. Nominal Stem and Adjective Stem Incorporation in Gavião. In IJAL 51(4):513-515.
 - _____. 1989. Gavião Nominalizations as Relative Clause and Sentential Complement Equivalents. IJAL 55(3):309-325.
 - _____. 1994. A Few Aspects of Tupi Comparative Syntax. In Revista Latinoamericana de Estudios Etnolingüísticos 8:151-177.
- Moore M. J. 1969. The Ideophone in Hausa. MA thesis, Michigan State University.
- Moshi L. 1993. Ideophones in KiVunjo-Chaga. In Journal of Linguistic Anthropology 3(2):185-216.

- Mphande, L. 1989. A Phonological Analysis of the Ideophone in Chitumbuka. Ph.D. Dissertation.
- Mphande, L. and Rice, C. 1989. Towards a Phonological Definition of the Ideophone in Chitumbuka. Paper presented at eh 20th Annual Conference on African Languages and Linguistics, University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, April 18-22.
- Newman, P. 1968. Ideophones from a syntactic point of view. In Journal of West African Languages 5:107-118.
- Nimuendaju, Curt. 1925. As Tribus do Alto Madeira. In Journal de la Société des Américanistes de Paris 17:137-172. Paris.

1955. Reconhecimento dos Rios Içána, Ayarí, e Uaupés, Março a Julho de Apontamentos Linguísticos (2ª Parte). In Journal de la Société des Américanistes de Paris 44:149-178. Paris.

- Noss, P.A. 1986. Ideophone in Gbaya Syntax. Current Approaches to African Linguistics. Publications in African Languages and Linguistics, Dordrecht: Foris Publications.
- Ono, H. 1984. A practical guide to Japanese-English onomatopoeia and mimesis. Tokyo: Hokuseido Press.
- Ottenheimer, H. and Primrose H. 1990. Current Research on ShiNzwani Ideophones. In Studies in the Linguistic Sciences 19(2):77-87.
- Payne, Doris L. 1990. Morphological Characteristics of Lowland South American Languages. In Amazonian Linguistics, Studies in Lowland South American Languages, ed. by Doris Payne. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Pike Kenneth L. 1948. Tone Languages. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

- Rodrigues, Aryon D. 1964. A Classificação do Tronco Lingüístico Tupí. In Revista de Antropologia 12:99-104. São Paulo.
 - _____. 1966. Classificação da Língua dos Cinta-Larga. In Revista de Antropologia 14:27-30.
 - _____. 1980. Tupinambá e Munduruku: Evidências Fonológicas e Lexicais de Parentesco Genético. In Estudos Linguísticos (Anais de Seminários do GEL) 3:194-209.
- Rodrigues, Carmen L. R. 1990. Langue Xipaya: Etude Phonologique. DEA Thesis. Paris: Université de Paris VII.
- _____ 1995. Etude Morphosyntaxique de la Langue Xipaya (Bresil). Ph.D. Dissertation. Paris: Universite Paris VII.
- Rondon, Cândido M. S. e João B. Faria. 1948. Glossário Geral das Tribos Silvícolas de Mato Grosso e outras da Amazônia e do Norte do Brasil, tomo I. Publicação número 76 da Comissão Rondon, Rio de Janeiro.
- Samarin, W. J. 1965. Perspective on African Ideophones. In African Studies 24:117-121.
 - _____. 1967. Determining the Meanings of Ideophones. In Journal of West African Linguistics 4(2):35-41.
 - . 1970a. Inventory and Choice in Expressive Language. In Word 26:153-169.
 - _____. 1970b. Field Procedures in Ideophone Research. In Journal of African Languages 19:27-30.
- _____. 1971a. Survey of Bantu Ideophones. In African Language Studies 2:130-168.

_____. 1971b. Measuring Variation in the Use of Gbeya Ideophones. In Proceedings of the 8th Congress of the West African Lnguistic Society 2:483-488.

- Schultz, Harald. 1955. Vocábulos Urukú e Digüt. In Journal de la Société des Américanistes de Paris 44:81-97, Paris.
- Selvam, S. 1988. Expressiveness in Telugu. Indian National University. MA thesis.
- Storto, Luciana R. ms. 1993. Closure and Release Pre and Post Oralization of Nasal Stops in Karitiana.
 - 1994. Basic Word Order in Karitiana . In Report 8: Survey of California and Other Indian Languages: 138-144. Department of Linguistics. University of California at Berkeley.
- 1997a. Verb Raising and Word Order Variation in Karitiana. In Boletim da Associação Brasileira de Linguística (ABRALIN) 20. 1997b: A Report on Language Endangerment in Brazil. In MIT

Working Papers in Linguistics 28.

- Vitor Hugo. 1959. Desbravadores. Il Volume. Edição da Missão Salesiana de Humaitá . Amazonas.
- Von Staden, P. M. S. 1974. Die Ideofoon in Zulu. South Africa: Ranse Afrikaanse Universiteit.
- Weakley, A. J. 1973. An Introduction to Xhosa Ideophone Derivation and Syntax. Grahamstown: Rhodes University.

_____. 1972. Appropriateness and Metaphor in the Use of Ideophones. In Orbis 20:356-369.

- Wierzbicka, Anna. 1996. Semantics and Epistemology: the Meaning of 'Evidentials' in a Cross-linguistic Perspective. In Language Sciences 16:81-137.
- You, S. 1989. Expressiveness and Ideophones in Korean. In Honolulu Working Papers in Linguistics 21(2):105-127.